## The Retinoic Acid Response: Modulation by Calreticulin and Development of a Method to Isolate Directly Regulated Genes

by

**Mary Shago** 

A thesis submitted in conformity with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Graduate Department of Molecular and Medical Genetics University of Toronto

© Copyright by Mary Shago, 1997

National Library of Canada

> Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre référence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-28302-X



The Retinoic Acid Response: Modulation by Calreticulin and Development of a Method to Isolate Directly Regulated Genes Mary Shago 1997, Doctor of Philosophy Graduate Department of Molecular and Medical Genetics University of Toronto, Canada

### Abstract

Vitamin A is a necessary nutrient for a variety of biological processes including vertebrate development, growth and reproduction. The term retinoids encompasses all naturally occurring and synthetic derivatives of vitamin A, including the active derivative retinoic acid (RA). The all-trans form of RA (atRA) serves as a ligand for retinoic acid receptors (RARs) while the 9-cis isomer of RA (9cRA) is bound by both RARs and retinoid X receptors (RXRs). As members of the nuclear receptor superfamily, RARs and RXRs function as ligand-inducible transcription factors that control a vast network of effector genes. The activity of the receptors is modulated at different levels by multiple factors. One modulator is the calcium binding protein calreticulin. I present evidence in this thesis that calreticulin can interfere with the DNA-binding activities of both RXR/RAR heterodimers and RXR homodimers, and that co-precipitation experiments suggest a direct interaction between calreticulin and RAR. Calreticulin reduces the abilities of RAR and RXR to transactivate cognate reporter genes in transient transfections. Stably over-expressed calreticulin diminishes the level of RA-induced activation of genes that are directly regulated by RA and leads to a complete inhibition of RA-induced neuronal differentiation in P19 embryonal carcinoma cells. Retinoid receptor action ultimately leads to regulated gene expression. Although a number of RAresponsive genes have been characterized, the highly pleiotropic effects of retinoids strongly suggest that there remain many more RA-regulated genes yet to be isolated. In an effort to identify RA responsive genes I have developed a method referred to as CpGselected and amplified binding (CpG-SAAB). DNA fragments derived from CpG islands, which are genomic landmarks associated with the regulatory regions of genes, are

selected for the presence of binding sites for RAR and RXR. The transcription units associated with the fragments can then be isolated. I present in this thesis the CpG-SAAB method, the isolation of twelve novel RAR and RXR binding sites, and the characterization of a gene (NN8-4AG) associated with one of them.

.

## Acknowledgments

I was fortunate to begin working in Dr. Vincent Giguère's laboratory when it was in its infancy in Toronto. Since Dr. Giguère spent a great deal of time at the bench in those days, I benefited from his personal instruction in the techniques of molecular biology. I thank him for his guidance and friendship over the years. From my distant undergraduate years, I thank mentors Emmanuel Maicas and Sara Peterson Bjørn for helping me cultivate my interest in science. I greatly appreciate the friendship and the technical and intellectual input of the Giguère laboratory members, both past and present. For their assistance and direction, I thank my graduate committee members, Drs. Rick Collins and Lap-Chee Tsui. I acknowledge the financial support of the Medical Research Council of Canada and the Ontario Graduate Scholarship Program.

I especially wish to acknowledge the constant love, support, and encouragement bestowed upon me by my parents, Donald and Lorraine, and my brother and sister, Andrea and Ian. I thank all of my friends for the many wonderful and memorable times we had during the course of this work, and I look forward to many more. Special mention goes to Maureen, my 'soul sister'! Finally, I thank Greg, my best friend and fiancé for his unflagging support, his sometimes quirky sense of humor and his knack for making each day a little brighter.

## **Attribution of Data**

I am responsible for all of the work described in this thesis with the following exceptions. P19 EC cell lines stably over- or under-expressing calreticulin were established by Chung-Yee Leung Hagesteijn, who also performed the calreticulin/RAR coprecipitation experiments in Chapter 2. Also in Chapter 2, Kosta Milankov carried out immunofluorescence on P19 EC cells, and Greg Downey and Tom Waddel provided intracellular calcium concentrations.

# **Table of Contents**

Page
Abstractii
Acknowledgmentsiv
Attribution of Datav
Table of Contentsvi
List of Tablesx
List of Figuresxi
List of Appendicesxiii
List of Abbreviationsxiv
Chapter 1 Introductioni
General Introduction and Outline of Thesis2
1 Retinoic Acid and its Mode of Action
1.1 Biological effects of retinoic acid
1.2 Retinoic acid receptors5
1.3 Retinoic acid receptor/retinoid X receptor heterodimers and retinoic acid response elements7
1.4 RXRs: multiple functions in several signaling systems
2 Physiological roles of RARs and RXRs12
2.1 Distribution of RARs and RXRs12
2.2 Phenotypic analysis of targeted mutations of retinoid receptors
2.3 Retinoic acid responsive genes14
3 Modulation of the Retinoic Acid Response
3.1 Cellular factors modulating the retinoic acid response
3.2 Calreticulin

A Isolation of target genes
4 Isolation of target genes
4.1 Methods used to isolate responsive genes
<b>4.2</b> CpG islands25
<b>4.3</b> Introduction to CpG-SAAB, a novel method to isolate transcription factor binding sites
References
Chapter 2 Modulation of the retinoic acid and retinoid X receptor pathways in P19 embryonal carcinoma cells by the calcium binding protein calreticulin
Abstract
Introduction
Materials and Methods
Results
Calreticulin interferes with RXR/RAR heterodimer DNA- binding activity
RXR homodimers interact with calreticulin
Direct calreticulin/RAR interactions
Relative contribution of individual amino acids of the KXFF(K/R)R motif in binding to calreticulin
Downregulation of RA response in transient transfections
Overexpression of calreticulin decreases endogenous RA- responsive gene activation
Block of differentiation in P19 EC cells stably expressing calreticulin
Overexpression of calreticulin does not alter free intracellular calcium concentration
Discussion
Acknowledgments
References

Chapter 3 Isolation of a novel retinoic acid-responsive gene by selection of genomic fragments derived from CpG island enriched DNA
Abstract
Introduction94
Materials and Methods97
Results103
Isolation of NN fragments containing RAREs by CpG-SAAB103
Isolation of the RARβ2 genomic clone and preliminary testing of CpG-SAAB
Physical Analysis of RXR/RAR selected NN fragments114
Functional analysis of RXR/RAR selected NN fragments116
Identification of a conserved region and a putative CpG island associated with the RARE of NN7-91122
Identification of a gene associated with the RARE of NN8-4122
Characterization of the murine gene NN8-4AG encoding the homologue of human cDNA EST41159125
NN8-4 RXRE is bound by RXR/RAR heterodimers and RXR homodimers
The NN8-4AG transcript is directly up-regulated by 9cRA in F9 cells132
Evolutionary conservation of EST41159 protein134
Discussion136
Acknowledgments141
References142
Chapter 4 General Discussion
Summary150
1 Modulation of the RA response by calreticulin151
1.1 Effect of varying level of calreticulin on RA signaling in a calreticulin null background151

1.2	Page           Further studies on the nuclear localization of calreticulin
1.3	Does the RA response in P19 EC cells involve or influence a Ca <sup>2+</sup> response?
1.4	Implications of calreticulin/retinoid receptor interactions154
2 CpG-SA	AB156
2.1	Applications, limitations, and suggestions for improvement
2.2	Isolation and characterization of NN fragment-associated genes158
2.3	NN-RARE fragments as tools to study retinoid receptor action
2.4	Further analysis of the RA responsive gene NN8-4AG163
<b>References</b> .	
Appendix	<b>K</b>
Appendix 1	

# **List of Tables**

	Page
Chapter 1	<b>-</b>
1. Retinoic acid response elements	15
Chapter 2	
1. Relative contribution of individual amino acids of the KXFF[K/R]R motif in binding to calreticulin	71
2. Intracellular [Ca <sup>2+</sup> ] in P19 cells	81
Chapter 3	
1. Characteristics of pre- and post-selection NN fragments	115
2. Functional Analysis of non-nucleosomal retinoic acids response elements	118

# **List of Figures**

Chanter 1

.

	Compare +			
1.	Schematic representation of the functional domains of RARa1			
2.	RA signaling pathways9			
3.	Modulation of the RA response			
C	hapter 2			
1.	Schematic representation of the first zinc finger region of the RARα DNA binding domain			
2.	Analysis of the interaction of the RXR/RAR heterodimer with p60 (calreticulin) by EMSA			
3.	<ul> <li>(A) Interaction of p60 (calreticulin) with RXR homodimers</li> <li>(B) Presence of ligand does not alter the interference properties of p6067</li> </ul>			
4.	Direct interaction between RARa and calreticulin			
5.	Calreticulin dependent inhibition of RA induction			
6.	Northern blot of the (A) RA responsive CRABPII or (B) early RA- responsive RAR $\beta$ transcript in stably transfected P19 EC cell lines			
7.	Inhibition of neuronal differentiation of P19 EC cells by calreticulin80			
C	hapter 3			
1.	Non-nucleosomal (NN) fragments are released from CpG island chromatin upon digestion with CpG recognizing enzymes105			
2.	CpG-SAAB: selection of CpG-rich genomic fragments containing RAREs108			
3.	Analysis of the promoter region of the RARβ2 gene111			
4.	A $\beta$ RARE-containing fragment from the promoter of the RAR $\beta$ 2 gene is within a putative CpG island, is present in the collection of NN fragments derived from F9 EC cells, and is bound by RXR/RAR in the first round of CpG-SAAB113			
5.	NN7-71 hybridizes to a single genomic locus117			
6.	Functional analysis of RXR/RAR selected NN fragments			
7.	Analysis of the genomic region flanking NN7-91124			
0	Hamalans hatseen NB19 A and he are DST 41170 1.1			

	Page
9. Characterization of murine NN8-4 associated gene (NN8-4AG) and its putative CpG island.	
10. Binding of RXR/RAR heterodimers and RXR homodimers to the NN8-4 RXRE	131
11. Northern Analysis of NN8-4AG mRNA	133
12. Comparison of the predicted amino acid sequence of human EST41159 to a yeast putative protein and to the <i>Drosophila trithorax</i> gene product	135
Chapter 4	
1. Extended alignment of the predicted amino acid sequence of human EST41159 to a yeast putative protein	165

# List of Appendices

1.	Related Publications	.176	5

Page

.

.

## **List of Abbreviations**

AF, activation function atRA, all-trans retinoic acid BLAST, basic local alignment search tool CAL, calreticulin cDNA, complementary deoxyribonucleic acid CBP, CREB binding protein CpG-SAAB, CpG -selected and amplified binding CRABP, cytoplasmic retinoic acid binding protein CRBP, cellular retinol binding protein CREB, cyclic AMP response element-binding protein Cx, cycloheximide DBD, DNA binding domain DNA, deoxyribonucleic acid DNA MTase, DNA methyltransferase DR, direct repeat EC, embryonal carcinoma ECM, extracellular matrix EMSA, electromobility gel shift assay ER, estrogen receptor EST, expressed sequence tag GR, glucocorticoid receptor LBD, ligand binding domain LUC, firefly luciferase gene 9cRA, 9-cis retinoic acid NN, non-nucleosomal OR, orphan receptor PCR, polymerase chain reaction PPAR, peroxisome proliferator activated receptor PR, progesterone receptor RA, retinoic acid RACE, rapid amplification of cDNA ends RAR, retinoic acid receptor RARE, retinoic acid response element **RBP**, retinol binding protein

RNA, ribonucleic acid RRL, rabbit reticulocyte lysate RXR, retinoid X receptor RXRE, retinoid X response element TK, thymidine kinase minimal promoter TR, thyroid hormone receptor tRNA, transfer RNA VAD, vitamin A deficiency VDR, vitamin D receptor Chapter 1

Introduction

.

#### **General Introduction and Outline of Thesis**

Retinoids are necessary for a variety of physiological processes. Retinoic acids (RA) are biologically active retinoids which function as ligands for members of the nuclear receptor superfamily. Unlike membrane-bound receptors, members of the nuclear receptor superfamily are intracellular and exert their effects directly at the level of gene expression.

In the first chapter I will introduce the signaling molecule RA and review the current state of knowledge concerning the mechanisms of action of RA and the nuclear receptors which mediate the RA cellular response. Complexity added to this system by cellular factors modulating the signaling pathway will be addressed. The calcium binding protein calreticulin will be introduced as a prelude to evidence documenting its interaction with the retinoid receptors in Chapter 2 of the thesis.

In order to decipher the molecular mechanisms of the RA signaling pathway, it is essential to isolate and characterize target genes which are regulated by the ligand/receptor complex. I will present an overview of methods which have been used to isolate directly regulated genes. Chapter 3 concerns the development of a method, termed CpG-selected and amplified binding (CpG-SAAB), to isolate genes which are directly regulated by RA and its receptors. The presence of CpG islands in the vertebrate genome constitutes a key component of CpG-SAAB and will be introduced in Chapter 1.

The experimental results will be summarized in chapter 4. Several points of interest arising from the study of the retinoid receptor/calreticulin interaction will be addressed and relevant future experiments will be proposed. Applications and limitations of CpG-SAAB, along with suggestions for improvement, will be discussed in Chapter 4. Future experiments concerning the study of genomic binding sites isolated using CpG-SAAB, as well as the novel RA responsive gene NN8-4AG, will be delineated.

#### 1. Retinoic Acid and its mode of action

#### 1.1 Biological effects of retinoic acid

In the development, growth, reproduction, and maintenance of general health of a vertebrate individual, RA plays an essential role. Retinol serves as the metabolic precursor for RA. Retinol is derived from carotenoids in plants and retinyl esters in animal fat (for review see Blomhoff et al., 1990). Carotenoids are converted to retinol in the intestinal cells, while retinyl esters are converted to retinol in the lumen of the intestine. In the intestinal cells, retinol is converted to retinyl esters and incorporated into chylomicrons, which are the main intestinal lipoproteins. The chylomicrons enter the general circulation to deliver the retinyl esters primarily to the liver where conversion to retinol and coupling with the retinol binding protein (RBP) occur. Retinol-RBP is secreted to the plasma and made available to a variety of cell types that express cell surface receptors for RBP. Inside the cells, retinol can be converted to various derivatives of the active biological metabolite RA through enzymatic processes thought to involve cellular retinol binding proteins (CRBPs). Cytoplasmic RA-binding proteins (CRABPs I and II) bind the active derivative all-trans RA (atRA) and may play roles in regulating intracellular levels of atRA by promoting the catabolism of atRA to more polar metabolites (Fiorella et al., 1993; Giguère, 1994). In addition to this major pathway a small fraction of RA, which can probably enter cells by passive diffusion, circulates in the plasma bound to albumin and provides an additional source for uptake by tissues and cells (Kurlandsky et al., 1995).

Originally, physiological functions of retinoids were deduced from vitamin A deficiency (VAD) studies in animals (for review see Means and Gudas, 1995). Deficiency studies have revealed that retinol is essential for prenatal development. Newborns of vitamin A deficient mothers exhibit a large number of congenital malformations including abnormalities of the respiratory tract, heart, ureter and genitalia,

and defects in eye development. Removal of vitamin A from the diet postnatally results in squamous metaplasia of various epithelial tissues and degeneration of seminiferous tubules and photoreceptors. Exogenous administration of RA can prevent or reverse the deleterious effects of a postnatal VAD diet except for night blindness and photoreceptor decline.

Retinoids are known to be potent teratogens for mammalian embryos when administered at pharmacological doses (Lammer et al., 1985; Rosa et al., 1986). Retinoic acid applied during gastrulation results in malformations in the hindbrain and derivatives of the neural crest (for review see Means and Gudas, 1995). At later stages, excess RA results in tail, genital and limb defects as well as spina bifida. In combination with the vitamin A deficiency studies, these observations suggest that the levels of RA within the organism are carefully controlled to facilitate normal development.

During early vertebrate development there is evidence for the involvement of retinoids in the establishment of anterior/posterior axes in the central body axis and in the limb (for review see Means and Gudas, 1995). Elevated levels of endogenous RA have been detected in regions of the embryo that possess patterning activites such as the floor plate (Wagner et al., 1990) and the posterior region of the limb bud (Thaller and Eichele, 1987).

Vitamin A was first shown to play a role in differentiation of epithelia in 1925 (Wolbach and Howe, 1925). Tissue culture systems were developed to analyze the roles of retinoids in cell differentiation and proliferation. RA was shown to be essential for normal epidermal morphogenesis at physiological concentrations (Asselineau et al., 1989). An influence of RA on differentiative processes was noted in many other cell types including neuroblastomas, melanomas and teratocarcinomas (Amos and Lotan, 1990). Treatment of the human myeloid leukemia cell line with RA leads to terminal granulocytic differentiation (Breitman et al., 1980). The embryonal carcinoma (EC) cell line F9 differentiates upon RA treatment to parietal endoderm while the P19 EC cell line

differentiates into cardiac and smooth muscle cells or neurons or glia, depending on the concentration of RA in which the cells are maintained (Edwards and McBurney, 1983; Jones-Villeneuve et al., 1982; Strickland and Mahdavi, 1978). An inhibitory effect of retinoids on tumor progression has been documented in animals and humans (Sporn and Roberts, 1983), as well as the ability to block the action of tumor promoters both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Leder et al., 1990; Yupsa et al., 1981).

#### 1.2 Retinoic Acid Receptors

The discovery that the all trans isomer of RA (atRA) was a high affinity ligand for a member of the nuclear receptor superfamily, the retinoic acid receptor (RAR) (Giguère et al., 1987; Petkovich et al., 1987), laid the foundation for subsequent research into the molecular mechanisms of RA and the reasons for its pleiotropic conduct in cells and in the organism. The nuclear receptor superfamily now numbers over 150 distinct members and includes the glucocorticoid receptor (GR), the estrogen receptor (ER), the vitamin D receptor (VDR) and the thyroid hormone receptor (TR) as well as many 'orphan receptors' with no known ligands (Evans, 1988; Mangelsdorf et al., 1995a). Although some of the orphan receptors may be constitutive activators or repressors, the general mode of receptor action is an allosteric change upon ligand binding which allows the receptor/ligand complex to bind to specific sites in chromatin to regulate transcription. Members of the nuclear receptor superfamily have a modular structure, the most conserved domain being the zinc finger-based DNA binding domain which determines the receptors binding site specificity (see Figure 1) (reviewed in Evans, 1988). At the C terminus of the proteins is the second highly conserved domain, the ligand binding domain (LBD). The LBD is a multifunctional domain which dictates not only ligand specificity but also encodes dimerization and ligand-dependent transactivation (termed the AF-2) functions (Fawell et al., 1990; Forman et al., 1989; Nagpal et al., 1993). The



Fig. 1. Schematic representation of the functional domains of RAR $\alpha$ 1. Typical of the nuclear receptor superfamily, RAR $\alpha$ 1 contains the functional domains delineated above the diagram. Below are the activities mediated by each of these regions. Numbers represent the amino acids bordering each domain. The highly conserved DNA binding domain contains two zinc finger motifs.

receptors also feature a ligand-independent activation domain (AF-1) within the Nterminal region (Nagpal et al., 1993) and a hinge region between the DBD and the LBD which share very little amino acid similarity between members.

## 1.3 Retinoic Acid Response Elements and Retinoic Acid Receptor/Retinoid X Receptor Heterodimers

Three separate genes encoding RARs have been cloned, RAR $\alpha$  (Giguère et al., 1987; Petkovich et al., 1987), RAR $\beta$  (Brand et al., 1988) and RAR $\gamma$  (Krust et al., 1989; Zelent et al., 1989). Alternative splicing and differential promoter usage results in the generation of multiple isoforms of RAR $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  (Giguère et al., 1990; Kastner et al., 1990; Leroy et al., 1991; Zelent et al., 1991), all with varying N termini and presumably with varying transcriptional activation capabilities (Folkers et al., 1993; Nagpal et al., 1993). Although these receptors can bind the 9-cis isomer of RA (9cRA) as well as atRA (Allenby et al., 1993), high affinity receptors which bind solely to 9cRA have also been characterized and termed retinoid X receptors (RXR $\alpha$ , RXR $\beta$  and RXR $\gamma$ ) (Heyman et al., 1992; Levin et al., 1992; Mangelsdorf et al., 1992; Mangelsdorf et al., 1993). Several isoforms of RXR differing from one another in their N-terminal regions have also been identified (Liu and Linney, 1993; Nagata et al., 1994 and P. Chambon, unpublished results).

Ligand/receptor complexes control gene activity by binding to specific sites, or retinoic acid response elements (RAREs), in the regulatory regions of genes. In contrast to previously characterized members of the superfamily such as the GR and ER which bind as homodimers to DNA, RARs and RXRs form a subfamily of nuclear receptors that bind with high affinity as heterodimers to a direct repeat of the core half-site (A/G)G(G/T)TCA (Kliewer et al., 1992; Leid et al., 1992; Yu et al., 1991). It is now evident that the nuclear receptor superfamily can be divided into four groups with respect to their dimerization and DNA binding properties (Mangelsdorf et al., 1995b). The first

class includes the steroid hormone receptors that bind as homodimers to core hexamers of ACAAGA organized as inverted repeats. Members of Class II bind with highest affinity to direct repeats of the core half-site (A/G)G(G/T)TCA as heterodimers with RXR. Class III receptors bind to direct repeats as homodimers, while Class IV receptors bind to a single expanded core half-site as monomers. As members of the second class of nuclear receptors, RXR/RAR heterodimers bind with highest affinity to directly repeated hexamers with an intervening spacing of 1bp (Direct Repeat spaced by 1bp or DR1), 2bp (DR2) or 5bp (DR5) (Heery et al., 1994). Other configurations of half-sites less commonly found in RA responsive genes are half-sites positioned in a palindromic or everted fashion and spaced by varying numbers of nucleotides. Such RAREs, as well as a few characterized 'complex' RAREs which contain multiple half-sites in various configurations, are usually bound by RXR/RAR heterodimers with relatively lower affinities than direct repeats (Giguère, 1994). RXR alone in combination with 9cRA is able to bind to and activate through retinoid X response elements (RXREs) (Mangelsdorf et al., 1991), which are almost exclusively DR1s.

#### 1.4 RXRs: Multiple Functions in Several Signaling Systems

RXR serves as a partner not only in retinoic acid signaling but also acts as a heterodimeric partner for TR, VDR, and a number of orphan receptors that include COUP-TF, ARP-1, and the peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR) (see Figure 2) (for review see Mangelsdorf and Evans, 1995a). These heterodimeric complexes also bind with highest affinity to direct repeats of core half-sites with varied spacing. For instance, RXR/VDR heterodimers bind to a DR3 while a DR4 serves as a binding site for RXR/TR heterodimers (Umesono et al., 1991).

X-ray crystallographic and nuclear magnetic resonance studies, together with previous biochemical data, have contributed to an understanding of the structure of the DNA binding domains of the nuclear receptors. The 66 amino acid DBD is highly



Fig. 2. RA signaling pathways. RAR activates target genes by heterodimerizing with RXR. RXR/RAR heterodimers are stimulated by atRA or 9cRA to bind and activate transcription primarily through RAREs consisting of directly oriented half-sites spaced by 2 or 5 nucleotides (DR2 or DR5 respectively). In the presence of 9cRA, RXR can homodimerize; this interaction is prevented by the presence of RAR due to the preferential formation of heterodimers. RXR homodimers confer activation through a DR1. RXR/RAR heterdimers also bind with high affinity to DR1s, leading in most cases to transcriptional repression. RXR liganded with 9cRA can also heterodimerize with certain orphan nuclear receptors (ORs). Resultant heterodimers bind to various hormone response elements (HREs) and to DR1 HREs (RXR:PPAR heterodimers).

conserved across almost all members of the receptor family and contains two  $\alpha$  helices. one of which makes specific contacts with the DNA half-site (Härd et al., 1990; Katahira et al., 1992; Lee et al., 1993). Located in the first zinc finger, this helix contains the socalled P box which is essential in discrimination of the exact sequence of the core halfsite (Lee et al., 1993; Umesono and Evans, 1989). These studies also confirmed that the receptors contain a dimerization motif within the DBD independent of the one within the carboxy-terminal LBD. Residues in the second zinc finger, termed the D box, contribute to mediation of dimeric interaction in receptors which bind as symmetric dimers to their response elements (Class I) (Glass, 1994). However, because of the head-to-tail arrangement of the RXR/RAR heterodimer on the most common type of RARE, a direct repeat, the DBD dimerization interface proffered by each partner is in a distinct region. In serving as a partner to many different members of the nuclear receptor family, RXR must possess a different interface for each partner. In the case of the RXR/TR DBDs bound to a DR4, the RXR dimerization surface is in the second zinc finger, while the TR contacts are located within and preceding the 1st zinc finger and in the 'T-box' which is C terminal to the 2nd zinc finger (Rastinejad et al., 1995). The fact that dimer interfaces can only be properly formed on the directly oriented half-sites with correct spacing leads to the preferred cognate binding sites for each RXR/partner heterodimer (Mangelsdorf and Evans, 1995a; Rastinejad et al., 1995). Heterodimerization interfaces of RAR in a RXR/RAR complex on a DR5 have been mapped to the tip of the first zinc finger (Zechel et al., 1994a). On a DR2 a different dimerization interface is formed, involving the T-box of RAR and a region of the second zinc finger of RXR excluding the D box (Zechel et al., 1994b). The dimerization function located in the LBD may act only to stabilize the heterodimeric complex while the dimerization interfaces within the DBDs actually dictate binding site specificity (Zechel et al., 1994a).

An additional binding property of the heterodimeric receptors confirmed by crystallographic studies is a distinct order in binding to direct repeats (Rastinejad et al., 1995). In the case of the RXR/RAR heterodimer, on a DR2 or a DR5 type RARE, RXR always occupies the upstream half-site (Kurokawa et al., 1993; Predki et al., 1994), while on a DR1, the order is reversed (Kurokawa et al., 1994). Interestingly, RXR contains within the C terminal extension of its DBD an additional  $\alpha$  helix not present in its heterodimeric partners (Lee et al., 1993). The third  $\alpha$  helix endows RXR with a property unique to this subgroup of receptors, the ability to homodimerize on DR1 in the presence of 9cRA (see Figure 2). DR1 type binding sites thus provide high affinity binding sites for RXR homodimers as well as RXR/RAR, RXR/PPAR and RXR/ARP1 heterodimers (Kliewer et al., 1992; Nakshatri and Chambon, 1994). Studies suggest that the RXR/RAR heterodimer forms a transcriptionally inactive complex on a DR1 (Kurokawa et al., 1994), although this may not be true for all DR1s depending on promoter context and cell type (Durand et al., 1992). As mentioned above, due to the fact that RXR plus 9cRA mediates activation by a DR1, these sites are commonly called RXREs (Mangelsdorf et al., 1991).

The question of whether RXR functions as a ligand-dependent hormone receptor or a 'silent partner', particularly in the setting of a RXR/RAR heterodimer, is currently an area of interest and deliberation. In certain cases, as with RXR/PPAR, RXR/LXR or RXR/NGFI-B heterodimers on their respective half-sites, it seems clear that RXR functions as a transcriptionally active partner (Mangelsdorf and Evans, 1995a). However, contrasting results concerning dual ligand occupation in the RXR/RAR heterodimer have been obtained with receptor specific ligands. It has been reported that both RAR and RXR are liganded and transcriptionally active on a DR5 (Apfel et al., 1995). Supporting this notion are studies in which addition of either RXR- or RAR-specific ligands at concentrations which do not significantly activate endogenous RA responsive genes, leads to synergistic activation when these ligands are combined (Roy et al., 1995). On the other hand, studies have shown that RXR cannot be liganded *in vitro* and is not transcriptionally active in transient transfections unless RAR is liganded (Forman et al., 1995), or alternatively that RXR along with RAR on a DR1 or DR5 is not able to bind ligand or transactivate regardless of whether RAR is liganded (Kurokawa et al., 1994). The expression of two endogenous genes has been demonstrated to be upregulated by an RXR specific ligand (Allegretto et al., 1995; Davis et al., 1994), however, it is unknown whether this induction is mediated by RXR homodimers or RXR with an unidentified nuclear receptor partner.

#### 2. Physiological Roles of RARs and RXRs

#### 2.1 Distribution of RARs and RXRs

The array of biological processes affected by RA suggests that each RAR and RXR isoform may play a unique physiological role. Detailed Northern blot analysis of receptor mRNA expression patterns in mouse and human reveals that both RAR $\alpha$ isoforms are expressed widely but differentially in adult tissues (Leroy et al., 1991). RARB transcripts are found at high levels in kidney, prostate, pituitary and adrenal glands, spinal cord and cerebral cortex, with lower levels in several other tissues (Benbrook et al., 1988; de Thé et al., 1989). RARy transcripts are predominantly expressed in the skin and lungs (Giguère et al., 1990; Kastner et al., 1990; Zelent et al., 1989). The three RXR genes are expressed widely in adult tissues. RXRa mRNA is expressed in liver, kidney, lung, muscle and spleen (Mangelsdorf et al., 1992; Mangelsdorf et al., 1990) while RXR $\beta$  is relatively abundant in many tissues but less abundant in liver, intestine and testes (Mangelsdorf et al., 1992). RXRy transcripts are the most restricted and are expressed mainly in heart, muscle, and brain (Mangelsdorf et al., 1992). In situ hybridization analyses show spatially and temporally restricted distribution patterns of RAR and RXR mRNAs during mouse embryogenesis (Dollé et al., 1989; Dollé et al., 1990; Mangelsdorf et al., 1992; Mendelsohn et al., 1994; Ruberte et al., 1991; Ruberte et al., 1990).

#### 2.2 Phenotypic Analysis of targeted mutations of retinoid receptors

In order to assess the function of the product of a given gene in vivo, loss-offunction genetic studies through gene targeting have proven indispensable. Such technology has recently allowed for the generation of mice lacking individual receptor isoforms or combinations of retinoid receptors (for review see Kastner et al., 1995). Characterization of the phenotypes seen in single receptor null mutants reveals that it may be difficult to unambiguously assign an *in vivo* role to an individual receptor using such means when it is a member of a family and moreover, when it functions in concert with a heterodimeric partner. Null mutations of RAR $\alpha$ , RAR $\beta$  or RAR $\gamma$ , as well as isoformspecific knockouts of some of the RARs have been generated. Suprisingly, mice lacking RAR $\beta$ , RAR $\alpha$ 1, RAR $\beta$ 2, or RAR $\gamma$ 2 appear normal (Li et al., 1993; Lohnes et al., 1993; Lufkin et al., 1993; Luo et al., 1995; Mendelsohn et al., 1994). RARa or RARy null mutants display some of the defects of the postnatal VAD syndrome including poor viability, growth deficiency and male sterility (Lohnes et al., 1993; Lohnes et al., 1994; Lufkin et al., 1993). In addition, these mutants display some congenital malformations. When RAR double null mutants are generated, almost all of the fetal VAD syndrome malformations are evident, and viability is dramatically reduced (Lohnes et al., 1994; Luo et al., 1996; Mendelsohn et al., 1994). RXRa null mutants die in utero due to heart failure (Kastner et al., 1994; Sucov et al., 1994), and although RXR<sup>β</sup> null mutants are viable and morphologically normal, males are sterile (Kastner et al., 1996). Similar to RAR double null mutants, combination mutants of RXRa plus one of the RARs display abnormalities present in VAD fetuses (Kastner et al., 1995). Conclusions from these studies so far include strong suggestions that the RAR/RXR heterodimer acts as a functional unit to transduce the RA signal in vivo, and that under certain circumstances, different receptors and receptor isoforms can act in a functionally redundant manner.

However, several lines of evidence persist in suggesting that the multiple effects of retinoids in the organism may reside in the control of different subsets of RA responsive genes by various combinations of RARs and RXRs expressed in a cell specific manner. Firstly, throughout evolution there is a high degree of interspecies conservation of individual receptor isoforms, including the N terminal A region which contains a transcriptional activation function (AF-1) (Nagpal et al., 1993). Secondly, studies with F9 EC cells deficient in RAR $\alpha$  or RAR $\gamma$  revealed a difference in their abilities to differentiate in response to RA, and a difference in the profiles of various RA responsive genes in these cells (Boylan et al., 1993; Boylan et al., 1995). RAR $\alpha$  and RAR $\beta$  can perform some of the functions of RAR $\gamma$ , but with lower efficiency (Taneja et al., 1995). The fact that double knockouts seem to be required to detect phenotypic abnormalities may indicate that the substituting receptors in the single knockout mice can still activate the lost receptors repertoire of genes enough to maintain function (Kastner et al., 1995). In order to dissect the particular functions of each individual receptor, it will be necessary to create additional RXR/RAR heterodimer knockouts, to engineer mutants in which receptors are inactivated in a spatiotemporally controlled manner, and importantly, to isolate and characterize specific subsets of RA responsive target genes.

#### 2.3 Retinoic Acid Responsive Genes

As described above, the retinoid receptors are capable of binding to specific DNA sequences that mark particular genes as targets for regulation. Due to the multitude of effects elicited by RA, it is hypothesized that many directly regulated genes must play roles in mediating these actions. In the literature to date, many RA-responsive genes have been identified, including growth factors and their receptors, cellular enzymes, and extracellular matrix components to name a few (Sporn et al., 1994). However, it is often not known whether the response of these genes to RA is direct or indirect. Genes for which RAREs and RXREs have been characterized within regulatory regions are compiled in Table 1. As shown in Table 1, RAREs and RXREs can be divided into various classes depending on the orientation of the AGGTCA half-sites: direct repeats,

	GENE	LOCATION	SEQUENCE b	REFERENCE
RAREs				
DR5	mRARβ2	-55 -> -35	AG <u>GGTTCA</u> CCGAA <u>AGTTCA</u> CT	Sucov et al, 1990
	hRAR <sup>β2</sup>	-55 -> -35	AG <u>GGTTCA</u> CCGAA <u>AGTTCA</u> CT	de Thé et al. 1990
	mRARa2	-57 -> -37	CG <u>AGTTCA</u> GCAAG <u>AGTTCA</u> GC	Leroy et al. 1991
	hRARa2	-56 -> -36	CG <u>AGTTCA</u> GCGAG <u>AGTTCA</u> GC	Leroy et al. 1991
	hRARy2	~ -390	CCGGGTCA GGAGGAGGTGAGC	Lehmann et al. 1992
	mCP-H	-145 -> -135	GCAGGTCACTGACAGGGCATA	Munoz-Cánoves, 1990
	hAD3	-282 -> -302	AG <u>GGGTCA</u> TTCAG <u>AGTTCA</u> GT	Duester et al. 1991
	hGal	?	CAAGGGCAGGAGAAGGTCAGA	Costa-Giomi et al. 1992
	hCMV-IEP	-273 -> -293	TAAGGTCATGTACTGGGCATT	Ghazal et al. 1992
	hMGP	-2092 -> -2112	AAGGTTCACCTTTTGTTCACC	Cancela & Price, 1992
	mHoxa-1	3' enhancer	CAGGTTCACCGAAAGTTCAAG	Langston & Gudas, 1992
	mHoxd-4	-2523 -> -2507	TAAGGTGAAATGCAGGTCACA	Pöpperl & Featherstone, 1993
	r-PA	-7319	TG <u>GGGTCA</u> CCCTG <u>GGGTCA</u> GA	Bulens et al. 1995
DR4	TM	-1525 -> -1539	TT <u>TGGTCA</u> CTGC <u>AGGTCA</u> GT	Dittman et al, 1994
DR2	mCRBPI	-1013 -> -996	GT <u>AGGTCAAAAGGTCA</u> GA	Smith et al, 1991
	rCRBPI	?	GT <u>AGGTCAAAAAGTCA</u> GA	Husmann et al. 1992
	hApoAI	-197 -> -214	AG <u>GGGTCA</u> AG <u>GGTTCA</u> GT	Rottman et al. 1991; Williams et al. 1992
	mCRABPII-1	-1160 -> -1143	CC <u>AGTTCA</u> CC <u>AGGTCA</u> GG	Durand et al, 1992
	AFP	-6327 -> -6319	C <u>ATTITGA</u> AG <u>AGGTCA</u>	Liu et al, 1994
	mHoxb-1	3' region	AA <u>AGGTCA</u> GC <u>AAGTCA</u> GC	Marshall et al, 1994
	mHoxb-1	5' region	GG <u>AGGGCA</u> AG <u>AGTTCA</u> GG	Studer et al, 1994
ERS	myF-crystallin	-210 -> -185	AG <u>TGACCC</u> TTTTAACC <u>AGGTCA</u> GT	Tini et al. 1993
ifts	bGH	-177 -> -162	GG <u>GGGACATGACCC</u> CA	Williams et al. 1992
	hOST	-512 -> -497	CT <u>AGGTGACTCACCG</u> GG	Schüle et al. 1990
	xVitA2	-334 -> -316	TC <u>AGGTCA</u> CAG <u>TGACCT</u> GA	Forman et al. 1992
	rGH	-191 -> -164	AA <u>AGGTAA</u> GATCA <u>GGGACGTGACCG</u> CA	Umesono et al. 1988; Williams et al. 1992
complex	mLAMB1	-432 ->469	GAGGTGAGCTAGGTTAA (13) GGGTCAAC	Vasios et al. 1991: Williams et al. 1992
	hOXY	-76 -> -163	ATTGGTCA(14) GGGTCA (47) GGGTCAAGGTCACC	Richard & Zingg, 1991; Lipkin et al. 1992
	hMCAD	-339 -> -309	AT <u>IGACCT</u> TTCTCTCC <u>GGGTAAAGGTGA</u> AG	Raisher et al, 1992
OVDE-	Oct 3/4	-46 -> -27	CG <u>GGGCCA</u> G <u>AGGTCAAGGCTA</u> GA	Pikarsky et al, 1994
	-00000	( <b>22</b> ) (2 <b>2</b> )		
	ICKBPII IOVAL	-632 -> -602	ACAGGICACAGGICACAGGICACAGITCATT	Mangelsdorf et al, 1991
	*AOY	•8/ •> •/  \$\$6 > \$72		Kliewer et al, 1992
	hAmAI	-330->-372		Kliewer et al, 1992
	mCRARPIL?	-130 -2 -214	GAAGGGCAGAGGTCAAGGGTCAGT	Rottman et al, 1991
	mMHCI	-201 -> -194	TGAGGTCACCCCCCCC	Durand et al, 1992
	rPEPCK	-497 -3 -492		Nagata et al, 1992
	hHBV	-1152 -> -1136	CGCGGTAAAGGTTCACG	Lucas et al, 1991
	ST3	-385 -> -373	AGAGGTCAGAGGTCAGG	riuan et al, 1992 Angland et al. 1996
				Auguru Clai, 1993

## TABLE 1. Retinoic Acid Response Elements

<sup>a</sup>DR, ER and IR denote pairs of core half sites arranged as direct, everted or inverted repeats spaced by the indicated number of nucleotides; complex refers to binding sites containing multiple core half sites arranged in various orientations

<sup>b</sup>Core half sites are underlined

palindromes and everted repeats, and complex elements with no obvious common structure. RAREs which confer the highest levels of RA-induced activation and the highest affinity binding to RXR/RAR heterodimers in vitro are DR5s; genes belonging to this class make up the largest of the groups listed in Table 1. Receptor heterodimers also bind with relatively high affinity to RAREs formatted as directly repeated half-sites spaced by 2 or 1 nucleotide(s) (DR2 or DR1). The DR1 RAREs are listed as RXREs because of their ability in transient transfection systems to confer activation upon exposure to RXR and 9cRA (Mangelsdorf et al., 1991). Other classes of RAREs generally confer a weaker RA response and are bound with lower affinity by the receptors. In theory, this heterogeneity provides a method of yielding a graded response to RA. Some of the lower affinity RAREs are promiscuous in terms of their nuclear receptor specificity, such as the response element in the mouse  $\gamma$ F-crystallin gene (Tini et al., 1995; Tini et al., 1993) and the palindromic response elements (Umesono et al., 1988).

The first RARE to be identified and the one that confers the highest level of RAinduced activation to date in transient transfection assays is the DR5 RARE of the RAR $\beta$ 2 gene (called the  $\beta$ RARE) (de Thé et al., 1990; Sucov et al., 1990). In the case of the RAR $\beta$ 2 gene, the  $\beta$ RARE likely plays a critical role in the expression of this gene, as transgenic mice harboring three copies of the  $\beta$ RARE driving expression of the *hsplacZ* gene (Rossant et al., 1991) show a  $\beta$ -galactosidase expression pattern which largely mimics the endogenous expression of the gene (Ruberte et al., 1991). Interestingly, the RAR $\beta$  is only one of a number of RARE-containing genes which constitute steps of the retinoid signaling pathway (Table 1). Additional RAR genes are autoregulated, a situation which could lead to amplification of the RA signal (de Thé et al., 1990; Lehmann et al., 1992; Leroy et al., 1991; Sucov et al., 1990). Genes functioning at various levels in RA signaling contain RAREs and RXREs in their promoter regions, including cytoplasmic retinoid binding proteins (for example CRABPII, Durand et al., 1992) and enzymes involved in vitamin A metabolism (such as alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH3) Duester et al., 1991).

Not surprisingly, several RARE-associated genes play critical roles in embryonic development. Hox genes are homeobox-motif-containing genes which play a role in axis formation in a variety of organisms (for review see McGinnis and Krumlauf, 1992). Hox genes occur in clusters in which 3' genes within the cluster are expressed more anteriorly along the developing anteroposterior axis of the embryo, while 5' located genes are expressed in posterior regions of the embryo. Additionally, 3' Hox genes are generally expressed earlier during development than the 5' Hox genes. In human embryonal carcinoma cell lines, Hox genes are sequentially activated by RA in a 3' to 5' direction, and activation depends on the concentration of RA (Simeone et al., 1990). Similar results were seen in mouse F9 embryonal carcinoma cells (Papaloupulu et al., 1991). So far, RAREs have been identified in the regulatory regions of Hox genes a-1, d-4 and b-1 (Table 1).

An example of a specific role of RA in embryogenesis is provided by the homeobox gene Hoxb-1 which has a characteristic pattern of expression in the rhombomeres of the developing mouse embryo. Initially it is expressed in both the mesoderm and neurectoderm of presomite embryos, and later becomes restricted to one particular rhombomere. Early wide expression of the gene is further stimulated by ectopically added RA (Conlon and Rossant, 1992; Marshall et al., 1992; Wood et al., 1994). A conserved DR2 RARE identified in the 3' enhancer of Hoxb-1 is essential (along with other enhancer elements) for initiation of gene expression and confers the expanded expression seen with RA treatment (Marshall et al., 1994). Further, an additional DR-2 RARE in the 5' region of Hoxb-1 mediates the restriction of expression to a single rhombomere following the early, unrestricted activation (Studer et al., 1994).

that retinoids and retinoid receptors may contribute to the formation of boundaries in regions of the early embryo.

#### 3. Modulation of the Retinoic Acid Response

#### 3.1 Cellular Factors Modulating the Retinoic Acid Response

Although the regulation of target genes by the retinoid receptors is at first sight mechanistically simple, in reality there are multiple cellular factors which add complexity to this signaling system and contribute to the diversity of transcriptional responses within a given cellular milieu (Figure 3). Firstly, the relative availabilities of ligand within a cell will dictate not only the activity of the receptors but the type of dimer formed. Generally the formation of heterodimers is favored, and in such a configuration RXR may function as a silent, ligand-free partner (Forman et al., 1995; Kurokawa et al., 1994), although conflicting results suggest both receptors are liganded (Apfel et al., 1995). In the presence of elevated levels of RXR plus 9cRA, the formation of RXR homodimers is evident (Medin et al., 1994; Zhang et al., 1992). An additional complicating factor is that although 9cRA may be delivered directly to the cell, it can also be generated from atRA within the cell (Heyman et al., 1992). Regulation of such interconversion may vary from cell type to cell type, providing another means of receptor modulation. Regulation of expression of the cytoplasmic retinoid binding proteins (including CRBPs and CRABPs) which play a role in retinoid metabolism, contributes to the levels of various ligands available for receptor stimulation (Giguère, 1994). Several other natural retinoids to which RARs can bind have been characterized (Pijnappel et al., 1993; Thaller and Eichele, 1990), and it is possible that, as has been demonstrated with synthetic retinoids (Roy et al., 1995), each ligand results in differential regulation of responsive genes.

A cellular competition for dimeric interaction with RXR adds an additional level of complexity to gene regulation by the retinoid receptors. RXR functions as a partner



Fig. 3. Modulation of the RA response. In this model of a cell and its nucleus are presented some of the cellular factors which add complexity to RA signaling. Retinol is converted to the active metabolite atRA or to a number of other active retinoids. Cellular retinoid binding proteins (CRBPs) bind retinol with high affinity and serve as a substrate for a dehydrogenase in the metabolic cascade leading to atRA synthesis. 9cRA, a high affinity ligand for RXRs and RARs, can be isomerized from atRA in the cell. The cellular retinoic acid binding proteins (CRABPs) function as carriers for atRA in the catabolic process leading to more polar retinoids. In the nucleus, the RARs and RXRs transcriptional activity on target genes may be influenced by multiple factors including receptor phosphorylation, interaction with positive coregulators, competition with other nuclear receptors for heterodimerization with RXR, and interference with numerous corepressors or interacting factors. See text for details. ROH: retinol; EGF: epidermal growth factor; TRE: thyroid hormone response element; CAL: calreticulin.
not only for RAR but also for other members of this subfamily, including as mentioned above, TR, VDR, and PPAR (reviewed by Glass, 1994). The nature of the binding site itself confers complexity, as some RA response elements are promiscuous binding sites for several nuclear receptors (Giguère, 1994). Transduction of extracellular signals through growth-factor-induced kinase pathways may play a role in determining activities of the receptors. It has been demonstrated that growth factors can stimulate the activity of the N-terminal activation function of the ER via phosphorylation of a serine residue (Kato et al., 1995), and similar modifications may activate RAR and RXR. Another level of complexity concerns the interactions of the retinoid receptors with the transcription initiation complex, either directly or indirectly through transcriptional intermediary factors or coactivators. The C-terminal activating region of RXR interacts directly with the TATA-binding protein, both in vivo and in vitro (Schulman et al., 1995). Techniques such as far-western blotting and yeast two-hybrid screening have allowed for the elucidation of coactivators that may function as bridging factors between the retinoid receptors and the transcription initiation complex. A number of such proteins interact with the AF-2-containing LBD in the presence but not the absence of ligand and include ERAP160 (Halachmi et al., 1994), Trip1/Sug1 (Lee et al., 1995; von Baur et al., 1995), TIF1, RIP140 (Cavaillès et al., 1995) and SRC-1 (Oñate et al., 1995). Trip1/Sug1, a homologue of the yeast SUG1 gene product, is a component of the RNA polymerase II holoenzyme and interacts with RAR, TR, VDR, ER and weakly with RXR (Lee et al., 1995; von Baur et al., 1995). TIF1, which interacts with RXRy, ER and the progesterone receptor (PR) (Le Douarin et al., 1995), belongs to a group of proteins which contain a RING domain. ERAP160 and RIP140 are novel proteins that bind the ER, RAR, and TR (Cavaillès et al., 1995; Halachmi et al., 1994).

Transcriptional repression by the retinoid receptors may occur due to competition for binding sites or competition for shared transcriptional cofactors (mentioned above), by the sequestering of the receptors into an inactive form, or by interaction of repressors

with unliganded receptors. The latter mechanism has been elucidated recently due to the identification of two proteins using the yeast two-hybrid screen, N-CoR and SMRT, which bind efficiently to unliganded RAR and TR and are released upon ligand binding (Chen and Evans, 1995; Hörlein et al., 1995; Kurokawa et al., 1995). These proteins possess novel repressor motifs and lead to a strong inhibition of basal transcriptional activity of target genes in transfected cells. Cell specific corepressor content may in part account for the varying reporter gene activity seen when equivalent levels of exogenous receptors are added to various cell types in transient transfections. An additional mechanism for the modulation of target gene activity is the sequestration of the retinoid receptors by other nuclear transcription factors. The pathways of the transcription factors AP-1 (for review see Pfahl, 1993), and Octamer (Kutoh et al., 1992; Lanigan et al., 1993) factors have been shown to 'cross-talk' with RA signaling pathways. The latter inhibition appears to be due to direct interaction between the factors leading to an inability to bind and activate target genes. Recent evidence suggests that the CREB binding protein (CBP) interacts directly with the LBD of multiple nuclear receptors including the retinoid receptors (Kamei et al., 1996). CBP is also required for activation of AP-1 and thus a competition for limiting amounts of cellular CBP may account for the inhibitory effects of RAR on AP-1 activity (Kamei et al., 1996). Also in the category of interference with transcriptional activity due to prevention of DNA binding are the proteins TRUP (Burris et al., 1995) and the calcium binding protein calreticulin (Dedhar et al., 1994). TRUP, a novel nuclear protein, interacts with the C-terminal region of TR and RAR and prevents receptor binding. Calreticulin will be discussed in the following section.

#### 3.2 Calreticulin

Calreticulin is a highly conserved, ubiquitous protein which by virtue of its KDEL signal sequence is found mainly in the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum (Michalak et al., 1992). Originally isolated as a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-binding protein, it has since been implicated in

multiple cellular functions. Calreticulin contains two distinct  $Ca^{2+}$ -binding sites and it is proposed that calreticulin is the predominant  $Ca^{2+}$  binding and storage protein of the endoplasmic reticulum in non-muscle cells. Calreticulin has also been detected in additional subcellular compartments including the cytoplasm and the nucleus (Opas et al., 1991; Rojiani et al., 1991), although the mechanism by which it escapes endoplasmic reticulum retention is unknown.

Upregulation of calreticulin is seen in response to a number of stimuli, including mitogenic stimulation (Burns et al., 1992), viral transfection (O'Banion et al., 1993), heat shock (Conway et al., 1995), amino acid deprivation (Plakidou-Dymock and McGivan, 1994), ionizing radiation (Ramsamooj et al., 1995), and cellular proliferation (Opas et al., 1991). Calreticulin levels in proliferating rat L6 myoblasts are downregulated upon differentiation of this cell line into myotubes (Opas et al., 1991).

Calreticulin was reisolated as a protein which interacted with the cytoplasmic domain of integrins (Rojiani et al., 1991). Integrins, cell surface receptors which mediate attachment to the extracellular matrix, may be maintained in a high affinity binding state by this interaction (Coppolino et al., 1995; Leung-Hagesteijn et al., 1994). Calreticulin binds to the conserved sequence KLGFFKR found in the  $\alpha$  subunit of integrins. A similar sequence (KXFF(K/R)R), is present in the DBD of members of the nuclear receptor superfamily. The location of this motif between the two zinc fingers of the DBD, in a region critical for DNA binding (Giguère, 1994), suggested that interaction with calreticulin might interfere with the transcriptional activity of the receptors. Data presented in Chapter 2 of this thesis demonstrates that calreticulin can interact with the receptors ability to bind RAREs and RXREs, and further, that expression of RA responsive genes and RA induced differentiation of P19 EC cells are downregulated when calreticulin is overexpressed. Receptor/calreticulin interactions have been documented with additional members of the nuclear receptor superfamily (Burns et al.,

1994; Dedhar et al., 1994; St-Arnaud et al., 1995; Wheeler et al., 1995; Winrow et al., 1995).

### 4. Isolation of target genes

#### 4.1 Methods Used to Isolate Responsive Genes

The isolation and characterization of target genes are fundamental in the study of transcription factors. Binding sites within these genes are crucial for investigation into the mechanisms of action of transcription factors, and importantly, scrutiny of these genes offers insight into the physiological effects of the transcription factor within the organism. In addition, when studying a family of DNA binding proteins whose functions may be partially redundant, identification of target genes will aid in the elucidation of the individual roles of each family member.

Many of the genes so far characterized as retinoic acid regulated genes (Table 1) were originally noted to be upregulated upon RA treatment. These observations led to cloning of the promoter regions of the cDNAs and subsequent characterization of RAREs and RXREs within these promoters. Subtractive library screening (for example see Bouillet et al., 1995) and differential display methods (Liang and Pardee, 1992) are used extensively to isolate cDNAs of transcripts which are upregulated upon RA treatment, although very few directly regulated genes have been cloned using these protocols (LaRosa and Gudas, 1988).

A method now commonly employed to identify the consensus binding site of a given transcription factor makes use of the ability of the factor to select preferred binding sites from a pool of degenerate oligonucleotides (Giguère et al., 1994; Pollock and Treisman, 1990). Binding site preference information aids in further study of the transcriptional activity of the factor and additionally, nucleotide sequence databases can be searched for the presence of consensus binding sites in regulatory regions of

previously characterized genes. Such searches are limited by the lack of genomic sequence data within the databases but will be greatly aided by the Human Genome Project (Guyer and Collins, 1995).

The need to identify binding sites within unknown or uncharacterized genes, within the proper genomic context, led to a number of methods in which total naked genomic DNA fragments are subjected to selection using recombinant transcription factor. Fragments bound by the factor are isolated immunologically (Harrison III et al., 1990; Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1989; Sompayrac and Danna, 1990), by immobilizing the protein to a column (Oliphant et al., 1989), or by filter binding (Inoue et al., 1991), occasionally in combination with amplification by the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) (Costa-Giomi et al., 1992). However, due to the size of mammalian genomes and the typical size of a transcription factor binding site, it is inevitable that there will be a high frequency of binding sites within naked genomic DNA that play no role in gene regulation. One survey purports an average of 14 consensus binding sites for transcription factors per hundred base pairs (Prestridge and Burks, 1993). It is an enormous task to separate the binding sites playing a transcriptional role from those that do not.

Within intact cells, DNA is found in the form of chromatin, a complex of DNA and protein. The fundamental unit of chromatin is the nucleosome, consisting of two 80 bp turns of DNA around an octamer of histones H2A, H2B, H3, and H4 (Wolffe, 1992). Addition of the linker histone H1 acts to stimulate formation of higher-order or bulk chromatin. Access of transcription factors to their binding sites is made more specific by the local structure of chromatin (Felsenfeld, 1992; Wolffe, 1992). In effect the number of possible binding sites are greatly minimized by the presence of nucleosomes and other protein components of chromatin. In order to focus on endogenous binding sites for transcription factors methods have been devised in which chromatin fragments bound to the factor are immunoprecipitated and the associated DNA cloned and analyzed (Bigler and Eisenman, 1994; Bigler and Eisenman, 1995; Gould, 1990; Tomotsune et al., 1993).

As an alternative to the latter method I have developed a technique of direct binding site isolation which utilizes the presence of unique "markers" of regulatory regions within vertebrate genomes, CpG islands (Bird, 1987).

#### 4.2 CpG islands

A remarkable feature of the vertebrate genome is the pattern of methylation of cytosine residues. Approximately 4% of cytosines are methylated, all of these in the context of the dinucleotide CpG (Bird, 1987). Of the potentially methylatable CpG dinucleotides, 60 to 90% are methylated with the remaining unmethylated fraction concentrated in clusters referred to as CpG islands. Distributed in 45,000 regions, CpG islands constitute approximately 2% of the genome (Antequera and Bird, 1993). These regions range from 200bp to 2000bp in length and have a characteristic GC richness as well as a ratio of observed versus expected CpGs close to that statistically expected (Larsen et al., 1992). In non-CpG island regions of the genome the ratio of CpG dinucleotides is below the expected level, presumably because methylation of cytosine can lead to deamination to form thymidine (Bird, 1987). If such a change escapes the repair mechanisms of the cell, concomitant mutation to TpG and CpA results.

Methylation patterns in the vertebrate genome are maintained through subsequent cell generations by the DNA methyltransferase enzyme (DNA MTase). The importance of this activity has been demonstrated by the inability of mice targeted for disruption of the methyltransferase gene to complete development (Li et al., 1992).

CpG islands are found almost exclusively at the 5' end of genes, often coinciding with promoter regions (Bird, 1987). Surveys of vertebrate genomes indicate that these genes include all sequenced housekeeping genes and 40% of genes that show a tissuerestricted pattern of expression (Antequera and Bird, 1993; Larsen et al., 1992). The modification of DNA by methylation plays a role in the regulation of gene expression (for review see Eden and Cedar, 1994). The questions of how methylation affects gene expression and how CpG islands maintain their unmethylated state remain to be answered definitively.

Methylation may exert a repressive effect on gene transcription directly. Treatment with 5-azacytidine, a potent inhibitor of methylation, can lead to reactivation of silent genes (Jones, 1985). Interference of methyl groups with the binding of certain transcription factors to cognate binding sites has been demonstrated *in vitro* (Bednarik et al., 1991; Watt and Molloy, 1988) although some transcription factors are not prevented from binding by a methylated target sequence (Holler et al., 1988). Alternatively, studies suggest that methylated DNA initiates a formation of chromatin which leads to transcriptional repression (Kass et al., 1993). Chromatin spreading may be initiated by proteins which bind specifically to methylated CpGs (Antequera et al., 1989; Boyes and Bird, 1991; Lewis et al., 1992; Meehan et al., 1989).

Although CpG dinucleotides are targets of DNA methyltransferases, CpG islands remain unmethylated. Evidence supports a model in which transcription factors such as Sp1 play a role in the establishment and maintenance of CpG islands. Transcription factors may preserve CpG islands by simply excluding methyltransferase or by causing formation of a chromatin state that is structured to prevent DNA MTase activity or alternatively, to attract a demethylase activity (Macleod et al., 1994). Regarding the latter alternative, it is possible that CpG islands can be methylated, but that a CpG islandspecific demethylating activity removes 5-methyl-cytosine (Frank et al., 1991). Partially methylated CpG islands lose methylation when injected into embryonic cells (Frank et al., 1991).

Due to their GC rich base composition and lack of CpG deficiency, CpG islands are rich in restriction enzyme sites containing CpG dinucleotides and exclusively G and C residues. Since CpG islands frequently colocalize with gene promoters, digestion of genomic DNA with CpG recognizing enzymes such as *EagI* (CGGCCG) and *SacII* (CCGCGG) is often used as a means to identify coding regions in genomic clones from large chromosomal regions (Cross et al., 1994; John et al., 1994).

Using enzymes which cut more frequently within CpG island DNA (such as *MspI* (CCGG) or *HinPI* (GCGC)), Tazi and Bird (Tazi and Bird, 1990) developed a method to separate CpG island chromatin from the surrounding bulk chromatin. Analysis of the CpG island chromatin revealed that it differed from bulk chromatin in that histone H1 was present in very low amounts, histones H3 and H4 were highly acetylated, and nucleosome-free regions were present. Core histone acetylation and histone H1 depletion by phosphorylation are two features of a transcriptionally active configuration of the chromatin fiber (Wolffe, 1992). Nucleosome depleted hypersensitive sites have been localized near the 5' ends of many potentially activatable genes, including those with CpG islands (Gross and Garrard, 1988; Shimada et al., 1986). By virtue of their open chromatin structure, CpG islands may be sites of interaction between transcription factors and promoters.

## 4.3 Introduction to CpG-SAAB, a Novel Method to Isolate Transcription Factor Binding Sites

My goal was to develop a method which could be used to isolate RA responsive genes by first isolating genomic fragments containing RAREs and RXREs. The derivation of genomic fragments exclusively from CpG island DNA would greatly diminish background binding of transcription factors to DNA playing no direct role in transcription, making the subsequent search for the associated gene less arduous. CpG island DNA is frequently associated with the 5' ends of genes, and more specifically with the promoter regions of those genes (Bird, 1987). Studies suggest that CpG island chromatin structurally resembles active or transcriptionally competent chromatin (Tazi and Bird, 1990). This relatively open configuration of CpG island chromatin as well as its GC richness and an expected level of CpG dinucleotides make it uniquely susceptible to digestion by restriction enzymes with CpG in their recognition sites. As shown by Tazi and Bird (Tazi and Bird, 1990), fragments derived from the nucleosome-free regions of CpG island DNA can be isolated away from bulk DNA. These so-called nonnucleosomal fragments (NN fragments) are released as DNA fragments smaller than the size of a single nucleosome in digestion of intact nuclei using CpG-recognizing four basepair cutters such as *MspI* and *HinPI*.

In order to select for those NN fragments which bind RXR/RAR, fragments can be modified by the addition of linkers which will allow them to be amplified and radiolabeled using the polymerase chain reaction (PCR). Subsequently from this collection of NN fragments, those that bind are isolated in a gel mobility shift assay, amplified by PCR, repeatedly re-bound and re-amplified, and finally cloned for analysis. As the technique of reiterated binding and amplification is a modification of the protocol proposed by Blackwell and Weintraub (Blackwell and Weintraub, 1990), we chose to term the isolation method CpG-SAAB for "CpG (island fragments) -selected and amplified binding".

As starting material for the development of CpG-SAAB, we chose the murine embryonal carcinoma cell line F9. F9 and P19 EC cells are, as stated above, cell lines which differentiate upon RA treatment. Importantly, EC and embryonal stem cell lines differ from other permanent cell lines in that they maintain a methylation status in culture which is similar to in vivo tissues (Antequera et al., 1990; Frank et al., 1991; Kawai et al., 1994).

Subsequent to multiple rounds of selection using gel mobility shift assays and amplification by PCR the NN fragments are cloned for analysis. Since consensus binding sites for RAR and RXR have been extensively characterized (Giguère, 1994), it is possible to sequence the cloned NN fragments and scan for the presence of a RA response element. Functional tests, such as the ability of RXR/RAR to bind specifically to NN fragments containing a RARE or an RXRE, as well as the ability of the fragment to confer RA responsiveness to a heterologous promoter in a transient transfection assay, can then be performed. Importantly, these fragments will constitute a set of RAREs and RXREs in a natural promoter context. These *in vivo* binding sites provide a means to investigate the possibility that the sequence of the binding site in combination with the flanking sequence may play a role in imparting differential transcriptional activity to various combinations of retinoid receptors. The possibility that cell-type-specific factors other than retinoid receptors influence receptor activity upon these genomic fragments can also be studied. Factors may exert effects by competing with the receptors for binding to these response elements, by binding to *cis* elements flanking the RAREs and RXREs, or alternatively, by interacting directly with the bound receptors.

Following functional analyses, RARE-containing NN fragments can be used as probes to isolate flanking genomic DNA. Several approaches are available for the recognition of genes within large regions of genomic DNA (for review see Gardiner and Mural, 1995). Traditional methods include the use of repeat-free genomic fragments to probe Zoo and Northern blots to detect conserved regions and transcripts respectively. Additional techniques are the *in vivo* identification of splice acceptor sites in cloned genomic DNA (exon trapping, Buckler et al., 1991; Duyk et al., 1990) and selection of cDNA sequences with genomic clones (cDNA selection, Lovett et al., 1991; Parimoo et al., 1991). It is also possible to directly sequence genomic DNA flanking the NN fragment and subject the sequence to 'software trapping' (Claverie, 1994; Legouis et al., 1991), a combination of computational analysis and database searches.

In chapter 3, I will describe the novel approach (CpG-SAAB) that has been developed to isolate RXR/RAR target genes, the functional analysis of twelve RARE- or RXRE-containing fragments isolated using CpG-SAAB, and the characterization a gene associated with one of the RXRE-containing NN fragments.

### References

Allegretto, E. A., Shevde, N., Zou, A., Howell, S. R., Boehm, M. F., Hollis, B. W., and Pike, J. W. (1995). Retinoic X receptor acts as a hormone receptor *in vivo* to induce a key metabolic enzyme for 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin  $D_3$ . J. Biol. Chem. 270, 23906-23909.

Allenby, G., Bocquel, M.-T., Saunders, M., Kazmer, S., Speck, J., Rosenberger, M., Lovey, A., Kastner, P., Grippo, J. F., Chambon, P., and Levin, A. A. (1993). Retinoic acid receptors and retinoid X receptors: interactions with endogenous retinoic acids. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90, 30-34.

Amos, B., and Lotan, R. (1990). Retinoid-sensitive cells and cell lines. Methods Enzymol. 190, 217-225.

Anglard, P., Melot, T., Guérin, E., Thomas, G., and Basset, P. (1995). Structure and promoter characterization of the human stromelysin-3 gene. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 20337-20344.

Antequera, F., and Bird, A. (1993). Number of CpG islands and genes in human and mouse. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90, 11995-11999.

Antequera, F., Boyes, J., and Bird, A. P. (1990). High levels of de novo methylation and altered chromatin structure at CpG islands. Cell 62, 503-514.

Antequera, F., Macleod, D., and Bird, A. P. (1989). Specific protection of methylated CpGs in mammalian nuclei. Cell 58, 509-517.

Apfel, C. M., Kamber, M., Klaus, M., Mohr, P., Keidel, S., and LeMotte, P. K. (1995). Enhancement of HL-60 differentiation by a new class of retinoids with selective activity on retinoid X receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 30765-30772.

Asselineau, D., Bernard, B. A., Bailly, C., and Darmon, M. (1989). Retinoic acid improves epidermal morphogenesis. Dev. Biol. 133, 322-335.

Bednarik, D. P., Duckett, C., Kim, S. U., Perez, V. L., Griffis, K., Guenther, P. C., and Folks, T. M. (1991). DNA CpG methylation inhibits binding of NF-kappa B proteins to the HIV-1 long terminal repeat cognate DNA motifs. New Biologist 3, 969-976.

Benbrook, D., Lernhardt, E., and Pfahl, M. (1988). A new retinoic acid receptor identified from a hepatocellular carcinoma. Nature 333, 669-0672.

Bigler, J., and Eisenman, R. N. (1994). Isolation of a thyroid hormone-responsive gene by immunopreciptation of thyroid hormone receptor-DNA complexes. Mol. Cell. Biol. 14, 7621-7632.

Bigler, J., and Eisenman, R. N. (1995). Novel location and function fo a thyroid hormone response element. EMBO J. 14, 5710-5723.

Bird, A. P. (1987). CpG islands as gene markers in the vertebrate nucleus. Trends Genet. 3, 342-347.

Blackwell, T. K., and Weintraub, H. (1990). Differences and Similarities in DNA-binding preferences of myoD and E2A protein complexes revealed by binding site selection. Science 250, 1104-1110.

Blomhoff, R., Green, M. H., Berg, T., and Norum, K. R. (1990). Transport and storage of vitamin A. Science 250, 399-404.

Bouillet, P., Oulad-Abdelghani, M., Vicaire, S., Garnier, J.-M., Schuhbaur, B., Dollé, P., and Chambon, P. (1995). Efficient cloning of cDNAs of retinoic acid-responsive genes in P19 embryonal carcinoma cells and characterization of a novel mouse gene, Stra1 (mouse LERK-2/Eplg2). Dev. Biol. 180, 420-433.

Boyes, J., and Bird, A. (1991). DNA methylation inhibits transcription indirectly via a methyl-CpG binding protein. Cell 64, 1123-1134.

Boylan, J. F., Lohnes, D., Taneja, R., Chambon, P., and Gudas, L. J. (1993). Loss of retinoic acid receptor  $\gamma$  function in F9 cells by gene disruption results in aberrant *Hoxa-1* expression and differentiation upon retinoic acid treatment. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90, 9601-9605.

Boylan, J. F., Lufkin, T., Achkar, C. C., Taneja, R., Chambon, P., and Gudas, L. J. (1995). Targeted disruption of retinoic acid receptor  $\alpha$  (RAR $\alpha$ ) and RAR $\gamma$  results in receptor-specific alterations in retinoic acid-mediated differentiation and retinoic acid metabolism. Mol. Cell. Biol. 15, 843-851.

Brand, N., Petkovich, M., Krust, A., Chambon, P., de Thé, H., Marchio, A., Tiollais, P., and Dejean, A. (1988). Identification of a second human retinoic acid receptor. Nature 332, 850-853.

Breitman, T. R., Selonick, S. E., and Collins, S. J. (1980). Induction of differentiation of the human promyelocytic leukemia cell line (HL-60) by retinoic acid. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 77(5), 2936-2940.

Buckler, A. J., Chang, D. D., Graw, S. L., Brook, J. D., Haber, D. A., Sharp, P. A., and Housman, D. E. (1991). Exon amplification: a strategy to isolate mammalian genes based on RNA splicing. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA *88*, 4005-4009.

Bulens, F., Ibanez-Tallon, I., Van Acker, P., De Vriese, A., Nelles, L., Belayew, A., and Collen, D. (1995). Retinoic acid induction of human tissue-type plasminogen activator gene expression via a direct repeat element (DR5) located at -7 kilobases. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 7167-7175.

Burns, K., Duggan, B., Atkinson, E. A., Famulski, K. S., Nemer, M., Bleackley, R. C., and Michalak, M. (1994). Modulation of gene expression by calreticulin binding to the glucocorticoid receptor. Nature 367, 476-480.

Burns, K., Helgason, C. D., Bleakley, R. C., and Michalak, M. (1992). Calreticulin in Tlymphocytes. Identification of calreticulin in T-lymphocytes and demonstration that activation of T cells correlates with increased levels of calreticulin mRNA and protein. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 19039-19042.

Burris, T. P., Nawaz, Z., Tsai, M.-J., and O'Malley, B. W. (1995). A nuclear hormone receptor-associated protein that inhibits transactivation by the thyroid hormone and retinoic acid receptors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92, 9525-9529.

Cancela, M. L., and Price, P. A. (1992). Retinoic acid induces matrix G1a protein gene expression in human cells. Endocrinology 130, 102-108.

Cavaillès, V., Dauvois, S., L'Horset, F., Lopez, G., Hoare, S., Kushner, P. J., and Parker, M. G. (1995). Nuclear factor RIP140 modulates transcriptional activation by the estrogen receptor. EMBO J. 14, 3741-3751.

Chen, J. D., and Evans, R. M. (1995). A transcriptional co-repressor that interacts with nuclear hormone receptors. Nature 377, 454-457.

Claverie, J. M. (1994). A streamlined random sequencing strategy for finding coding exons. Genomics 23(3), 575-581.

Conlon, R., and Rossant, J. (1992). Exogenous retinoic acid rapidly induces anterior ectopic expression of murine *Hox-2* genes in vivo. Development *116*, 357-368.

Conway, E. M., Liu, L., Nowakowski, B., Steiner-Mosonyi, M., Ribeiro, S. P., and Michalak, M. (1995). Heat shock-sensitive expression of calreticulin. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 17011-17016.

Coppolino, M., Leung-Hagesteijn, C., Dedhar, S., and Wilkins, J. (1995). Inducible interaction of integrin  $\alpha_2\beta_1$  with calreticulin. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 23132-23138.

Costa-Giomi, M. P., Gaub, M. P., Chambon, P., and Abarzúa, P. (1992). Characterization of a retinoic acid responsive element isolated by whole genome PCR. Nucleic Acids Res. 20, 3223-3232.

Cross, S. H., Charlton, J. A., Nan, X., and Bird, A. P. (1994). Purification of CpG islands using a methylated DNA binding column. Nat. Genet. 6, 236-244.

Davis, K. D., Berrodin, T. J., Stelmach, J. E., Winkler, J. D., and Lazar, M. A. (1994). Endogenous retinoid X receptors can function as hormone receptors in pituitary cells. Mol. Cell. Biol. 14, 7105-7110. de Thé, H., del Mar Vivanco-Ruiz, M., Tiollais, P., Stunneberg, H., and Dejean, A. (1990). Identification of a retinoic acid responsive element in the retinoic acid receptor  $\beta$  gene. Nature 343, 177-180.

de Thé, H., Marchio, A., Tiollais, P., and Dejean, A. (1989). Differential expression and ligand regulation of retinoic acid receptor  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  genes. EMBO J. 8, 429-433.

Dedhar, S., Rennie, P. S., Shago, M., Leung Hagesteijn, C.-Y., Yang, H., Filmus, J., Hawley, R. G., Bruchovsky, N., Cheng, H., Matusik, R. J., and Giguère, V. (1994). Inhibition of nuclear hormone receptor activity by calreticulin. Nature 367, 480-483.

Dittman, W. A., Nelson, S. C., Greer, P. K., Horton, E. T., Palomba, M. L., and McCachren, S. S. (1994). Characterization of thrombomodulin expression in response to retinoic acid and identification of a retinoic acid response element in the human thrombomodulin gene. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 16925-16932.

Dollé, P., Ruberte, E., Kastner, P., Petkovich, M., Stoner, C. M., Gudas, L. J., and Chambon, P. (1989). Differential expression of genes encoding  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  retinoic acid receptors and CRABP in the developing limb of the mouse. Nature 342, 702-705.

Dollé, P., Ruberte, E., Leroy, P., Morris-Kay, G., and Chambon, P. (1990). Retinoic acid receptors and cellular retinoid binding proteins I. A systematic study of their differential pattern of transcription during mouse organogenesis. Development *110*, 1133-1151.

Duester, G., Shean, M. L., McBride, M. S., and Stewart, M. J. (1991). Retinoic acid response element in the human alcohol dehydrogenase gene ADH3: implications for regulation of retinoic acid synthesis. Mol. Cell. Biol. 11, 1638-1646.

Durand, B., Saunders, M., Leroy, P., Leid, M., and Chambon, P. (1992). All-trans and 9cis retinoic acid induction of CRABPII transcription is mediated by RAR-RXR heterodimers bound to DR1 and DR2 repeated motifs. Cell 71, 73-85.

Duyk, G. M., Sim, S. W., Myers, R. M., and Cox, D. R. (1990). Exon trapping: a genetic screen to identify candidate transcribed sequences in cloned mammalian genomic DNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87, 8995-8999.

Eden, S., and Cedar, H. (1994). Role of DNA methylation in the regulation of transcription. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 4, 255-259.

Edwards, M. K. S., and McBurney, M. W. (1983). The concentration of retinic acid determines the differentiated cell types formed by a teratocarcinoma cell line. Dev. Biol. 98, 187-191.

Evans, R. M. (1988). The steroid and thyroid hormone receptor superfamily. Science 240, 889-895.

Fawell, S. E., Lees, J. A., White, R., and Parker, M. G. (1990). Characterization and colocalization of steroid binding and dimerization activities in the mouse estrogen receptor. Cell 60, 953-962.

Felsenfeld, G. (1992). Chromatin as an essential part of the transcriptional mechanism. Nature 355, 219-224.

Fiorella, P. D., Giguère, V., and Napoli, J. L. (1993). Expression of cellular retinoic acid binding protein (type II) in Escherichia coli. Characterization and comparison to cellular retinoic acid binding protein (type I). J. Biol. Chem. 268, 21545-21552.

Folkers, G. E., van der Leede, B.-j. M., and van der Saag, P. T. (1993). The retinoic acid receptor- $\beta$ 2 contains two separate cell-specific transactivation domains, at the N-terminus and in the ligand-binding domain. Mol. Endocrinol. 7, 616-627.

Forman, B. M., Casanova, J., Raaka, B. M., Ghysdael, J., and Samuels, H. H. (1992). Half-site spacing and orientation determines whether thyroid hormone and retinoic acid receptors and related factors bind to DNA response elements as monomers, homodimers, or heterodimers. Mol. Endocrinol. 6, 429-442.

Forman, B. M., Umesono, K., Chen, J., and Evans, R. M. (1995). Unique response pathways are established by allosteric interactions among nuclear hormone receptors. Cell 81, 541-550.

Forman, B. M., Yange, C.-R., Au, M., Casanova, J., Ghysdael, J., and Samuels, H. H. (1989). A domain containing leucine-zipper-like motifs mediate novel in vivo interactions between the thyroid hormone and retinoic acid receptors. Mol. Endocrinol. 3, 1610-1626.

Frank, D., Keshet, I., Shani, M., Levine, A., Razin, A., and Cedar, H. (1991). Demethylation of CpG islands in embryonic cells. Nature 351, 239-241.

Gardiner, K., and Mural, R. J. (1995). Getting the message: identifying transcribed sequences. Trends Genet. 11, 77-79.

Ghazal, P., DeMattei, C., Giulietti, E., Kliewer, S. A., Umesono, K., and Evans, R. M. (1992). Retinoic acid receptors initiate induction of the cytomegalovirus enhancer in embryonal cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89, 7630-7634.

Giguère, V. (1994). Retinoic acid receptors and cellular retinoid binding proteins: complex interplay in retinoid signaling. Endocr. Rev. 15, 61-79.

Giguère, V., Ong, S., Segui, P., and Evans, R. (1987). Identification of a receptor for the morphogen retinoic acid. Nature 330, 624-629.

Giguère, V., Shago, M., R., Z., Tate, P., Rossant, J., and Varmuza, S. (1990). Identification of a novel isoform of the retinoic acid receptor  $\gamma$  expressed in the mouse embryo. Mol. Cell. Biol. 10, 2335-2340.

Giguère, V., Tini, M., Flock, G., Ong, E., Evans, R. M., and Otulakowski, G. (1994). Isoform-specific amino-terminal domains dictate DNA-binding properties of ROR $\alpha$ , a novel family of orphan hormone nuclear receptors. Genes Dev. 8, 538-553.

Glass, C. K. (1994). Differential recognition of target genes by nuclear receptor monomers, dimers, and heterodimers. Endocr. Rev. 15, 391-407.

Gould, A. P. (1990). Targets of homeotic gene control in *Drosophila*. Nature 348, 308-312.

Gross, D. S., and Garrard, W. T. (1988). Nuclease hypersensitive sites in chromatin. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 57, 159-197.

Guyer, M. S., and Collins, F. S. (1995). How is the human genome project doing, and what we have learned so far? Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92, 10841-10848.

Halachmi, S., Marden, E., Martin, G., MacKay, H., Abbondanza, C., and Brown, M. (1994). Estrogen receptor-associated proteins: possible mediators of hormone-induced transcription. Science 264, 1455-1458.

Hard, T., Kellenbach, E., Boelens, R., Maler, B. A., Dahlman, K., Freedman, L. P., Carlstedt-Duke, J., Yamamoto, K. R., Gustafsson, J.-A., and Kaptein, R. (1990). Solution structure of the glucocorticoid receptor DNA-binding domain. Science 249, 157-160.

Harrison III, R. W., Lippman, S. S., Hendry III, W. J., and Chien, M.-C. (1990). Isolation of a genomic sublibrary enriched for glucocorticoid-regulated genes. DNA Cell Biol. 9, 95-102.

Heery, D. M., Pierrat, B., Gronemeyer, H., Chambon, P., and Losson, R. (1994). Homoand heterodimers of the retinoid X receptor (RXR) activate transcription in yeast. Nucleic Acids Res. 22, 726-731.

Heyman, R. A., Mangelsdorf, D. J., Dyck, J. A., Stein, R. B., Eichele, G., Evans, R. M., and Thaller, C. (1992). 9-cis retinoic acid is a high affinity ligand for the retinoid X receptor. Cell 68, 397-406.

Holler, M., Westin, G., Jiricny, J., and Schaffner, W. (1988). Sp1 transcription factor binds DNA and activates transcription even when the binding site is CpG methylated. Genes Dev. 2, 1127-1135.

Hörlein, A. J., Näär, A. M., Helnzel, t., Torchia, J., Gloss, B., Kurakawa, r., Ryan, A., Kamel, Y., Söderström, M., Glass, C. K., and Rosenfeld, M. G. (1995). Ligandindependent repression by the thyroid hormone receptor mediated by a nuclear receptor co-repressor. Nature 377, 397-404. Huan, B., and Siddiqui, A. (1992). Retinoid X receptor RXR $\alpha$  binds to and transactivates the hepatitis B virus enhancer. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89, 9059-9063.

Husmann, M., Hoffmann, B., Stump, D. G., Chytil, F., and Pfahl, M. (1992). A retinoic acid response element from the rat CRBPI promoter is activated by an RAR/RXR heterodimer. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 187, 1558-1564.

Inoue, S., Kondo, S., Hashimoto, M., Kondo, T., and Muramatsu, M. (1991). Isolation of estrogen receptor-binding sites in human genomic DNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 19, 4091-4096.

John, R. M., Robbins, C. A., and Myers, R. M. (1994). Identification of genes within CpG-enriched DNA from human chromosome 4p16.3. Hum. Mol. Genet. 3, 1611-1616.

Jones, P. (1985). Altering gene expression with 5-azacytidine. Cell 40, 485-486.

Jones-Villeneuve, E. M. V., McBurney, M. W., Rogers, K. A., and Kalnins, V. I. (1982). Retinoic acid induces embryonal carcinoma cells to differentiate into neurons and glial cells. J. Cell Biol. 94, 253-262.

Kamei, Y., Xu, L., Heinzel, T., Torchia, J., Kurokawa, R., Gloss, B., Lin, S.-C., Heyman, R. A., Rose, D. W., Glass, C. K., and Rosenfeld, M. G. (1996). A CBP integrator complex mediates transcriptional activation and AP-1 inhibition by nuclear receptors. Cell 85, 403-414.

Kass, S. U., Goddard, J. P., and Adams, R. L. P. (1993). Inactive chromatin spreads from a focus of methylation. Mol. Cell. Biol. 13, 7372-7379.

Kastner, P., Grondona, J. M., Mark, M., Gansmuller, A., LeMeur, M., Decimo, D., Vonesch, J.-L., Dollé, P., and Chambon, P. (1994). Genetic analysis of RXR $\alpha$ developmental function: convergence of RXR and RAR signaling pathways in heart and eye morphogenesis. Cell 78, 987-1003.

Kastner, P., Krust, A., Mendelsohn, C., Garnier, J. M., Zelent, A., Leroy, P., Staub, A., and Chambon, P. (1990). Murine isoforms of retinoic acid receptor  $\gamma$  with specific patterns of expression. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87, 2700-2704.

Kastner, P., Mark, M., and Chambon, P. (1995). Nonsteroid nuclear receptors: what are genetic studies telling us about their role in real life? Cell 83, 859-869.

Kastner, P., Mark, M., Leid, M., Gansmuller, A., Chin, W., Grondona, J. M., Décimo, D., Krezel, W., Dierich, A., and Chambon, P. (1996). Abnormal spermatogenesis in RXR<sup>β</sup> mutant mice. Genes Dev. 10, 80-92.

Katahira, M., Knegtel, R. M. A., Boelens, R., Eib, D., Schilthuis, J. G., Van der Saag, P. T., and Kaptein, R. (1992). Homo- and heteronuclear NMR studies of the human retinoic acid receptor  $\beta$  DNA-binding domain: sequential assignments and identification of secondary structure elements. Biochemistry 31, 6474-6480.

Kato, S., Endoh, H., Masuhiro, T., Kitamoto, T., Uchiyama, S., Sasaki, H., Masushige, S., Gotoh, Y., Nishida, E., Kawashima, H., Metzger, D., and Chambon, P. (1995). Activation of the estrogen receptor through phosphorylation by mitogen-activated protein kinase. Science 270, 1491-1494.

Kawai, J., Hirose, K., Fushiki, S., Hirotsune, S., Ozawa, N., Hara, A., Hayashizaki, Y., and Watanabe, S. (1994). Comparison of DNA methylation patterns among mouse cell lines by restriction landmark genomic scanning. Mol. Cell. Biol. 14, 7421-7427.

Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. (1989). Whole genome PCR: application to the identification of sequences bound by regulatory proteins. Nucleic Acids Res. 17, 3645-3653.

Kliewer, S. A., Umesono, K., Heyman, R. A., Mangelsdorf, D. J., Dyck, J. A., and Evans, R. M. (1992). Retinoid X receptor-COUP-TF interactions modulate retinoic acid signaling. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89, 1448-1452.

Kliewer, S. A., Umesono, K., Mangelsdorf, D. J., and Evans, R. M. (1992). Retinoid X receptor interacts with nuclear receptors in retinoic acid, thyroid hormone and vitamin D3 signalling. Nature 335, 446-449.

Kliewer, S. A., Umesono, K., Noonan, D. J., Heyman, R. A., and Evans, R. M. (1992). Convergence of 9-cis retinoic acid and peroxisome proliferator signalling pathways through heterodimer formation of their receptors. Nature 358, 771-774. Krust, A., Kastner, P., Petkovich, M., Zelent, A., and Chambon, P. (1989). A third human retinoic acid receptor, hRAR- $\gamma$ . Proc Natl Acad Sci, USA 86, 5310-5314.

Kurlandsky, S. B., Gamble, M. V., Ramakrishnan, R., and Blaner, W. S. (1995). Plasma delivery of retinoic acid to tissues in the rat. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 17850-17857.

Kurokawa, R., DiRenzo, J., Boehm, M., Sugarman, J., Gloss, B., Rosenfeld, M. G., Heyman, R. A., and Glass, C. K. (1994). Regulation of retinoid signalling by receptor polarity and allosteric control of ligand binding. Nature 371, 528-531.

Kurokawa, R., Söderström, M., Hörlein, A., Halachmi, S., Brown, M., Rosenfeld, M. G., and Glass, C. K. (1995). Polarity-specific activities of retinoic acid receptors by a co-repressor. Nature 377, 451-454.

Kurokawa, R., Yu, V. C., Näär, A., Kyakumoto, S., Han, Z., Silverman, S., Rosenfeld, M. G., and Glass, C. K. (1993). Differential orientations of the DNA-binding domain and carboxy-terminal dimerization interface regulate binding site selection by nuclear receptor heterodimers. Genes Dev. 7, 1423-1435.

Kutoh, E., Strömstedt, P.-E., and Poellinger, L. (1992). Functional interference between the ubiquitous and constitutive octamer transcription factor 1 (OTF-1) and the glucocorticoid receptor by direct protein-protein ineraction involving the homeo subdomain of OTF-1. Mol. Cell. Biol. 12, 4960-4969.

Lammer, E., Chen, D., Hoar, R., Agnish, N., Benke, P., Braun, J., Curry, C., Fernhoff, P., Grix, A., Lott, I., Richard, J., and Shyan, C. (1985). Retinoic acid embryopathy. N. Engl. J. Med. 313, 837-841.

Langston, A. W., and Gudas, L. J. (1992). Identification of a retinoic acid-responsive enhancer 3' of the murine homeobox gene Hox-1.6. Mech. Dev. 38, 217-228.

Lanigan, T., Tverberg, L. A., and Russo, A. F. (1993). Retinoic acid repression of cellspecific helix-loop-helix-octamer activation of the calcitonin/calcitonin gene-related peptide enhancer. Mol. Cell. Biol. 13, 6079-6088. LaRosa, G. J., and Gudas, L. J. (1988). An early effect of retinoic acid: Cloning of an mRNA (Era-1) exhibiting rapid and protein synthesis-independent induction during teratocarcinoma stem cell differentiation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 85, 329-333.

Larsen, F., Gundersen, G., Lopez, R., and Prydz, H. (1992). CpG islands as gene markers in the human genome. Genomics 13, 1095-1107.

Le Douarin, B., Zechel, C., Garnier, J. M., Lutz, Y., Tora, L., Pierrat, B., Heery, D., Gronemeyer, H., Chambon, P., and Losson, R. (1995). The N-terminal part of TIF1, a putative mediator of the ligand-dependent activation function (AF-2) of nuclear receptors, is fused to B-raf in the oncogenic protein T18. EMBO J. 14, 2020-2033.

Leder, A., Kuo, A., Cardiff, R. D., Sinn, E., and Leder, P. (1990). v-Ha-ras transgene abrogates the initiation step in mouse skin tumorigenesis: effects of phorbol esters and retinoic acid. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87, 9178-9182.

Lee, J. W., Ryan, F., Swaffield, J. C., Johnston, S. A., and Moore, D. D. (1995). Interaction of thyroid-hormone receptor with a conserved transcriptional mediator. Nature 374, 91-94.

Lee, M. S., Kliewer, S. A., Provencal, J., Wright, P. E., and Evans, R. M. (1993). Structure of the retinoid X receptor  $\alpha$  DNA binding domain: a helix required for homodimeric DNA binding. Science 260, 1117-1121.

Legouis, R., Hardelen, J. P., Levilliers, J., Claverie, J. M., Campain, S., Wunderle, V., Millasseau, P., Le Paslier, D., Cohen, D., Caterina, D., and al, e. (1991). The candidate gene for the X-linked Kallmann syndrome encodes a protein related to adhesion molecules. Cell 67(2), 423-435.

Lehmann, J. M., Zhang, X.-K., and Pfahl, M. (1992). RARy2 expression is regulated through a retinoic acid response element embedded in Sp1 sites. Mol. Cell. Biol. 12, 2976-2985.

Leid, M., Kastner, P., Lyons, R., Nakshari, H., Saunders, M., Zacharewski, T., Chen, J.-Y., Staub, A., Garnier, J.-M., Mader, S., and Chambon, P. (1992). Purification, Cloning, and RXR identity of the HeLa cell factor with which RAR or TR heterodimerizes to bind target sequences efficiently. Cell 68, 377-395.

Leroy, P., Krust, A., Zelent, A., Mendelsohn, C., Garnier, J. M., Kastner, P., Dierich, A., and Chambon, P. (1991). Multiple isoforms of the mouse retinoic acid receptor  $\alpha$  are generated by alternative splicing and differential induction by retinoic acid. EMBO J. 10, 59-69.

Leroy, P., Nakshatri, H., and Chambon, P. (1991). Mouse retinoic acid receptor  $\alpha 2$  isoform is transcribed from a promoter that contains a retinoic acid response element. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88, 10138-10142.

Leung-Hagesteijn, C. Y., Milankov, K., Michalak, M., Wilkins, J., and Dedhar, S. (1994). Cell attachment to extracellular matrix substrates is inhibited upon downregulation of expression of calreticulin, an intracellular integrin  $\alpha$ -subunit -binding protein. J. Cell Sci. 107, 589-600.

Levin, A. A., Sturzenbecker, L. J., Kazmer, S., Bosakowski, T., Huselton, C., Allenby, G., Speck, J., Kratzeisen, C., Rosenberger, M., Lovey, A., and Grippo, J. F. (1992). 9-Cis retinoic acid stereoisomer binds and activates the nuclear receptor RXRα. Nature 355, 359-361.

Lewis, J. D., Meehan, R. R., Henzel, W. J., Maurer-Fogy, I., Jeppesen, P., Klein, F., and Bird, A. (1992). Purification, sequence, and cellular localization of a novel chromosomal protein that binds to methylated DNA. Cell 69, 905-914.

Li, E., Bestor, T. H., and Jaenisch, R. (1992). Targeted mutation of the DNA methyltransferase gene results in embryonic lethality. Cell 69, 915-926.

Li, E., Sucov, H. M., Lee, K.-H., Evans, R. M., and Jaenisch, R. (1993). Normal development and growth of mice carrying a targeted disruption of the  $\alpha$ 1 retinoic acid receptor gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA *90*, 1590-1594.

Liang, P., and Pardee, A. B. (1992). Differential display of eukaryotic messenger RNA by means of the polymerase chain reaction. Science 257, 967-971.

Lipkin, S. M., Nelson, C. A., Glass, C. K., and Rosenfeld, M. G. (1992). A negative retinoic acid response element in the rat oxytocin promoter restricts transcriptional stimulation by heterologous transcription domains. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89, 1209-1213.

Liu, Q., and Linney, E. (1993). The mouse retinoid-X receptor-gamma gene: genomic organization and evidence for functional isoforms. Mol. Endocrinol. 7, 651-658.

Liu, Y., Chen, H., and Chiu, J.-F. (1994). Identification of a retinoic acid response element upstream of the rat  $\alpha$ -fetoprotein gene. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 103, 149-156.

Lohnes, D., Kastner, P., Dierich, A., Mark, M., LeMeur, M., and Chambon, P. (1993). Function of retinoic acid receptor  $\gamma$  in the mouse. Cell 73, 643-658.

Lohnes, D., Mark, M., Mendelsohn, C., Dollé, P., Dierich, A., Gorry, P., Gansmuller, A., and Chambon, P. (1994). Function of the retinoic acid receptors (RARs) during development. (I) Craniofacial and skeletal abnormalities in RAR double mutants. Development 120, 2723-2748.

Lovett, M., Kere, J., and Hinton, L. M. (1991). Direct selection: a method for the isolation of cDNAs encoded by large genomic regions. Proc Natl Acad Sci 88, 9628-9632.

Lucas, P. C., O'Brien, R. M., Mitchell, J. A., Davis, C. M., Imai, E., Forman, B. C., Samuels, H. H., and Granner, D. K. (1991). A retinoic acid response element is part of a pleiotropic domain in the phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88, 2184-2188.

Lufkin, T., Lohnes, D., Mark, M., Dierich, A., Gorrey, P., Gaub, M.-P., LeMeur, M., and Chambon, P. (1993). High postnatal lethality and testis degeneration in retinoic acid receptor  $\alpha$  mutant mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90, 7225-7229.

Luo, J., Pasceri, P., Conlon, R. A., Rossant, J., and Giguère, V. (1995). Mice lacking all isoforms of retinoic acid receptor  $\beta$  develop normally and are susceptible to the teratogenic effects of retinoic acid. Mech. Dev. 53, 61-71.

Luo, J., Sucov, H. M., Bader, J.-A., Evans, R. M., and Giguère, V. (1996). Compound mutants for retinoic acid receptor (RAR)  $\beta$  and RAR $\alpha$ 1 reveal developmental functions for multiple RAR $\beta$  isoforms. Mech. Dev. 55, 33-44.

Macleod, D., Charlton, J., Mullins, J., and Bird, A. P. (1994). Sp1 sites in the mouse aprt gene promoter are required to prevent methylation of the CpG island. Genes Dev. 8, 2282-2292.

Mangelsdorf, D. J., Borgmeyer, U., Heyman, R. A., Zhou, J. Y., Ong, E. S., Oro, A. E., Kakizuka, A., and Evans, R. M. (1992). Characterization of three RXR genes that mediate the action of 9-cis retinoic acid. Genes Dev. 6, 329-344.

Mangelsdorf, D. J., and Evans, R. M. (1995a). The RXR heterodimers and orphan receptors. Cell 83, 841-850.

Mangelsdorf, D. J., Ong, E. S., Dyck, J. A., and Evans, R. M. (1990). Nuclear receptor that identifies a novel retinoic acid response pathway. Nature 345, 224-229.

Mangelsdorf, D. J., Thummel, C., Beato, M., Herrlich, P., Schütz, J., Umesono, K., Blumberg, B., Kastner, P., Mark, M., Chambon, P., and Evans, R. M. (1995b). The nuclear receptor superfamily: the second decade. Cell 83, 835-839.

Mangelsdorf, D. J., Umesono, K., Kliewer, S. A., Borgmeyer, U., Ong, E. S., and Evans, R. M. (1991). A direct repeat in the cellular retinol binding protein type II gene confers differential regulation by RXR and RAR. Cell 66, 555-561.

Marshall, H., Nonchev, S., Sham, M. H., Muchamore, I., Lumsden, A., and Krumlauf, R. (1992). Retinoic acid alters hindbrain Hox code and induces transformation of rhombomeres 2/3 into a 4/5 identity. Nature 360, 737-741.

Marshall, H., Studer, M., Pöpperl, H., Aparlelo, S., Kurolwa, A., Brenner, S., and Krumlauf, R. (1994). A conserved retinoic acid response element required for early expression of the homeobox gene *Hoxb-1*. Nature 370, 567-571.

McGinnis, W., and Krumlauf, R. (1992). Homeobox genes and axial patterning. Cell 68, 283-302.

Means, A. L., and Gudas, L. J. (1995). The roles of retinoids in vertebrate development. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 64, 201-233.

Medin, J. A., Minucci, S., Driggers, P. H., Lee, I. J., and Ozato, K. (1994). Quantitative increases in DNA binding affinity and positional effects determine 9-cis retinoic acid induced activation of the retinoid X receptor  $\beta$  homodimer. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 105, 27-35.

Meehan, R. R., Lewis, J. D., McKay, S., Kieiner, E. L., and Bird, A. P. (1989). Identification of a mammalian protein that binds specifically to DNA containing methylated CpGs. Cell 58, 499-507.

Mendelsohn, C., Larkin, S., Mark, M., LeMeur, M., Clifford, J., Zelent, A., and Chambon, P. (1994). RAR $\beta$  isoforms: distinct transcriptional control by retinoic acid and specific and spatial patterns of promoter activity during mouse embryonic development. Mech. Dev. 45, 227-241.

Mendelsohn, C., Lohnes, D., Decimo, D., Lufkin, T., LeMeur, M., Chambon, P., and Mark, M. (1994). Function of the retinoic acid receptors (RARs) during development. (II) Multiple abnormalities at various stages of organogenesis in RAR double mutants. Development 120, 2749-2771.

Mendelsohn, C., Mark, M., Dollé, P., Dierich, A., Gaub, M.-P., Krust, A., Lampron, C., and Chambon, P. (1994). Retinoic acid receptor  $\beta 2$  (RAR $\beta 2$ ) null mutant mice appear normal. Dev. Biol. *166*, 246-258.

Michalak, M., Milner, R. E., Burns, K., and Opas, M. (1992). Calreticulin. Biochem. J. 285, 681-692.

Muñoz-Cánoves, P., Vik, D. P., and Tack, B. F. (1990). Mapping of a retinoic acidresponsive element in the promoter region of the complement factor H gene. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 20065-20068. Nagata, T., Kanno, Y., Ozato, K., and Taketo, M. (1994). The mouse RXR $\beta$  gene encoding RXR beta: genomic organization and two mRNA isoforms generated by alternative splicing of transcripts initiated from CpG island promoters. Gene 142, 183-189.

Nagata, T., Segars, J. H., Levi, B. Z., and Ozato, K. (1992). Retinoic acid-dependent transactivation of major histocompatibility complex class I promoters by the nuclear hormone receptor H-2RIIBP in undifferentiated embryonal carcinoma cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89, 937-941.

Nagpal, S., Friant, S., Nakshatri, H., and Chambon, P. (1993). RARs and RXRs: evidence for two autonomous transactivation functions (AF-1 and AF-2) and heteodimerization *in vivo*. EMBO J. 12, 2349-2360.

Nakshatri, H., and Chambon, P. (1994). The directly repeated RG(G/T)TCA motifs of the rat and mouse cellular retinol-binding protein II genes are promiscuous binding sites for RAR, RXR, HNF-4, and ARP-1 homo- and heterodimers. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 890-902.

O'Banion, M. K., Winn, V. D., Settleman, J., and Young, D. A. (1993). Genetic Definition of a new bovine papillomavirus type 1 open reading frame, E5B, that encodes a hydrophobic protein involved in altering host-cell protein processing. J. Virol. 67, 3427-3434.

Oliphant, A. R., Brandl, C. J., and Struhl, K. (1989). Defining the sequence specificity of DNA-binding proteins by selecting binding sites from random-sequence oligonucleotides: analysis of yeast GCN4 protein. Mol. Cell. Biol. 9, 2944-2949.

Oñate, S. A., Tsai, S. Y., Tsai, M.-J., and O'Malley, B. W. (1995). Sequence and characterization of a coactivator for the steroid hormone receptor superfamily. Science 270, 1354-1357.

Opas, M., Dziak, E., Fliegel, L., and Michalak, M. (1991). Regulation of expression and intracellular distribution of calreticulin, a major calcium binding protein of nonmuscle cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 149, 160-171.

Papaloupulu, N., Lovell-Badge, R., and Krumlauf, R. (1991). The expression of murine Hox-2 genes is dependent on the differentiation pathway and displays a collinear sensitivity to retinoic acid in F9 cells and Xenopus embryos. Nucleic Acids Res. 19, 5497-5506.

Parimoo, S., Patanjali, S. R., Shukla, H., Chaplin, D. D., and Weissman, S. M. (1991). cDNA selection: efficient PCR approach for the selection of cDNAs encoded in large chromosomal DNA fragments. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88, 9623-9627.

Petkovich, M., Brand, N. J., Krust, A., and Chambon, P. (1987). A human retinoic acid receptor which belongs to the family of nuclear receptors. Nature 330, 444-450.

Pfahl, M. (1993). Nuclear receptor/AP-1 interaction. Endocr. Rev. 14, 651-658.

Pijnappel, W. W. N., Hendricks, H. F. J., Folkers, G. E., van den Brink, C. E., Dekker, E. J., Edelenbosch, C., van der Saag, P. T., and Durston, A. J. (1993). The retinoid ligand 4-oxo-retinoic acid is a highly active modulator of positional specification. Nature *366*, 340-344.

Pikarsky, E., Sharir, H., Ben-Shushan, E., and Bergman, Y. (1994). Retinoic acid represses Oct-3/4 gene expression through several retinoic acid-responsive elements located in the promoter-enhancer region. Mol. Cell. Biol. 14, 1026-1038.

Plakidou-Dymock, S., and McGivan, J. D. (1994). Calreticulin-a stress protein induced in the renal epithelial cell line NBL-1 by amino acid deprivation. Cell Calcium 16, 1-8.

Pollock, R., and Treisman, R. (1990). A sensitive method for the determination of protein-DNA binding specificities. Nucleic Acids Res. 18, 6197-6204.

Pöpperl, H., and Featherstone, M. S. (1993). Identification of a retinoic acid response element upstream of the murine Hox-4.2 gene. Mol. Cell. Biol. 13, 257-265.

Predki, P. F., Zamble, D., Sarkar, B., and Giguère, V. (1994). Ordered binding of retinoic acid and retinoid-X receptors to asymmetric response elements involves determinants adjacent to the DNA-binding domain. Mol. Endocrinol. 8, 31-39.

Prestridge, D. S., and Burks, C. (1993). The density of transcriptional elements in promoter and non-promoter sequences. Hum. Mol. Genet. 2, 1449-1453.

Raisher, B. D., Gulick, T., Zhang, Z., Strauss, A. W., Moore, D. D., and Kelly, D. P. (1992). Identification of a novel retinoid-responsive element in the promoter region of the medium chain acyl-coenzyme A dehydrogenase gene. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 20264-20269.

Ramsamooj, P., Notario, V., and Dritschilo, A. (1995). Enhanced expression of calreticulin in the nucleus of radioresistant squamous carcinoma cells in response to ionizing radiation. Cancer Res. 55, 3016-3021.

Rastinejad, F., Perlmann, T., Evans, R. M., and Sigler, P. B. (1995). Structural determinants of nuclear receptor assembly on DNA direct repeats. Nature 375, 203-211.

Richard, S., and Zingg, H. H. (1991). Identification of a retinoic acid response element in the human oxytocin promoter. J. Biol. Chem. 266, 21428-21433.

Rojiani, M. V., Finlay, B. B., Gray, V., and Dedhar, S. (1991). In vitro interaction of a polypeptide homologous to human Ro/SS-A antigen (calreticulin) with a highly conserved amino acid sequence in the cytoplasmic domain of integrin  $\alpha$  subunits. Biochemistry 30, 9859-9866.

Rosa, F. W., Wilk, A. L., and Kelsey, F. O. (1986). Teratogen update: vitamin A and congeners. Teratology 33, 355-364.

Rossant, J., Zirngibl, R., Cado, D., Shago, M., and Giguère, V. (1991). Expression of a retinoic acid response element-*hsplacZ* transgene defines specific domains of transcriptional activity during mouse embryogenesis. Genes & Dev. 5, 1333-1344.

Rottman, J. N., Widom, R. L., Nadal-Guinard, B., Mahdavi, V., and Karathanasis, S. K. (1991). A retinoic acid-responsive element in the apolipoprotein AI gene distinguishes between two different retinoic acid response pathways. Mol. Cell. Biol. 11, 3814-3820.

Roy, B., Taneja, R., and Chambon, P. (1995). Synergistic activation of retinoic acid (RA)-responsive genes and induction of embryonal carcinoma cell differentiation by an RA receptor  $\alpha$  (RAR $\alpha$ )-, RAR $\beta$ -, or RAR $\gamma$ -selective ligand in combination with a retinoid X receptor-specific ligand. Mol. Cell. Biol. 15, 6481-6487.

Ruberte, E., Dollé, P., Chambon, P., and Morris-Kay, G. (1991). Retinoic acid receptors and retinoid binding proteins II. Their differential pattern of transcription during early morphogenesis in mouse embryo. Development 111, 45-60.

Ruberte, E., Dolle, P., Krust, A., Zelent, A., Morriss-Kay, G., and Chambon, P. (1990). Specific spatial and temporal distribution of retinoic acid receptor gamma transcripts during mouse embryogenesis. Development 108, 213-222.

Schüle, R., Umesono, K., Mangelsdorf, D. J., Bolado, J., Pike, J. W., and Evans, R. M. (1990). Jun-Fos and receptors for vitamins A and D recognize a common response element in the human osteocalcin gene. Cell 61, 497-504.

Schulman, I. G., Chakravarti, D., Juguilon, H., Romo, A., and Evans, R. M. (1995). Interactions between the retinoid X receptor and a conserved region of the TATA-binding protein mediate hormone-dependent transactivation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92, 8288-8292.

Shimada, T., Inokuchi, K., and Nienhuis, A. W. (1986). Chromatin structure of the huamn dihydrofolate reductase gene promoter. J. Biol. Chem. 261, 1445-1452.

Simeone, A., Acampora, D., Arcioni, L., Andrews, P. W., Boncinelli, E., and Mavilio, F. (1990). Sequential activation of HOX2 homeobox genes by retinoic acid in human embryonal carcinoma cells. Nature 346, 763-766.

Smith, W. C., Nakshatri, H., Leroy, P., Rees, J., and Chambon, P. (1991). A retinoic acid response element is present in the mouse cellular retinol binding protein I (mCRBPI) promoter. EMBO J. 10, 2223-2230.

Sompayrac, L., and Danna, K. J. (1990). Method to identify genomic targets of DNA binding proteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87, 3274-3278.

Sporn, M. B., and Roberts, A. B. (1983). Role of retinoids in differentiation and carcinogenesis. Cancer Res. 43, 3034-3040.

Sporn, M. B., Roberts, A. B., and Goodman, D. S. (1994). The Retinoids (New York: Raven Press).

St-Arnaud, R., Prud'homme, J., Leung-Hagesteijn, C., and Dedhar, S. (1995). Constitutive expression of calreticulin in osteoblasts inhibits mineralization. J. Cell Biol. 131, 1351-1359.

Strickland, S., and Mahdavi, V. (1978). The induction of differentiation in teratocarcinoma stem cells by retinoic acid. Cell 15, 393-403.

Studer, M., Pöpperl, H., Marshall, H., Kuroiwa, A., and Krumlauf, R. (1994). Role of a conserved retinoic acid response element in rhombomere restriction of *Hoxb-1*. Science 265, 1728-1732.

Sucov, H. M., Dyson, E., Gumeringer, C. L., Price, J., Chien, K. R., and Evans, R. M. (1994). RXR $\alpha$  mutant mice establish a genetic basis for vitamin A signaling in heart morphogenesis. Genes Dev. 8, 1007-1018.

Sucov, H. M., Murakami, K. K., and Evans, R. M. (1990). Characterization of an autoregulated response element in the mouse retinoic acid receptor type  $\beta$  gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87, 5392-5396.

Taneja, R., Bouillet, P., Boylan, J. F., Gaub, M.-P., Roy, B., Gudas, L. J., and Chambon, P. (1995). Reexpression of retinoic acid receptor (RAR) $\gamma$  or overexpression of RAR $\alpha$  or RAR $\beta$  in RAR $\gamma$ -null F9 cells reveals a partial functional redundancy between the three RAR types. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92, 7854-7858.

Tazi, J., and Bird, A. (1990). Alternative chromatin structure at CpG islands. Cell 60, 909-920.

Thaller, C., and Eichele, G. (1987). Identification and spatial distrubtion of retinoids in the developing chick limb bud. Nature 327, 625-628.

Thaller, C., and Eichele, G. (1990). Isolation of 3,4-didehydroretinoic acid, a novel morphogenetic signal in the chick wing bud. Nature 345, 815-819.

Tini, M., Fraser, R. A., and Giguère, V. (1995). Functional interactions between retinoic acid receptor-related orphan nuclear receptor (ROR $\alpha$ ) and the retinoic acid receptors in the regulation of the  $\gamma$ F-crystallin promoter. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 20156-20161.

Tini, M., Otulakowski, G., Breitman, M. L., Tsui, L.-C., and Giguere, V. (1993). An everted repeat mediates retinoic acid induction of the  $\gamma$ F-crystallin gene: evidence of a direct role for retinoids in lens development. Genes Dev. 7, 295-307.

Tomotsune, D., Shoji, H., Wakamatsu, Y., Kondoh, H., and Takahashi, N. (1993). A mouse homologue of the Drosophila tumour-suppressor gene l(2)gl controlled by Hox-C8 in vivo. Nature 365, 69-72.

Umesono, K., and Evans, R. M. (1989). Determinants of target gene specificity for steroid/thyroid hormone receptors. Cell 57, 1139-1146.

Umesono, K., Giguère, V., Glass, C., Rosenfeld, M., and Evans, R. (1988). Retinoic acid and thyroid hormone induce gene expression through a common responsive element. Nature 336, 262-265.

Umesono, K., Murakami, K. K., Thompson, C. C., and Evans, R. M. (1991). Direct repeats as selective response elements for the thyroid hormone, retinoic acid, and vitamin D3 receptors. Cell 65, 1255-1266.

Vasios, G., Mader, S., Gold, J. D., Leid, M., Lutz, Y., Gaub, M. P., Chambon, P., and Gudas, L. (1991). The late retinoic acid induction of laminin B1 gene transcription involves RAR binding to the responsive element. EMBO J. 10, 1149-1158.

von Baur, E., Zechel, C., Heery, D., Heine, M. J. S., Garnier, J. M., Vivat, V., Le Douarin, B., Gronemeyer, H., Chambon, P., and Losson, R. (1996). Differential ligand-dependent interactions between the AF-2 activating domain of nuclear receptors and the putative transcriptional intermediary factors mSUG1 and TIF1. EMBO J. 15, 110-124.

Wagner, M., Thaller, C., Jessell, T., and Eichele, G. (1990). Polarizing activity and retinoid synthesis in the floor plate of the nueral tube. Nature 345, 819-822.

Watt, F., and Molloy, P. L. (1988). Cytosine methylation prevents binding to DNA of a HeLa cell transcription factor required for optimal expression of the adenovirus major late promoter. Genes Dev. 2, 1136-1143.

Wheeler, D. G., Horsford, J., Michalak, M., White, J. H., and Hendy, G. N. (1995). Calreticulin inhibits vitamin  $D_3$  signal transduction. Nucleic Acids Res. 23, 3268-3274.

Williams, G. R., Harney, J. W., Moore, D. D., Larsen, P. R., and Brent, G. A. (1992). Differential capacity of wild type promoter elements for binding and trans-activation by retinoic acid and thyroid hormone receptors. Mol. Endocrinol. 6, 1527-1537.

Winrow, C. J., Miyata, K. S., Marcus, S. L., Burns, K., Michalak, M., Capone, J. P., and Rachubinski, R. A. (1995). Calreticulin modulates the in vitro binding but not the in vivo transcriptional activatin by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor/retinoid X receptor heterodimers. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 111, 175-179.

Wolbach, S. B., and Howe, P. R. (1925). Tissue changes following deprivation of fat soluble A vitamin. J. Exp. Med. 62, 753-777.

Wolffe, A. P. (1992). New insights into chromatin function in transcriptional control. FASEB J. 6, 3354-3361.

Wood, H., Pall, G., and Morriss-Kay, G. (1994). Exposure to retinoic acid before or after the onset of somitogenesis reveals separate effects on rhombomeric segmentation and 3' *HoxB* gene expression domains. Development 120, 2279-2285.

Yu, V. C., Delsert, C., Andersen, B., Holloway, J. M., Devary, O. V., Näär, A. M., Kim, S. Y., Boutin, J. M., Glass, C. K., and Rosenfeld, M. G. (1991). RXR $\beta$ : a coregulator that enhances binding of retinoic acid, thyroid hormone, and vitamin D receptors to their cognate response elements. Cell 67, 1251-1266.

Yupsa, S. H., Lichti, U., Ben, T., and Hennings, H. (1981). Modulation of terminal differentiation and responses to tumor promoters by retinoids in mouse epidermal cell cultures. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 359, 260-273.

Zechel, C., Shen, X.-Q., Chambon, P., and Gronemeyer, H. (1994a). Dimerization interfaces formed between the DNA binding domains determine the cooperative binding of RXR/RAR and RXR/TR heterodimers to DR5 and DR4 elements. EMBO J. 13, 1414-1424.

Zechel, C., Shen, X.-Q., Chen, J.-Y., Chen, Z.-P., Chambon, P., and Gronemeyer, H. (1994b). The dimerization interfaces formed between the DNA binding domains of RXR, RAR and TR determine the binding specificity and polarity of the full-length receptors to direct repeats. EMBO J. 13, 1425-1433.

Zelent, A., Krust, A., Petkovich, M., Kastner, P., and Chambon, P. (1989). Cloning of murine  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  retinoic acid receptors and a novel receptor  $\gamma$  predominantly expressed in skin. Nature 339, 714-717.

Zelent, A., Mendelsohn, C., Kastner, P., Garnier, J. M., Ruffenach, F., Leroy, P., and Chambon, P. (1991). Differentially expressed isoforms of the mouse retinoic acid receptor  $\beta$  are generated by usage of two promoters and alternative splicing. EMBO J. 10, 71-81.

Zhang, X.-K., Lehmann, J., Hoffmann, B., Dawson, M. I., Cameron, J., Graupner, G., Hermann, T., Tran, P., and Pfahl, M. (1992). Homodimer formation of retinoid X receptor induced by 9-cis retinoic acid. Nature 358, 587-591.

## **Chapter 2**

# Modulation of the Retinoic Acid and Retinoid X Receptor Signaling Pathways in P19 Embryonal Carcinoma Cells by Calreticulin

This chapter is a slightly modified version of the following submitted manuscript: Modulation of the retinoic acid and retinoid X receptor signaling pathways in P19 embryonal carcinoma cells by calreticulin. Shago, M., Flock, G., Leung Hagesteijn, C.-Y., Giguère, V., and Dedhar, S. The chapter includes some data from the following publication: Inhibition of nuclear hormone receptor activity by calreticulin. 1994. Dedhar, S., Rennie, P. S. Shago, M. et al., Nature 367: 480-483.

Calreticulin is a widely expressed calcium binding protein that can bind to an aminoacid sequence motif, KXGFFKR, which is present in the cytoplasmic domain of all integrin  $\alpha$ -subunits. Closely related sequences, KXFFKR and KXFFRR, are encoded in the DNA-binding domain of all members of the steroid/thyroid/retinoid receptor superfamily and it has recently been demonstrated that calreticulin inhibits their activity both in vitro and in vivo. Here we present novel evidence that calreticulin can interfere directly with the retinoic acid (RARs) and retinoid X (RXRs) receptor pathways. Calreticulin exhibits the ability to inhibit DNA-binding activity of both heterodimeric RXR/RAR and homodimeric RXR complexes in vitro. Inhibition of RXR binding to DNA is achieved with a concentration of calreticulin that is approximately four-fold lower than that required for inhibition of RXR/RAR binding to a cognate binding site. Coprecipitation experiments suggest a direct protein; protein interaction between calreticulin and retinoid receptors. In transient transfection studies, we demonstrate that calreticulin reduces RAR and RXR ability to activate retinoid-responsive reporter gene constructs. Stable over-expression of calreticulin in P19 embryonal carcinoma cells significantly decreases the activation of the endogenous RA-responsive CRABPII and RAR<sup>β</sup> genes and inhibits the emergence of the RA-induced differentiated phenotype. These data demonstrate that calreticulin can interfere with the two distinct retinoid signaling pathways through a mechanism likely involving direct protein: protein interactions and that disruption of the retinoid signal alters biological processes in vivo.
## Introduction

Control of cell proliferation and differentiation in the organism results from the precise integration of environmental cues provided by soluble mediators such as hormones and growth factors and solid substratum components of the extracellular matrix (ECM). The cell deciphers these diverse signals via the expression of intracellular and extracellular receptor systems. These regulatory proteins include nuclear receptors for steroid hormones and retinoids (Evans, 1988), protein kinase and G protein-coupled receptors for growth factors (Simon et al., 1991; Ullrich and Schlessinger, 1990) and integrins for ECMmediated events (Hynes, 1992). Cellular activation by these signaling molecules often results in the activation and/or repression of specific gene networks whose products will ultimately dictate the decision to proliferate or differentiate. Deregulation of these and other signal transduction pathways often leads to uncontrolled cell growth and progression toward the malignant state.

Retinoids are potent regulators of cell growth and differentiation and exert profound effects in development and homeostasis (Sporn et al., 1994). Signal transduction by retinoids is mediated by two distinct families of nuclear receptors encoded by six different genes referred to as retinoic acid (RAR $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ ) and retinoid X (RXR $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ ) receptors (reviewed in Giguère, 1994). The vitamin A metabolite all-trans retinoic acid (atRA) specifically activates RARs while the 9-cis isomer (9cRA) activates both RARs and RXRs at physiological levels. RAR and RXR function as ligand-activated transcription factors that control gene expression through binding to specific DNA sequences located in the regulatory regions of target genes, known as RA response elements (RAREs) and retinoid X response elements (RXREs), respectively. While the multiple RAR isoforms bind DNA with high affinity only as heterodimers with RXR (Bugge et al., 1992; Kliewer et al., 1992; Leid et al., 1992; Marks et al., 1992; Yu et al., 1991; Zhang et al., 1992), in the presence of 9cRA, RXRs form stable homodimers that specifically recognize RXREs

(Medin et al., 1994; Zhang et al., 1992). For both heterodimeric and homodimeric retinoid receptor systems, binding to DNA is an essential step for stimulation of gene expression.

Calreticulin is a high-capacity calcium binding protein that was originally implicated to play a role in the storage of calcium in the lumen of the endoplasmic and sarcoplasmic reticulum (Michalak et al., 1992). However, its identification as a human Ro/SS-A autoantigen which is recognized by autoantibodies found in the sera of patients with Sjogren's syndrome, its localization to the nucleus and nuclear envelope (Michalak et al., 1992) and its direct association with the cytoplasmic domain of integrin (Rojiani et al., 1991) suggest that calreticulin may perform other important cellular and physiological functions. The subcellular localization of calreticulin has been shown to be affected upon inhibition of myoblast fusion by various agents, including transforming growth factor  $\beta$ and the tumor promoter tetradecanoyl phorbol acetate (TPA) (Michalak et al., 1991; Opas et al., 1991). In addition, the level of expression of calreticulin in B16 melanoma cells appears to correlate with their proliferating activity (Gersten et al., 1989). Taken together, these results provided evidence that calreticulin may play a significant physiological role during cell growth and proliferation.

We and others have recently shown that calreticulin can interfere with nuclear hormone receptor activity both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Burns et al., 1994; Dedhar et al., 1994; St-Arnaud et al., 1995; Wheeler et al., 1995; Winrow et al., 1995). In particular, overexpression of calreticulin inhibited the induction of an endogenous RA-responsive gene as well as suppressing a RA-induced neuronal specific marker of differentiation in P19 embryonal carcinoma (EC) cells (Dedhar et al., 1994). The interaction of calreticulin with nuclear receptors suggested a possible role for this protein as a signal modifier between cell surface integrins and the transcription machinery.

To further increase our current understanding of the interactions between calreticulin and the two distinct retinoid signaling pathways, we investigated the effects of calreticulin on retinoid-mediated regulation of gene activation. In this study, we provide novel evidence that calreticulin interferes with retinoid-dependent induction of gene expression by direct inhibition of the DNA-binding activity of RARs and RXRs and, as a consequence of these physical interactions, modulates the regulatory action of retinoids on cell proliferation and differentiation.

#### **Materials and Methods**

**Recombinant plasmids, purified calreticulin and antibodies.** Construction of the expression vectors pRShRAR $\alpha$  and pRShRXR $\alpha$  have been described elsewhere (Giguère et al., 1987; Mangelsdorf et al., 1990). The  $\beta$ RARETKLUC reporter plasmid consists of the human RAR $\beta$ 2 gene RARE (de Thé et al., 1990) linked to sequences -105 to +51 of the TK promoter driving the firefly luciferase reporter gene. A reporter construct containing one copy of the CRBPII RXRE (RXRETKLUC) (Mangelsdorf et al., 1991) was also made in a similar manner. To construct pCMXCAL, the full length human calreticulin cDNA (McCauliffe et al., 1990) was subcloned into the pCMX expression vector (Umesono et al., 1991). pRC-CMVCAL expression vectors for the stable expression of calreticulin cDNA in the sense (CAL1) and antisense (CAL2) orientation are as described previously (Dedhar et al., 1994). p60 (calreticulin) was purified as outlined previously (Rojiani et al., 1991). Goat anti-rabbit calreticulin antiserum was a gift from Dr. Michalak (University of Alberta, Canada). Rabbit antibodies directed against a synthetic peptide specific to RAR $\alpha$  were a gift from Dr. A. Antalky (McGill University).

Electromobility gel shift assays (EMSAs). Plasmids used for *in vitro* transcription/translation were pCMXhRAR $\alpha$  (Umesono et al., 1991) and pSKmRXR $\beta$  (Mangelsdorf et al., 1992), containing cDNAs for human RAR $\alpha$  and mouse RXR $\beta$  respectively. pCMXhRAR $\alpha$  was linearized with *Bam*HI and transcribed with T7 RNA polymerase while pSKmRAR $\beta$  was digested with *AccI* and its mRNA synthesized with T3 RNA polymerase. Protein was generated from the resulting mRNAs using rabbit reticulocyte lysate (Promega). Probes for EMSA were radiolabeled by endfilling with Klenow and <sup>32</sup>P-deoxyribonucleotides. The  $\beta$ RARE probe is derived from the promoter of the murine RAR $\beta$ 2 gene (Sucov et al., 1990) and the RXRE probe is derived from the promoter 1). Approximately 1 ng of probe and a total of 6 µl of in vitro transcribed/translated protein were used per reaction in the RXR/RAR heterodimer EMSAs. For the RXR homodimer

EMSAs, 8 µl of in vitro transcribed translated protein was combined with 1 ng of probe for each reaction. The reaction buffer consisted of 50 mM TrisHCl pH8, 200 mM KCl, 30% glycerol, 5 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), and 0.25% Nonidet P40 (NP40). Nonspecific competitors included 2 µg of poly dIdC, 10 µg of bovine serum albumin (BSA) and 0.1 µg of denatured salmon sperm DNA in each sample. Ligands, when added to reactions, were at final concentrations of  $10^{-7}$  M for atRA and  $10^{-6}$  M for 9cRA. All components of the binding reaction except the probe were combined and incubated on ice for 10 min. Probe was added and the reaction was incubated an additional 10 min. at room temperature prior to loading of the entire reaction on a 4% nondenaturing polyacrylamide gel. Samples were electrophoresed for 2 hours at 150V.

Immunoprecipitation and Western blot analysis. Cells were metabolically labeled with <sup>35</sup>S-methionine/<sup>35</sup>S-cysteine for 24 hours and RAR $\alpha$  was immunoprecipitated from cellular lysates as described previously (Leung Hagesteijn et al., 1994). Washes for the immunoprecipitation were performed using RIPA buffer (1% Triton X-100, 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) and 0.5% deoxycholate) with 0.5M NaCl. Immunoprecipitates were analyzed by SDS-PAGE followed by fluorography. The anti-RAR $\alpha$  immunoprecipitates were also analyzed by Western blot analysis for the presence of calreticulin as described previously (Leung Hagesteijn et al., 1994; Rojiani et al., 1991).

**Transfection and luciferase and**  $\beta$ -galactosidase assays. Expression vectors and reporter genes were introduced into P19 EC cell lines by calcium phosphate precipitation as described previously (Giguère et al., 1990). Five hundred nanograms of each expression vector, 2 µg reporter plasmid, 1.5 µg RSV $\beta$ gal, and carrier plasmid to a total of 10 µg were used per 6 cm diameter dish. The following day the cells were washed with PBS and the media (Dulbecco modified Eagle medium supplemented with 7.5% (vol/vol) fetal calf serum) with the indicated isomer and concentration of RA, was replaced. Twenty-four hours later, luciferase and  $\beta$ -galactosidase assays were performed as described elsewhere (Giguère et al., 1990). Northern Blots. Total cellular RNA (15  $\mu$ g) from the indicated P19 EC cell line derivatives was hybridized to <sup>32</sup>P-labeled mouse CRABPII cDNA (Giguère et al., 1990) or RAR $\beta$ 2 cDNA (Giguère et al., 1990) at 65°C using Rapid Hyb buffer (Amersham). After autoradiography, the filter was stripped and rehybridized with a mouse  $\beta$  actin cDNA probe to monitor for equal loading of RNA samples.

P19 EC cells derived subclones, RA-induced differentiation and immunofluorescence. P19 EC cell lines stably overexpressing (Cal-1) and underexpressing (Cal-2) calreticulin were described elsewhere (Dedhar et al., 1994). Cal-1 cells contain levels of calreticulin approximately five-fold greater than control cells, while Cal-2 cells express half the amount of calreticulin seen in control cells. Neuronal differentiation induced by atRA was performed as described (McBurney et al., 1988). Immunofluorescence was carried out on glass coverslips as described previously (Leung Hagesteijn et al., 1994). The cells were stained with a monoclonal antibody against class III  $\beta$  Tubulin (TuJ1; gift from Dr. Frankfurter).

Determination of intracellular free calcium concentration in P19 EC cells. The intracellular calcium concentration was determined by Fura-loading (Grymkiewiez et al., 1985), and fluorescence measurement utilizing a Hitachi F-2000 fluorescence spectrophotometer as described by Nasmith and Grinstein, 1987 (Nasmith and Grinstein, 1987). Equivalent numbers of P19 Neo, or P19 Cal.1(1A2 and 1D3) cells were plated onto glass coverslips and the intracellular calcium concentration was determined by utilizing the following equation:

$$[Ca^{2+}] = K_d ((F - F min)/(F max - F))$$

where [Ca2+] is in n*M*, the K<sub>d</sub> for Fura-2 is 224n*M*, F is the experimental fluorescence, F max is the maximum fluorescence after exposure to ionomycin  $(1\mu M)$  in 3 m*M* extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup>, and F min is the minimum fluorescence calculated as follows:

F min =1/3 (F max - F manganese)+F manganese

where F manganese if the fluorescence after quelching with 3 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>.

## Results

Calreticulin interferes with RAR/RXR heterodimer DNA-binding activity. We demonstrated previously that overexpression of calreticulin in P19 EC cells reduces the ability of atRA to induce the expression of a transiently transfected RAREdriven reporter construct and of the endogenous RA-responsive CRABP-II gene (Dedhar et al., 1994 and see Figure 6A). However, these studies did not investigate the molecular mechanism of calreticulin/retinoid receptor interactions nor determine whether both RARand RXR-specific pathways were modulated. Since both RARs and RXRs contain within their DNA binding domain a six amino acid sequence highly related to the conserved region in integrin  $\alpha$  subunits responsible for interacting with calreticulin (Fig. 1), we first investigated the ability of calreticulin to prevent heterodimeric RXR/RAR complexes from binding to DNA. In vitro synthesized RAR and RXR bind specifically as a heterodimer to the response element  $\beta$ RARE derived from the promoter of the RAR $\beta$  gene (Fig. 2A, lane 2). The RXR/RAR- $\beta$ RARE complexes can be efficiently competed by an excess of cold competitor (Fig. 2A, lane 3). Addition of increasing amounts of purified calreticulin, referred to as p60, resulted in a progressive reduction in the amount of RXR/RAR-BRARE complexes formed. With 200 ng of p60 present in the reaction (Fig. 2A, lane 7). heterodimeric RXR/RAR-BRARE complexes can no longer be detected. Evidence that retinoid receptors interact with calreticulin via the conserved seven amino acid region present in their respective DNA binding domain is provided by the observation that addition of an excess of the synthetic peptide KLGFFKR partially restored the ability of RXR/RAR complexes to bind to the  $\beta$ RARE (Fig. 2B, lane 6). Furthermore, when an antibody directed against calreticulin is included in the reaction, binding of heterodimeric RXR/RAR complexes to the  $\beta$ RARE is almost entirely restored (Fig. 2C, lanes 6 and 7), indicating that calreticulin and not some accompanying factor in the purified fraction is responsible for the binding interference.



Fig. 1. Schematic representation of the first zinc finger region of the RAR $\alpha$  DNA binding domain including the KGFF(K/R)R sequence at the base of the zinc finger to which calreticulin is proposed to bind. Listed below the RAR $\alpha$  zinc finger are the putative calreticulin-interacting sequences of several other nuclear receptors and the cytoplasmic domain of the integrin  $\alpha$  subunit.

Fig. 2. Analysis of the interaction of the RXR/RAR heterodimer with p60 (calreticulin) by EMSA. (A) Effect of the addition of increasing amounts of p60 on the RXR/RAR/ $\beta$ RARE complex. *In vitro* transcribed/translated RAR and RXR were incubated with 1 ng of <sup>32</sup>P labeled  $\beta$ RARE probe.  $\beta$ RARE (in A, B, and C) refers to unlabeled probe. Unprogrammed lysate was included as a negative control (A, B, and C, lane 1). (B) Addition of the peptide KLGFFKR partially restores binding of RXR/RAR to the  $\beta$ RARE probe (lane 6). (C) Regeneration of receptor/DNA binding by inclusion of an anti-calreticulin antibody.



**RXR homodimers interact with calreticulin.** Previous studies have demonstrated that, in the presence of 9cRA, RXR binds to its hormone response elements as a homodimer (Medin et al., 1994; Zhang et al., 1992). In addition, the putative six amino acid calreticulin interacting sequence in RXR differs from that of RAR and RXR's other heterodimeric partners (e.g. TR, VDR) by a single lysine (K) residue in place of the first arginine (R), that substitution in fact making it more similar to the calreticulin binding sequence in integrin  $\alpha$  subunits (Fig. 1). To determine whether the inhibitory effect of calreticulin on DNA binding could be observed with RXR homodimers, we performed EMSA analysis with RXR alone and a labeled RXRE in the presence or absence of 9cRA. As shown in Fig. 3, EMSA demonstrates that homodimeric RXR-RXRE complexes were observed in significant amount only in the presence of 9cRA and that these complexes are highly susceptible to DNA binding interference by p60. Addition of increasing amounts of purified calreticulin resulted in a sharp reduction in the amount of RXR-RXRE complexes formed. Homodimeric RXR-RXRE complexes could be observed only faintly when 50 ng of p60 was included in the reaction (Fig. 3A, lane 8), and were completely abolished when the amount of p60 was increased to 100 ng (Fig. 3A, lane 9). This increased susceptibility by approximately four-fold of RXR homodimeric complexes to interference in DNA binding by p60 as compared to RXR/RAR heterodimeric complexes could be due to either the intrinsic differences in the nature of the complexes or the presence of the ligand in the RXR binding experiments, which can induce conformational changes in the receptor (Allan et al., 1992). To investigate this possibility, we next examined the effect of the inclusion of ligand on the ability of calreticulin to interfere with RXR/RAR heterodimer binding to a RARE. RXR/RAR heterodimers are responsive to both atRA and 9cRA in transient transfection assays (Allenby et al., 1993 and see Fig. 5) and show a slight change in mobility in EMSA when bound to ligand (unpublished observations). However, liganded RXR/RAR complexes appear to interact with calreticulin similarly to unliganded receptors (Fig 3B). In the presence of atRA, 9cRA or both, interference profiles are virtually



Fig. 3. (A) Interaction of p60 (calreticulin) with RXR homodimers. In vitro transcribed/translated RXR was combined with 1 ng of <sup>32</sup>P labeled CRBPII-RXRE in the presence (lane 3, lanes 5-9) or absence (lane 4, lanes 10 to 14) of 10<sup>-6</sup>M 9cRA. Unprogrammed lysate and p60 alone (lanes 1 and 2 respectively) were included as negative controls. p60 was added to the reactions as indicated. (B) Presence of ligand does not alter the interference properties of p60. Reactions consisted of *in vitro* transcribed/translated RAR and RXR, 1 ng of <sup>32</sup>P labeled  $\beta$ RARE and the indicated ligand (at concentrations of 10<sup>-7</sup>M for atRA and 10<sup>-6</sup>M for 9cRA). As in (A), p60 was added as indicated, and unprogrammed lysate (lane 1) and p60 alone (lane 2) are included as negative controls.

identical to those of RXR/RAR alone, with binding nearly eliminated at 200 ng of p60 (Fig. 3B, lanes 6, 10, 14 and 18). This data suggests that the difference in the retinoid receptor complexes RXR/RAR and RXR/RXR to DNA binding interference by calreticulin may be due to intrinsic structural differences in their respective DNA binding domains and that the presence of bound ligand does not affect the molecular interaction between calreticulin and the retinoid receptors.

Direct calreticulin/RAR interactions. The ability of calreticulin to interfere with retinoid receptors binding to their hormone response elements, combined with the presence of the conserved six amino acid sequence known to bind calreticulin in affinity chromatography, strongly suggests that the retinoid receptors and calreticulin interact directly. Using cell lysate from <sup>35</sup>S-methionine in vivo-labeled P-19 EC cells, an antiRAR $\alpha$  antibody was shown to co-immunoprecipitate a protein of identical size to calreticulin (Fig. 4A). To corroborate this data, two distinct P19 EC cell clones were gently lysed and subjected to immunoprecipitation with an antiRAR $\alpha$  antibody. The immunoprecipitate was subjected to Western blot analysis using anti-calreticulin antibody and a band corresponding to calreticulin was consistently observed (Fig. 4B). Importantly, observation of this complex did not require the presence of protein crosslinking agents. No bands were observed when cell lysate immunoprecipitated with preimmune serum was analyzed by Western blot with anti-calreticulin antibody (data not shown). Further evidence supporting the strength of calreticulin/RAR interaction is the observation that in gel mobility shift assays, when RXR/RAR heterodimers are allowed to pre-associate with the BRARE probe, p60 (calreticulin) retains its ability to disrupt receptor/DNA complexes (data not shown).

Relative contribution of individual amino acids of the KXFF(K/R)R motif in binding to calreticulin. To discern which amino acids within the KXFF(K/R)R motif of the retinoid receptors were critical in the RXR/RAR interaction with p60 (calreticulin), synthetic peptides encoding the homologous motif from the  $\alpha$ -subunit of



Fig. 4. Direct interaction between RAR $\alpha$  and calreticulin. Coimmunoprecipitation of RAR $\alpha$  and calreticulin. (A) P19 EC cells were metabolically labeled with <sup>35</sup>S-methione/<sup>35</sup>S-cysteine for 24 hours in methionine-cysteine free medium. The cells were then washed with PBS and lysed in RIPA buffer. Immunoprecipitation was carried out with anti-RAR $\alpha$  antiserum or normal rabbit serum (ns) as described in Materials and Methods. The immunoprecipitates were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and the proteins detected by fluorography. RAR $\alpha$  immunoprecipitate contains a protein with similar molecular weight to calreticulin. (B) The RAR $\alpha$  immunoprecipitates described in (A) were analyzed by Western blot analysis (Leung Hagesteijn et al., 1994) for the presence of calreticulin with an anti-calreticulin antibody. RAR $\alpha$  immunoprecipitates from two different P19 clones contain calreticulin. Pre-immune serum immunoprecipitates do not contain calreticulin (data not shown).

integrins were included in EMSA binding reactions (Table 1). As shown in Fig. 2B lane 6, addition of the peptide KLGFFKR to a RXR/RAR/BRARE binding reaction containing p60 partially restores binding of the retinoid heterodimer to the RARE. A scrambled peptide (KLRFGFK) and peptides mutated in each position were added to similar binding reactions. Consequently, bound probe was quantitated using a Molecular Dynamics phosphoimager and calculated as a % of recovery of RXR/RAR binding (recovery of binding with the original KLGFFKR peptide was set at 100%). Average results from two experiments are shown in Table 1. Peptides mutated in any of the corresponding nuclear receptor positions fail to restore binding to an extent seen with the intact KLGFFKR peptide. Three of the mutations restore heterodimer binding to a lesser degree than the scrambled peptide; those having a mutation in either of the two phenylalanines or the final arginine of the motif. These three amino acids are absolutely conserved in each member of the nuclear hormone receptor family, as well as in integrin  $\alpha$ -subunit cytoplasmic domains (Dedhar et al., 1994). In contrast, the first lysine, which is also conserved in all of these proteins, allows restoration of close to half of the original binding when a peptide mutated in this position is added to the EMSA binding reaction (Table 1).

**Downregulation of RA response in transient transfections.** When calreticulin is transiently expressed in tissue culture systems, it has been shown to interfere with the glucocorticoid and androgen receptors' activation of a reporter gene linked to an appropriate receptor binding site (Burns et al., 1994; Dedhar et al., 1994). This concentration dependent downregulation of hormone-induced gene activation is also seen with retinoid receptors in transient transfection assays (Fig. 5). In P19 EC cells exposed to atRA, 9cRA or both ligands in combination, RXR/RAR heterodimer activation through the  $\beta$ RARE response element, as measured by activity of a linked luciferase reporter gene, decreases gradually to about half of its maximal value with 5 µg of transfected calreticulin expression plasmid, pCMXCAL (Fig. 5A). Strong activation of a RXRE-driven reporter gene is observed only in the presence of the ligand 9cRA and exogenously added RXR

# **TABLE 1**

Relative contribution of individual amino acids of the	
KXFF[K/R]R motif in binding to calreticulin	

Peptide	Recovery of RXR/RAR binding
KLGFFKR	100
KL <u>R</u> F <u>GFK</u>	34
<u>G</u> LGFFKR	45
KL <u>D</u> FFKR	63
KLG <u>R</u> FKR	24
KLGF <u>R</u> KR	20
KLGFF <u>G</u> R	42
KLGFFK <u>G</u>	22

Recovery of RXR/RAR binding is indicated as a %. Synthetic peptides were added to EMSA binding reactions in which RXR/RAR/RARE was incubated with p60 (which abolishes binding). The recovery of RXR/RAR binding to the RARE is set at 100 for the original peptide. Peptide sequence is derived from the region of the integrin  $\alpha$  subunit that interacts with calreticulin. Underlined sequences represent amino acids that are modified from the original peptide.

Fig. 5. Calreticulin dependent inhibition of RA induction. (A) Effect of increasing amounts of calreticulin on RAR/RXR heterodimer activation through the  $\beta$ RARE. P19 EC cells were transiently transfected with a TKLUC reporter with or without a single copy of the  $\beta$ RARE and increasing amounts of the calreticulin expression vector, pCMXCAL, as indicated. Cells were stimulated with atRA, 9cRA (both at 10<sup>-7</sup>*M*) or a combination of the two and cultured for a further 24 hours. Values for luciferase activity are normalized against  $\beta$ galactosidase activity. Control cells received no retinoid treatment. (B) Effect of increasing amounts of calreticulin on RXR homodimer activation through the CRBPII-RXRE. P19 EC cells were transfected with the indicated expression vectors and a TKLUC reporter with a single copy of the RXRE. Cells were treated with 9cRA and harvested after a further 24 hours. Luciferase values were determined as above.



expression vector (Fig. 5B). These conditions are presumably optimal for the formation of RXR homodimers. Upon binding to RXREs, the heterodimer RAR/RXR often has a repressive effect on gene expression (Mangelsdorf et al., 1991), as seen when no exogenous receptor is added, or when both RAR and RXR expression vectors are transfected into the cells. Thus the presumptive RXR homodimer binding and activation seen in transient transfections can also be reduced to half maximal value with 5  $\mu$ g of added calreticulin expression vector (Fig. 5B). In contrast to the complete elimination of receptor/DNA interaction seen in EMSA analysis, increasing the amount of calreticulin in transient transfection assays does not completely abolish RA induced activation.

ł

Overexpression of calreticulin decreases endogenous RA-responsive gene activation. In response to RA treatment, P19 EC cells will differentiate to a neuronal cell fate (McBurney et al., 1988). We have previously shown that overexpression or a decrease in expression of calreticulin in stably transfected P19 EC cells affects both the normal expression pattern of the RA regulated gene CRABPII (Fig. 6A) and the expression of a specific marker further downstream in the neuronal differentiation pathway (Dedhar et al., 1994). In a cell line stably overexpressing calreticulin (Cal-1), the expression of the CRABPII gene is less than half of the level observed in the parental cell line 24 hours after treatment, while in a cell line expressing antisense calreticulin (Cal-2), the amount of CRABPII transcript is approximately doubled at that same time point as compared to the parental P19 EC line (Fig. 6A). To examine how RA regulated gene expression was affected at earlier time points, the expression of the rapidly RA-induced RAR<sup>β</sup>2 gene was examined by Northern blot analysis. The level of RAR<sup>β2</sup> transcript in the cell line overexpressing calreticulin is substantially decreased relative to a control cell line at 3 hours after atRA treatment (Fig. 6B) and does not increase significantly even after 6 hours of atRA treatment. In the calreticulin underexpressing Cal-2 cell line, the level of RAR<sup>β2</sup> transcript at 6 hours of atRA treatment is higher than that seen in control Neo cells. At the

Fig. 6. Northern blot of the (A) RA responsive CRABPII or (B) early RA-responsive RARβ transcript in stably transfected P19 EC cell lines. Total RNA was isolated from control P19 EC cells (Neo), calreticulin overexpressing cells (Cal.1(1D3)), or calreticulin underexpressing cells (Cal.2(5B4)) at the indicated time points after RA treatment. Cal.1(1D3) cells express approximately five-fold greater levels of calreticulin than control cells, while Cal.2(5B4) cells contain half the amount of calreticulin relative to control cells (see Materials and Methods). A <sup>32</sup>P labeled mouse actin probe served as a control to check for equal loading of RNA in all lanes.



A



76

later timepoint of 24 hours after RA treatment, the amount of RAR $\beta$ 2 mRNA is more than double that of the control cell line.

Block of differentiation in P19 EC cells stably expressing calreticulin. Results of the effect of calreticulin on RA-induced gene expression in transient transfection and stably transfected cell lines suggest that levels of calreticulin may play a crucial role in the ability of these cells to effectively differentiate in response to retinoids. A specific and early marker of neuronal differentiation, class III  $\beta$  tubulin, is downregulated in Cal-1 cells relative to control cells while its expression is increased in Cal-2 cell lines (Dedhar et al., 1994). Immunofluorescence studies support the proposal that levels of calreticulin present in the cell can play an important role in the ability of the cell to differentiate in response to atRA treatment. Prior to atRA treatment, while undergoing cellular proliferation, the various stably transfected cell lines, Neo (control), Cal-1 (overexpressing), and Cal-2 (underexpressing) appear similar and have a characteristic EC cell morphology (Fig.7A, C and E). Six days after atRA treatment a number of the Neo control P19 EC cells have adopted a cell shape characteristic of neuronal differentiation (Fig. 7B). In contrast, Cal-1 cell lines maintain their EC cell morphology (Fig. 7D). A cell line expressing antisense calreticulin (Cal-2) differentiates at a more rapid rate than the Neo control cells, and all cells have a neuron-like appearance six days after atRA treatment (Fig. 7F).

Overexpression of calreticulin does not alter free intracellular calcium concentration. Calreticulin is a calcium binding protein, and therefore overexpression of this protein could result in changes in the intracellular calcium concentrations which in turn could contribute to the observed changes in gene expression and neuronal differentiation. However, the measurement of intracellular calcium concentration in the P-19 EC Neo as well as in the calreticulin overexpressing P19 EC Cal-1 clones demonstrated that the intracellular calcium concentrations in all cell lines were essentially equivalent, as shown in Table 2. Physiological activators typically increase intracellular calcium concentration by 300 to 400 nM (Nasmith and Grinstein, 1987). Therefore, the overexpression of calreticulin did not result in significant changes in intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration.

Fig. 7. Inhibition of neuronal differentiation of P19 EC cells by calreticulin. Cells were stained with anti-class III  $\beta$  tubulin antibody (TuJi) followed by FITC conjugated secondary antibody as described in Material and Methods. A and B: P19 (neo) EC cells; C and D: P19 -Cal-1 EC cells; E and F: P19 Cal-2 EC cells. A, C and E; untreated cells. B, D and F: 6 days atRA (0.5  $\mu$ M) treated cells. The cells were visualized using a Zeiss Axioscop microscope under oil immersion and photographed with Kodak T-Max 400 film. Magnification 100X.

Neo











60



U\_\_\_\_

0



w

# **TABLE 2**

Intracellular [Ca <sup>2+</sup> ] in P19 cells		
Cell line	Intracellular [Ca <sup>2+</sup> ] (nM)	
Neo	115.9	
Cal.1(1A2)	162.3	
Cal.1(1D3)	137.2	

### Discussion

A large body of evidence supports and elucidates the existence of two distinct cellular RA response systems in which heterodimeric RXR/RAR regulates expression of downstream RARE-containing genes and RXR functions as a 9c RA-induced homodimer (for review, see Giguère, 1994). The present experiments demonstrate that calreticulin can function as a potent negative regulator of both atRA and 9cRA signaling pathways. Repression of RAR and RXR function appears to be achieved by a simple mechanism that involves direct calreticulin interaction with a conserved region in the DNA-binding domain of the receptors and consequent inhibition of their DNA binding properties. This extends the previous observations that calreticulin can also inhibit androgen, glucocorticoid, vitamin D<sub>3</sub> and peroxisome proliferator receptors DNA-binding activities (Burns et al., 1994; Dedhar et al., 1994; St-Arnaud et al., 1995; Wheeler et al., 1995; Winrow et al., 1995). Data presented in this study further suggests that calreticulin may have a differential or graded ability to interact with distinct members of the steroid/thyroid/retinoid receptor superfamily. Addition of increasing amounts of purified calreticulin inhibited binding of both heterodimeric RXR/RAR and homodimeric RXR complexes to their target RARE and RXRE, however, we observed a more rapid decline in DNA-binding activity of the RXR homodimer complex (Fig. 3). Thus, the data reported here suggest that the two retinoid response pathways may differ in their sensitivity to varying levels of calreticulin.

Studies have suggested that the complexing of ligand with the receptors results in conformational modification of receptors (Allan et al., 1992; Keidel et al., 1994). Changes in receptor conformation might result in an altered ability of the receptors to interact with modulator proteins such as calreticulin. However, ligand-induced conformational changes appear to center on the carboxyl terminus of the receptor (Allan et al., 1992; Keidel et al., 1992; Keidel et al., 1994). DNA binding domain/DNA interaction, e.g. when the receptors are complexed with DNA, neither hinder or alter the conformational changes that take place upon addition of ligand (Keidel et al., 1994). We have shown that the differential ability of calreticulin to

inhibit DNA-binding of RXR/RAR and RXR/RXR complexes is not dependent on ligand/receptor interaction (Fig. 3) and may therefore be related to the difference in primary amino acid sequences between RAR and RXR in the conserved seven amino acid region that serves as the calreticulin anchoring domain (see Fig.1) or neighboring subdomains. Alternatively, differential utilization of dimerization determinants by RXR in homo- and heterodimeric complexes (Lee et al., 1993; Mangelsdorf and Evans, 1995; Zechel et al., 1994; Zechel et al., 1994) may play a role in regulating calreticulin accessibility to the six amino acid protein:protein interface present at the base of the first zinc finger of the retinoid receptors (Fig. 1).

Our *in vitro* data argue that RAR and RXR activities may be repressed by direct association with calreticulin. Firstly, calreticulin does not bind to retinoid receptor binding sites (Fig. 3A and B, lane 2) and significantly, it was possible to use RAR $\alpha$ -specific antibodies to immunoprecipitate cellular calreticulin (Fig. 4). These *in vitro* results do not rule out the possibility that additional accessory factors are required for stable interaction between calreticulin and retinoid receptors. However, chemical crosslinking reagents were not required for the immunoprecipitation of a RAR/calreticulin complex which suggests that this direct interaction is relatively strong.

P19 EC cells are a clonal line of mouse embryonal carcinoma cells which when treated with atRA are prompted to develop along a neuronal differentiation pathway (Jones-Villeneuve et al., 1982). The overexpression of calreticulin did not completely inhibit RA activation in the transient transfections but did result in a complete inhibition of differentiation in P19 EC cells toward the neuronal phenotype (Fig. 7). Likewise, the RAinduced endogenous class III  $\beta$  tubulin expression is delayed but not completely inhibited (Dedhar et al., 1994). The expression of other genes required for neurite outgrowth may therefore be specifically inhibited by calreticulin overexpression. In this regard the ECM receptors, integrins, play a significant role in the elaboration of neurites (Tomaselli et al., 1987), and the expression of  $\alpha_v$  integrins is profoundly enhanced in RA treated P19 EC cells (Dedhar et al., 1991). It will be interesting to determine whether calreticulin overexpression results in a complete inhibition of RA induced  $\alpha_v\beta_1$  and  $\alpha_v\beta_3$  expression, since the  $\beta_3$  integrin promoter has recently been demonstrated to have RAREs and a vitamin D response element (VDRE) (Cao et al., 1993; Mimura et al., 1994). Inability of EC cells to differentiate upon atRA treatment has been observed when dominant negative forms of RAR or RXR are expressed in these cells (Espeseth et al., 1989; Minucci et al., 1994; Pratt et al., 1990). However, calreticulin is the first nonreceptor molecule that when inappropriately expressed in EC cells, has a similar ability to inhibit atRA-induced P19 EC cell neuronal differentiation. Taken together, these results suggest that calreticulin may provide a useful tool to dissect molecular events implicated in atRA-induced neuronal differentiation.

# Acknowledgments

We thank Tony Antalky for anti-RAR $\alpha$  antibodies, Marek Michalak for anti-calreticulin antibodies, David Mangelsdorf for the mouse RXR $\beta$  cDNA, Richard Sontheimer for the human calreticulin cDNA and Kosta Milankov for assistance with immunofluorescence. We would like to thank Greg Downey and Tom Waddel for their assistance in the measurement of intracellular calcium concentrations. This research was supported by grants from the National Cancer Institute of Canada and the Medical Research Council (MRC) of Canada. V.G. is a MRC Scholar, M.S. is supported by a MRC Studentship and S.D. is a career scientist of the Ontario Cancer Treatment and Research Foundation.

### References

Allan, G. F., Leng, X., Tsai, S. Y., Weigel, N. L., Edwards, D. P., Tsai, M.-J., and O'Malley, B. W. (1992). Hormone and antihormone induce distinct conformational changes which are central to steroid receptor activation. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 19513-19520.

Allenby, G., Bocquel, M.-T., Saunders, M., Kazmer, S., Speck, J., Rosenberger, M., Lovey, A., Kastner, P., Grippo, J. F., Chambon, P., and Levin, A. A. (1993). Retinoic acid receptors and retinoid X receptors: interactions with endogenous retinoic acids. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90, 30-34.

Bugge, T. H., Pohl, J., Lonnoy, O., and Stunnenberg, H. G. (1992). RXR $\alpha$ , a promiscuous partner of retinoic acid and thyroid hormone receptors. EMBO J. 11, 1409-1418.

Burns, K., Duggan, B., Atkinson, E. A., Famulski, K. S., Nemer, M., Bleackley, R. C., and Michalak, M. (1994). Modulation of gene expression by calreticulin binding to the glucocorticoid receptor. Nature *367*, 476-480.

Cao, X., Ross, F. P., Zhang, L., MacKonald, P. N., Chappel, J., and Teitelbaum, S. L. (1993). Cloning of the promoter for the avian integrin  $\beta_3$  subunit gene and its regulation by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub>. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 27371-27380.

de Thé, H., del Mar Vivanco-Ruiz, M., Tiollais, P., Stunneberg, H., and Dejean, A. (1990). Identification of a retinoic acid responsive element in the retinoic acid receptor  $\beta$  gene. Nature 343, 177-180.

Dedhar, S., Rennie, P. S., Shago, M., Leung Hagesteijn, C.-Y., Yang, H., Filmus, J., Hawley, R. G., Bruchovsky, N., Cheng, H., Matusik, R. J., and Giguère, V. (1994). Inhibition of nuclear hormone receptor activity by calreticulin. Nature 367, 480-483.

Dedhar, S., Robertson, K., and Gray, V. (1991). Induction of expression of the  $\alpha_{v}\beta 1$  and  $\alpha_{v}\beta 3$  integrin heterodimers during retinoic acid-induced neuronal differentiation of murine embryonal carcinoma cells. J. Biol. Chem. 266, 21846-21852.

Espeseth, A. S., Murphy, S. P., and Linney, E. (1989). Retinoic acid receptor expression vector inhibits differentiation of F9 embryonal carcinoma cells. Genes Dev. 3, 1647-1656.

Evans, R. M. (1988). The steroid and thyroid hormone receptor superfamily. Science 240, 889-895.

Gersten, D. M., Williams, L. J., Moody, D., Montague, P. M., Law, L. W., and Hearing, J. V. (1989). The intracellular association of B700 and B50 murine melanoma antigens and their role in tumor rejection. Int. J. Cancer 4, 497-500.

Giguère, V. (1994). Retinoic acid receptors and cellular retinoid binding proteins: complex interplay in retinoid signaling. Endocr. Rev. 15, 61-79.

Giguère, V., Lyn, S., Yip, P., Siu, C. H., and Amin, S. (1990). Molecular cloning of a cDNA encoding a second cellular retinoic acid-binding protein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87, 6233-6237.

Giguère, V., Ong, S. E., Segui, P., and Evans, R. M. (1987). Identification of a receptor for the morphogen retinoic acid. Nature 330, 624-629.

Giguère, V., Shago, M., Zirngibl, R., Tate, P., Rossant, J., and Varmuza, S. (1990). Identification of a novel isoform of the retinoic acid receptor  $\gamma$  expressed in the mouse embryo. Mol. Cell. Biol. 10, 2335-2340.

Grymkiewiez, G., Poenie, M., and Tsien, R. Y. (1985). A new generation of  $Ca^{2+}$  indicators with greatly improved fluorescence properties. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 3440-3450.

Hynes, R. O. (1992). Integrins: versatility, modulation, and signaling in cell adhesion. Cell 69, 11-25.

Jones-Villeneuve, E. M. V., McBurney, M., Rogers, K. A., and Kalnins, V. I. J. (1982). Retinoic acid induces embryonal carcinoma cells to differentiate into neurons and glia cells. J. Cell Biol. 94, 253-262. Keidel, S., LeMotte, P., and Apfel, C. (1994). Different agonist- and antagonist-induced conformational changes in retinoic acid receptors analyzed by protease mapping. Mol. Cell. Biol. 14, 287-298.

Kliewer, S. A., Umesono, K., Mangelsdorf, D. J., and Evans, R. M. (1992). Retinoid X receptor interacts with nuclear receptors in retinoic acid, thyroid hormone and vitamin D3 signalling. Nature 335, 446-449.

Lee, M. S., Kliewer, S. A., Provençal, J., Wright, P. E., and Evans, R. M. (1993). Solution structure of the RXR  $\alpha$  DNA-binding domain: a helix required for homodimeric DNA binding. Science 260, 1117-1121.

Leid, M., Kastner, P., Lyons, R., Nakshari, H., Saunders, M., Zacharewski, T., Chen, J.-Y., Staub, A., Garnier, J.-M., Mader, S., and Chambon, P. (1992). Purification, cloning, and RXR identity of the HeLa cell factor with which RAR or TR heterodimerizes to bind target sequences efficiently. Cell 68, 377-395.

Leung Hagesteijn, C.-Y., Milankov, K., Michalak, M., Wilkins, J., and Dedhar, S. (1994). Cell attachment to extracellular matrix substrates is inhibited upon down regulation of calreticulin, an intracellular integrin  $\alpha$  subunit binding protein. J. Cell Sci. 107, 589-600.

Mangelsdorf, D. J., Borgmeyer, U., Heyman, R. A., Zhou, J. Y., Ong, E. S., Oro, A. E., Kakizuka, A., and Evans, R. M. (1992). Characterization of three RXR genes that mediate the action of 9-cis retinoic acid. Genes Dev. 6, 329-344.

Mangelsdorf, D. J., and Evans, R. M. (1995). The RXR heterodimers and orphan receptors. Cell 83, 841-850.

Mangelsdorf, D. J., Ong, E. S., Dyck, J. A., and Evans, R. M. (1990). Nuclear receptor that identifies a novel retinoic acid response pathway. Nature 345, 224-229.

Mangelsdorf, D. J., Umesono, K., Kliewer, S. A., Borgmeyer, U., Ong, E. S., and Evans, R. M. (1991). A direct repeat in the cellular retinol binding protein type II gene confers differential regulation by RXR and RAR. Cell *66*, 555-561.

Marks, M. S., Hallenbeck, P. L., Nagata, T., Segars, J. H., Appella, E., Nikodem, V. M., and Ozato, K. (1992). H-2RIIBP (RXR $\beta$ ) heterodimerization provides a mechanism for combinatorial diversity in the regulation of retinoic acid and thyroid hormone responsive genes. EMBO J. 11, 1419-1435.

McBurney, M. W., Reuhl, K. R., Ally, A. I., Nasipuri, S., Bell, J. C., and Craig, J. (1988). Differentiation and maturation of embryonal carcinoma-derived neurons in cell culture. J. Neurosci. 8, 1063-1073.

McCauliffe, D. P., Zappi, E., Lieu, T.-S., Michalak, M., Sontheimer, R. D., and Capra, J. D. (1990). A human Ro/SS-A autoantigen is the homologue of calreticulin and is highly homologous with onchocercal RAL-1 and an aplysia "memory molecule". J. Clin. Invest. 86, 332-335.

Medin, J. A., Minucci, S., Driggers, P. H., Lee, I. J., and Ozato, K. (1994). Quantitative increases in DNA binding affinity and positional effects determine 9-cis retinoic acid induced activation of the retinoid X receptor  $\beta$  homodimer. Mol. Cell. Endo. 105, 27-35.

Michalak, M., Baksh, S., and Opas, M. (1991). Idenfication and immunolocalization of calreticulin in pancreatic cells: no evidence for "calciosomes". Exp. Cell Res. 179, 91-99.

Michalak, M., Milner, R. E., Burns, K., and Opas, M. (1992). Calreticulin. Biochem. J. 285, 681-692.

Mimura, H., Cao, X., Ross, F. P., Chiba, M., and Teitelbaum, S. L. (1994). 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 transcriptionally activates the  $\beta$ 3-integrin subunit gene in avian osteoclast precursors. Endocrinology 134, 1061-1066.

Minucci, S., Zand, D. J., Dey, A., Marks, M. S., Nagata, T., Grippo, J. F., and Ozato, K. (1994). Dominant negative retinoid X receptor  $\beta$  inhibits retinoic acid-responsive gene regulation in embryonal carcinoma cells. Mol. Cell. Biol. 14, 360-372.

Nasmith, P. D., and Grinstein, S. (1987). Phorbol ester-induced changes in cytoplasmic  $Ca^{2+}$  in human neutrophils. Involvement of a perstussus toxin sensitive G protein. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 13558-13566.

Opas, M., Dzuak, E., Fliegel, L., and Michalak, M. (1991). Regulation of expression and intracellular distribution of calreticulin, a major calcium binding protein of nonmuscle cells. J. Cell. Physiol. *149*, 160-171.

Pratt, M. A. C., Kralova, J., and McBurney, M. W. (1990). A dominant negative mutation of the alpha retinoic acid receptor gene in a retinoic acid-nonresponsive embryonal carcinoma cell. Mol. Cell. Biol. 10, 6445-6453.

Rojiani, M. V., Finlay, B. B., Gray, V., and Dedhar, S. (1991). In vitro interaction of a polypeptide homologous to human Ro/SS-A antigen (calreticulin) with a highly conserved amino acid sequence in the cytoplasmic domain of integrin  $\alpha$  subunits. Biochemistry 30, 9859-9866.

Simon, M. I., Strathmann, M. P., and Gautam, N. (1991). Diversity of G proteins in signal transduction. Science 252, 802-808.

Sporn, M. B., Roberts, A. B., and Goodman, D. S. (1994). The Retinoids (New York: Raven Press).

St-Arnaud, R., Prudhomme, J., Leung-Hagesteijn, C., and Dedhar, S. (1995). Constitutive expression of calreticulin in osteoblasts inhibits mineralization. J. Cell Biol. 131, 1351-1359.

Sucov, H. M., Murakami, K. K., and Evans, R. M. (1990). Characterization of an autoregulated response element in the mouse retinoic acid receptor type  $\beta$  gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87, 5392-5396.

Tomaselli, K. J., Dansky, C. H., and Reichardt, L. F. (1987). Interactions of a neuronal cell line (PC12) with laminin, colagen IV, and fibronectin: identification of integrin-related glycoproteins involved in attachement and process outgrowth. J. Cell Biol. 105, 2347-2358.

Ullrich, A., and Schlessinger, J. (1990). Signal transduction by receptors with tyrosine kinase activity. Cell 61, 203-212.

Umesono, K., Murakami, K. K., Thompson, C. C., and Evans, R. M. (1991). Direct repeats as selective response elements for the thyroid hormone, retinoic acid, and vitamin D3 receptors. Cell 65, 1255-1266.

Wheeler, D. G., Horsford, J., Michalak, M., White, J. H., and Hendy, G. N. (1995). Calreticulin inhibits vitamin D-3 signal transduction. Nucleic Acids Res. 23, 3268-3274.

Winrow, C. J., Miyata, K. S., Marcus, S. L., Burns, K., Michalak, M., Capone, J. P., and Rachubinski, R. A. (1995). Calreticulin modulates the in vitro DNA binding but not the in vivo transcriptional activation by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor/retinoid X receptor heterodimers. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 111, 175-9.

Yu, V. C., Delsert, C., Andersen, B., Holloway, J. M., Devary, O. V., Näär, A. M., Kim, S. Y., Boutin, J. M., Glass, C. K., and Rosenfeld, M. G. (1991). RXR $\beta$ : a coregulator that enhances binding of retinoic acid, thyroid hormone, and vitamin D receptors to their cognate response elements. Cell 67, 1251-1266.

Zechel, C., Shen, X.-Q., Chambon, P., and Gronemeyer, H. (1994). Dimerization interfaces formed between the DNA binding domains determine the cooperative binding of RXR/RAR and RXR/TR heterodimers to DR5 and DR4 elements. EMBO J. 13, 1414-1424.

Zechel, C., Shen, X.-Q., Chen, J.-Y., Chen, Z.-P., Chambon, P., and Gronemeyer, H. (1994). The dimerization interfaces formed between the DNA binding domains of RXR, RAR and TR determine the binding specificity and polarity of the full-length receptors to direct repeats. EMBO J. 13, 1425-1433.

Zhang, X.-K., Hoffmann, B., Tran, P. B.-V., Graupner, G., and Pfahl, M. (1992). Retinoid X receptor is an auxiliary protein for thyroid hormone and retinoic acid receptors. Nature 335, 441-446.

Zhang, X.-K., Lehmann, J., Hoffmann, B., Dawson, M. i., Cameron, J., Graupner, G., Hermann, T., Tran, P., and Pfahl, M. (1992). Homodimer formation of retinoid X receptor induced by 9-cis retinoic acid. Nature 358, 587-591.
### **Chapter 3**

## Isolation of a Novel Retinoic Acid-Responsive Gene by Selection of Genomic Fragments Derived from CpG-Island-Enriched DNA

This chapter is a modified version of the following manuscript: Isolation of a novel retinoic acid-responsive gene by selection of genomic fragments derived from CpG-island-enriched DNA. 1996. Shago, M. and Giguère, V. Mol. Cell. Biol. 16: 4337-4348.

One of the primary goals in transcription factor research is the elucidation of the genetic networks controlled by a factor or by members of a family of closely related factors. The pleiotropic effects of retinoic acid (RA) in the developing and adult animal are mediated by ligand-inducible transcription factors (RA receptors [RARs] and retinoid X receptors [RXRs]) that belong to the superfamily of nuclear receptors. Regulatory regions of RA effector genes contain RAR and RXR binding sites (RAR elements [RAREs] and RXR elements [RXREs]) that generally consist of direct or everted repeats of the core half-site motif (A/G)G(G/T)TCA. In order to identify novel genes regulated by RA, we devised a selection strategy based on the premise that regulatory regions of a large number of housekeeping and tissue-specific genes are embodied within CpG island DNA. In this method, referred to as CpG-selected and amplified binding, fragments derived from the CpG island fraction of the murine genome are selected by a gel mobility shift assay using in vitro transcribed and -translated RXR/RAR. Multiple rounds of selection coupled with amplification of the fragments by PCR enabled us to clone a population of CG-rich fragments of which approximately one-fifth contained consensus RAREs or RXREs. Twelve genomic fragments containing novel response elements are described, and the transcription unit associated with one of them, NN8-4AG, was characterized in detail. The mouse NN8-4AG transcript is upregulated by RA in F9 embryonal carcinoma cells and is homologous to an expressed sequence tag (EST41159) derived from a human infant brain cDNA library. Cloning of the murine NN8-4AG genomic sequence places the RXRE in the proximity of the transcription initiation sites of the gene. Although sequence analysis indicates that the EST41159 gene product is novel, a region of amino acid identity with sequences of a yeast polypeptide of, as yet, unknown function and the Drosophila trithorax protein suggest the presence of an evolutionarily and functionally conserved domain. Our study demonstrates that transcription factor binding sites and corresponding regulated genes can be identified by selecting fragments derived from the CpG island fraction of the genome.

#### INTRODUCTION

Vitamin A (retinol) and its derivatives are essential for embryonic development, growth, and reproduction of vertebrates, and for the regulation of the proliferation and differentiation of many cell types in the adult animal. (Sporn et al., 1994). The ability of the active retinol derivatives all-trans retinoic acid (atRA) and 9-cis RA (9cRA) to mediate these biological effects can be attributed to the regulation of specific target genes. Both atRA and 9cRA interact in the nucleus with ligand-inducible transcription factors that belong to the superfamily of steroid/thyroid/retinoid receptors. Two classes of retinoid receptors have been defined: the RA receptors (RAR $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ ) which bind both atRA and 9cRA, and the retinoid X receptors (RXR $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ ), which are capable of binding only 9cRA with high affinity (reviewed in Chambon, 1994; Giguère, 1994; Mangelsdorf et al., 1994). RARs and RXRs recognize short DNA elements that are present in the regulatory regions of responsive genes, termed retinoic acid response elements (RAREs) and retinoid X response elements (RXREs). These elements generally consist of direct repeats of the core consensus hexamer (A/G)G(T/G)TCA (for review see Giguère, 1994). Other sequences able to function as RAREs consist of inverted and everted repeats of the core hexamer motif as well as complex elements composed of multiple core motifs arranged in direct, inverted, or everted configurations with spacings of various lengths (Richard and Zingg, 1991; Tini et al., 1993; Umesono et al., 1988; Vasios et al., 1991).

Despite extensive knowledge of RA action at the molecular level, relatively few RA target genes have been identified (for reviews see Giguère, 1994; Gudas et al., 1994). In addition to the characterization of known genes previously shown to be regulated by RA, differential and/or subtractive hybridization strategies have been used to isolate cDNAs derived from differentially expressed mRNAs of unknown genes from untreated versus RA-treated cells (Bouillet et al., 1995; Gudas et al., 1994). The major drawbacks of this method are that only a fraction of the cloned genes will be direct targets of the retinoid

receptors and that a time- and effort-consuming step is required to identify the RAREs and RXREs associated with the transcriptional units encoding the regulated mRNAs. An alternative strategy would be to isolate RAREs and RXREs present in vertebrate genomes first and then to characterize the genes associated with these elements. However, the observation that retinoid receptor binding sites are relatively short and sometimes degenerate means that putative RAREs and RXREs are scattered throughout the genome, both in regions that play a role in transcription and in transcriptionally inert regions. In addition, to be biologically relevant, the search for retinoid receptor binding sites should concentrate not only on DNA fragments located in the regulatory region of genes but also on transcription units actively transcribed in the tissue or cells of interest. One approach directed towards the isolation of *in vivo* target genes is the immunoprecipitation of chromatin fragments with transcription factor-specific antibody (Gould et al., 1990). This approach has been used to isolate genomic targets of the thyroid hormone receptors (Bigler and Eisenman, 1994; Bigler and Eisenman, 1995).

In an effort to isolate RA target genes, we have developed a novel selection strategy that takes advantage of a unique and striking feature of the vertebrate genome: the presence of CpG islands. CpG islands are G+C rich regions that, unlike the majority of vertebrate genomic DNAs (bulk chromatin), do not show a reduced frequency of CpG dinucleotides and are not methylated at the C of these dinucleotides (Antequera and Bird, 1993; Bird, 1987). These regions are located in or near the promoter regions of genes and often include the first exon of the gene (Antequera and Bird, 1993; Bird, 1987). Moreover, Tazi and Bird (Tazi and Bird, 1990) have shown that nonnucleosomal (NN) DNA, a fraction of the genome associated with transcribed genes, is predominantly derived from the CpG island fraction of the genome. These NN fragments can be isolated away from bulk chromatin using restriction enzymes containing CpG within their recognition sequences (Tazi and Bird, 1990). Taken together, these observations suggest that CpG-island-derived NN fragments could provide an excellent source of genetic

material to scan for biologically relevant binding sites for retinoid receptors or any other transcription factors.

Using CpG-island-enriched DNA derived from nuclei of murine embryonal carcinoma (EC) cells as starting material, we utilized a combination of polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification and gel mobility shift assays to select NN fragments that contain RAREs and RXREs. By analyzing the genomic DNA flanking each RARE, associated transcribed regions can be identified. As this isolation method is a modification of selected and amplified binding (SAAB) (Blackwell and Weintraub, 1990), we have termed this method CpG-SAAB. In this chapter I describe CpG-SAAB, the functional characterization of twelve genomic fragments containing RAREs and RXREs, and the identification of a novel RA responsive gene associated with one of the RXRE-containing fragments. Our study demonstrates that transcription factor binding sites and corresponding regulated genes can be identified by selecting from fragments derived from the CpG island fraction of the genome.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

Nuclei isolation and chromatin digestion. Nuclei were prepared as described by Dony et al. (Dony et al., 1985) and Tazi and Bird (Tazi and Bird, 1990), with some modifications. Five 100-mm-diameter confluent plates of F9 EC cells were trypsinized, pelleted, and washed with cold phosphate-buffered saline. To gently lyse the cells, 7.5 ml of cold 0.025% Nonidet P-40 (NP40) lysis buffer was added (10 mM triethanolamine, 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10 mM KCl, 1 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), and 0.025% NP40) and pipetted up and down 15 times. After centrifugation at 200 x g for 4 min, the pellet was resuspended in 0.025% NP40 lysis buffer, layered on a 0.8M sucrose cushion dissolved in lysis buffer then pelleted again at 200 x g for 8 min. Nuclei were resuspended gently in 500 µl of storage buffer containing 75 mM KCl, 0.25 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM (ethylene glycol-bis(β-aminoethyl ether)-N, N, N' N' -tetraacetic acid (EGTA), 0.15 mM spermine, 0.5 mM spermidine, 20 mM N-2-hydroxyethylpiperazine-N' 2-ethanesulfonic acid (HEPES) (pH7.9), 10 mM-βmercaptoethanol, 0.23 M sucrose, and 20% glycerol. An average of 4 x 10<sup>7</sup> nuclei were obtained from five plates of F9 cells. Nuclei were stored at -70°C. As described by Tazi and Bird (Tazi and Bird, 1990), 500 µl aliquots of nuclei were thawed, pelleted for 10 seconds, and gently resuspended in 1X digestion buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>) and 400 U (each) of MspI and HinPI in a total volume of 1 ml for 30 min. Digestion was followed by proteinase K treatment. Subsequent to phenol-chloroform extraction and ethanol precipitation, DNA was dissolved in 400 µl Tris-EDTA (TE).

Isolation and PCR amplification of NN fragments. Fragments for PCR amplification and gel mobility shift selection were prepared by running 10 to 30  $\mu$ l of the chromatin digest on a 1.5% low melt agarose gel (Seakem). Fragments migrating to between 75 and 140 bp were endfilled with the Klenow fragment of DNA polymerase and the nucleotides dCTP and dGTP, phenol-chloroform extracted, ethanol precipitated and resuspended in 10  $\mu$ l TE. The fragments were then ligated overnight at 16°C to 'catch

linkers' (catch A [5'-GAGTAGAATTCTAATATCTC-3'] and its compliment, catch B) by following a procedure outlined by Kinzler and Vogelstein (Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1989). Overdigestion with *XhoI* in a total volume of 500 µl cuts between annealed linkers and results in NN fragments with a single catch linker on either end. The digest was passed through a Qiagen tip 5 column and ethanol precipitated, and fragments of the appropriate size were reisolated from a 1.5% low melt agarose gel. The resulting NN fragments, which were quantitated by ethidium bromide agarose plate quantitation, were resuspended in 10  $\mu$ l TE, typically resulting in a concentration of 2 to 5 ng per  $\mu$ l. To amplify and radiolabel the NN fragments for gel mobility shift selection, the catch A oligonucleotide was endlabeled with  $[\gamma^{-32}P]ATP$  and polynucleotide kinase (New England Biolabs). PCR reaction mixtures consisted of 15 ng NN/catch linked fragments, 250 ng (each) of labeled catch A and unlabeled catch B oligonucleotides. PCR buffer. MgCl<sub>2</sub> and Taq polymerase (according to Perkin Elmer Cetus instructions). Fifteen cycles of denaturation for 1 min 94°C, annealing for 2 min at 50°C, and extension for 2 min at 72°C, with a 4 min denaturation at 94°C prior to the first cycle, were performed. Fragments with the appropriate sizes (115-190 bp) were then isolated on a 1.5% low melt agarose gel, resuspended in 10 µl water, and stored at -20°C.

I

Gel mobility shift assays. Gel mobility shift assays were performed using *in vitro*transcribed and -translated RAR and RXR. The proteins were synthesized in rabbit reticulocyte lysate (RRL) by using the TNT-T7 kit (Promega, Madison, Wis.). Typically,  $2 \mu$ l of each RAR- and RXR-programmed RRL was combined with binding buffer (5 mM Tris-HCl [pH 8.0], 40 mM KCl, 6% glycerol, 1 mM DTT and 0.05% NP40), 2 µg of poly(dI-dC) (Pharmacia), 0.1 µg denatured salmon sperm DNA and 10 µg of bovine serum albumin in a total volume of 20 µl, and the mixture was put on ice for 10 min. One microliter of labeled NN fragments was added, and the reaction mixture was loaded on a 3.5 to 4% nondenaturing polyacrylamide gel and run at 150 V for 2 h. The gel was dried and exposed with an intensifying screen a few hours to overnight. Control binding reactions with a known RARE ( $\beta$  RARE: 5'-AGCTTGAAGGGTTCACCGAAAGTTC-ACTCGCA-3' & 5'-AGCTTGCGAGTGAACTTTCGGTGAACCCTTCA-3') were run alongside to provide a marker for protein/DNA complex migration. A section of the dried gel corresponding to the migration point of bound NN fragments was cut out, minced with a razor blade, and eluted with shaking overnight at 37°C in 600 µl of elution buffer (0.5 *M* ammonium acetate, 1 m*M* EDTA). After phenol-chloroform extraction, the selected NN fragments were precipitated with isopropanol and glycogen and resuspended in 10 µl of water. Half of the isolated NN fragments were used in a PCR amplification as described above. Selection of NN fragments that bound to RXR/RAR consisted of eight rounds of PCR amplification followed by gel mobility shift assay isolation.

Cloning and sequencing of NN fragments. After the final PCR amplification, NN fragments were digested with *Eco*RI (which cuts within the catch linker) and ligated into pBluescriptKS (pKS; Stratagene) cut with *Eco*RI and treated with calf intestinal phosphatase (Boehringer Mannheim). Dideoxy sequencing reactions were performed with T7 DNA polymerase (Pharmacia) and the T3 and T7 primers. GC compressions were resolved with 7-deaza deoxynucleotides (Pharmacia) or by running sequencing reactions on a 40% formamide gel. Fragments were scanned for the presence of core consensus half-sites [(A/G)G(T/G)TCA] arranged in configurations (such as DR1, DR2, DR5) known to bind RXR/RAR heterodimers. Several fragments that shared weak homology with consensus RAREs or RXREs were included in the functional assays. Among them were the following sequences: NN7-22 (TGACTTTGCTGCGTGTCA), NN7- 49 (CCGTCACGTGACGC), and NN7-76 (AGATCAGCAGCAGCAGCACA). None of these non-consensus binding sites revealed specific binding or RA-induced transactivation in gel mobilty shift and transient transfection assays respectively.

Genomic Southern blots and Zoo blots. Genomic DNA was isolated from R1 embryonic stem cells, human HOS cells or chicken liver and digested with BamHI,

*Eco*RI, *Hind*III, or *Sac*I. Ten microgram samples were electorphoresed in 1.0% agarose gels, transfered to nylon membrane, and hybridized overnight at 42°C with the appropriate random primed NN fragment probe in a solution of 50% formamide, 1X Denhardt's solution, 5X SSPE (1X SSPE is 150 mM NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> and 1 mM EDTA), 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), 100  $\mu$ g of denatured salmon sperm DNA per ml, and 10<sup>6</sup> cpm of probe per ml. Genomic Southern blots were washed twice with 0.2X SSC (1X SSC is 150 mM NaCl plus 15 mM sodium citrate) and 0.1% SDS for 20 minutes at 60°C. Zoo blots were washed twice for 15 minutes at 55°C with 0.2X SSC and 0.1% SDS.

**Recombinant plasmids.** Plasmid TKLUC contains sequences -105 to + 51 of the thymidine kinase (TK) promoter linked to the firefly luciferase gene. TKLUC plasmids containing NN fragments were constructed by releasing the NN fragments from pKS with *SalI* and *Bam*HI, and cloning them into the corresponding sites in TKLUC. To create NN $\beta$ RARE-TKLUC, a 140 bp *Mspl/Hin*PI fragment from the promoter region of the murine RAR $\beta$ 2 gene containing the  $\beta$ RARE was isolated, cloned directly into pKS (Stratagene) linearized with *AccI*, and subsequently inserted into TKLUC as a *SalI/Bam*HI fragment.

**Transient transfection assays.** P19 EC cells were cultured in  $\alpha$ -minimal essential medium containing 7.5% fetal calf serum. Cells were transfected with 1.5 µg of RSV- $\beta$ -gal and 2 µg of reporter plasmid.  $\beta$ -Galactosidase and luciferase assays were performed as described previously (Giguère et al., 1990).

Genomic Library Screening. A genomic clone corresponding to the promoter region of the mouse RAR $\beta$ 2 gene was isolated from a murine EMBL-3 SP6/T7 genomic library using a probe derived from the 5' end of the mouse RAR $\beta$ 2 cDNA. Clones  $\lambda$ 7-91-2 and  $\lambda$ 8-4-5 were isolated from a murine  $\lambda$  DASHII library of strain 129SV genomic DNA using a <sup>32</sup>P-labeled probe generated from NN fragments 7-91 and 8-4. Hybridization of duplicate nylon membranes was performed at 42°C overnight in a solution of 50% formamide, 1X Denhardt's solution, 5X SSPE, 0.1% SDS, 100 µg denatured salmon sperm DNA per ml, and 10<sup>6</sup> cpm of probe per ml. Membranes were washed twice with 0.2X SSC and 0.1% SDS for 20 min at 60°C. Genomic phage clones were analyzed in detail by restriction mapping and hybridization with NN7-91 or NN8-4 and cDNA derived fragments.

Sequence determination and analysis. Homology of NN8-4 and an expressed sequence tag (EST) from the EST database (dbEST) was discovered using the BLAST search program of the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) (Altschul et al., 1990). The clone EST41159 (GenBankID R56376) was obtained through the IMAGE Consortium, Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory. EST41159 was subcloned into pKS, and both this cDNA and genomic subclones were sequenced using T7 DNA polymerase (Pharmacia). T3 and T7 primers, as well as specific primers derived from the cDNA or genomic sequences, were used to sequence both strands of the cDNA and genomic subclones. Similarity searches for putative amino acid sequences were performed with the BLASTX program (Altschul et al., 1990).

**Primer Extension analysis.** Fifty micrograms of total RNA isolated from F9 cells grown in the presence or absence of RA  $(10^{-7}M)$  for 24 hours or  $10\mu g$  of *Escherichia coli* tRNA was hybridized to  $5'^{-32}P$ -end-labeled oligonucleotide 890 (5'-GGGTGGCTCGCGTCCT-CTGC-3') and extended using avian myeloblastosis virus reverse transcriptase.

S1 nuclease assay. Fifty micrograms of total RNA isolated from F9 cells grown in the presence or absence of RA  $(10^{-7}M)$  or 10 µg of *E. coli* tRNA was used for S1 nuclease protection. The RNA was hybridized to a probe generated by hybridizing radiolabeled oligonucleotide 890 to a single-stranded PstI-SacI 1100bp fragment from the 5' end of the RAR $\beta$ 2 gene and extending with Klenow fragment and dNTPs.

Northern (RNA) analysis. F9 EC cells were grown on 0.1% gelatin in Dulbecco modified Eagle medium supplemented with 15% fetal bovine sereum which had been stripped by using charcoal/anion exchange and treated with UV light for 1 h for retinoid depletion. The cells were treated with vehicle alone, retinoids at a concentration of 1  $\mu$ M each, and/or cycloheximide (Cx) (final concentration, 10  $\mu$ g/ml) for various time periods. Total RNA was extracted with TRIZOL (Gibco BRL). RNA samples were electrophoresed through a 1% formaldehyde-1X morpholinepropanesulfonic acid (MOPS)-1% agarose gel, and transferred to nylon membrane in 20X SSC. RNA was UV-crosslinked to the membrane and hybridized to the appropriate random-primed probe in a solution containing 50% formamide, 5X Denhardt's solution, 5X SSPE, 0.1% SDS, and 100  $\mu$ g denatured salmon sperm DNA per ml. The membranes were washed once for 20 min at room temperature with 2X SSC-0.1% SDS and twice at 65°C in 0.2 X SSC, 0.1% SDS for 15 minutes each time. Autoradiography was carried out at -70°C with an intensifying screen. An oligonucleotide hybridizing to the 18S ribosomal RNA 5'-ACGGTATCTGATCGTCTTCGAACC-3' was used as a control probe for loading.

**RACE analysis.** The rapid amplification of cDNA ends (RACE) system was used according to the instructions provided by the manufacturer (Gibco BRL). The primers used as GSP1, GSP2 and GSP3 were 5'-CAGCCTCTGGGCATTCTCCTC-TGCCTTCTC-3' in exon 3, 5'-CTTCCGAATCAGCTGTGTGGGCAAACAGTCCC-3' in exon 2 and 5'-CGCCACGCCACGCAGAAGGAAGAACAC-3' in exon 1. First strand synthesis was performed at 50°C.

#### RESULTS

Isolation of NN fragments containing RAREs by CpG-SAAB. Murine EC cell lines, such as F9 and P19, constitute excellent models to study RA action (Jones-Villeneuve et al., 1982; Strickland and Mahdavi, 1978). In addition, unlike many transformed cell lines, EC cells maintain their methylation status in culture (Antequera et al., 1990). F9 EC cells were chosen as starting material for the development of the CpG-SAAB method. We first tested whether we could release CpG island DNA from F9 cell nuclei. Restriction enzymes which include a CpG in their recognition sites will preferentially digest within CpG island DNA. It has been demonstrated that chromatin digested by such CG recognizing enzymes as MspI and HinPI will release oligonucleosomes predominantly derived from the CpG island fraction of the genome (Antequera et al., 1989), as well as a population of fragments smaller than the size of DNA associated with a single nucleosome (Tazi and Bird, 1990). MspI and HinPI (the recognition sites are CCGG and GCGC, respectively) have access to CpG island chromatin not only because of the open structure of the chromatin (relative to bulk chromatin) and the characteristic GC-rich composition of this chromatin but also because of the nonmethylated status of CpG islands. Since *Hin*PI is a methylation sensitive enzyme, it will not digest within methylated bulk chromatin. While MspI can cut methylated DNA, there appears to be a strong bias against such digestion in bulk chromatin, possibly due to protection of methylated DNA by specifically bound factors (Antequera et al., 1989; Boyes and Bird, 1991; Lewis et al., 1992). F9 cell nuclei subjected to digestion with a non-CpG-recognizing restriction enzyme such as Sau3A (recognition site GATC) releases a series of fragments which, after being radioactively end-labeled and electrophoresed on an agarose gel, can be seen to correspond to the DNA fragments associated with a single nucleosome, a dinucleosome, and a trinucleosome, with this pattern continuing into high-molecular-weight DNA (Fig. 1, upper panel). In contrast, digestion with MspI and/or HinPI yields DNA fragments corresponding in size

Fig. 1. Non-nucleosomal (NN) fragments are released from CpG island chromatin upon digestion with CpG recognizing enzymes. Upper panel. Intact nuclei from F9 EC cells were subjected to digestion with the restriction enzymes MspI (CCGG), HinPI (GCGC), Sau3A (GATC), or a combination of both MspI and HinPI. Subsequent to isolation, DNA was endlabeled and electrophoresed on a 1.5% agarose gel. An autoradiograph of the gel reveals differences in the digestion patterns caused by CpG recognizing enzymes (MspI and HinPI) and a non-CpG recognizing enzyme. Fragments corresponding to the DNA associated with a single nucleosome, dinucleosome and trinucleosome with this pattern continuing to high molecular weight DNA are seen in the Sau3A lane. Only fragments corresponding to smaller sized nucleosomes are visible in the MspI and HinPI lanes. A heterogeneous set of DNA fragments smaller than the size of a single nucleosome is also present in the CpG recognizing enzyme lanes. These fragments are (as illustrated in the lower panel) thought to be derived from the nucleosome-free regions within the CpG islands of activated or potentially activatable genes. The outer lanes (M) consist of endlabeled fragments of pUC19 cut with HpaII. The numbers represent the sizes of the marker bands in bp. Lower panel. CpG island chromatin is GC rich and contains an expected number of CpG dinucleotides, which are generally unmethylated. This type of chromatin contains an abundance of sites for restriction enzymes containing CpG in their recognition sites (such as *MspI*). Bulk chromatin has a low GC content, is deficient in CpG dinucleotides with those remaining being methylated. Very few CpGcontaining recognition sites are present in bulk chromatin. Bracketed restriction enzyme sites in both types of chromatin indicate sites which are inaccessible due to blockage by nucleosomes. For details and data on the original experiments see Tazi and Bird (Tazi and Bird, 1990).



CpG Island chromatin



only to one to four nucleosomes and a correspondingly greater amount of highmolecular-weight DNA (Fig. 1, upper panel). As predicted (Tazi and Bird, 1990), a heterogeneous population of fragments that are smaller than the size of a single nucleosome is released upon *MspI* and/or *Hin*PI digestion. These fragments, termed NN fragments, are GC rich, are derived in large part from extended stretches of nucleosomefree DNA that are characteristic of transcribed (or potentially transcribable) genes, and are found predominantly within CpG islands (see schematic diagram in Fig. 1, lower panel) (Tazi and Bird, 1990). Thus, the CpG-island-derived NN fragments constitute an ideal fraction of the genome wherein to search for transcription factor binding sites associated with transcribed genes, in our case, RAREs and RXREs.

The strategy to isolate RARE-containing NN fragments is schematically represented in Fig. 2. Intact nuclei are first isolated, and the chromatin subjected to digestion with MspI and HinPI. The DNA is then electrophoresed on a 1.5% agarose gel and NN fragments migrating between 75 to 140 bp are extracted from it. The upper size limit was chosen to allow separation of bound fragments from unbound fragments in the gel mobility shift assay selections. NN fragments are then end-filled with the Klenow fragment of DNA polymerase I, and ligated to blunt catch linkers (Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1989). Overdigestion of the product of the ligation with XhoI, which cuts between ligated Catch linkers, creates a population of fragments which have a single linker on either end, facilitating PCR amplification. As was described in Materials and Methods, PCR was performed with radiolabeled Catch linkers. Binding reactions for gel mobility shift selections consisted of modified and radiolabeled NN fragments being incubated with in vitro -transcribed and -translated RXR/RAR. As is diagrammed in Fig. 2, parallel reactions with a known RARE are run alongside the NN fragment binding reaction as a marker for the bound fraction of fragments. A section of dried gel corresponding to the final position of the migration of bound NN fragments is cut out and the DNA is eluted. Multiple rounds of amplification by PCR (with end-labeled catch

Fig. 2. CpG-SAAB for the selection of CpG-rich genomic fragments containing RAREs. Nuclei are purified from cells or tissue samples of interest. The CpG island-rich NN fragments are released by restriction enzyme digests and gel isolated. Dark colored fragments represent those NN fragments containing a RARE or RXRE. Catch linkers are ligated to the collection of NN fragments and excess linkers are removed with a XhoI digest. NN fragments are then selected in a gel mobility shift assay using RAR/RXR complexes produced with an in vitro transcription-translation system. Probes represented in the schematic of the gel mobility shift assay are  $\beta$ RARE as a control in lane 1, and NN fragments in lane 2. NN fragments bound to the heterodimer are eluted from the gel (the cut out gel slice is represented by the white rectangle) and enzymatically amplified using the Catch linker oligonucleotides as primers. After several rounds of selection, DNA fragments are cloned into pKS and sequenced to search for the presence of a consensus RARE or RXRE. Putative RARE/RXRE-containing fragments are assessed for specific binding to RXR/RAR complexes and ability to drive reporter gene expression in transient transfection assays. Fragments showing a positive response in these assays are then used as probes to isolate associated genes.



Isolate corresponding genes

oligonucleotide) and gel mobility shift selection are then performed to enrich for NN fragments containing RAREs. By CpG-SAAB, a population of 120 RXR/RAR selected NN fragments obtained from F9 EC cell nuclei was cloned into pKS for further analysis.

Isolation of the RAR<sup>3</sup>2 genomic clone and preliminary testing of CpG-SAAB. As a control for the preliminary steps of CpG-SAAB, a genomic clone corresponding to the promoter region of the RAR<sup>β2</sup> gene was isolated from a murine EMBL-3 SP6/T7 genomic library by using a probe derived from the 5' end of the mouse RAR<sup>β2</sup> cDNA. The RARB2 gene is highly responsive to RA and contains a DR-5 RARE (BRARE) in its promoter (de Thé et al., 1990; Sucov et al., 1990). Approximately 2500 bp surrounding the  $\beta$ RARE were sequenced (Fig.3A). The transcriptional start site of the murine RARB2 transcript was mapped using primer extension and S1 nuclease analysis (Fig. 3B & C). Surprisingly, the main CAP site is 21bp upstream of the start site mapped in the human RARβ2 gene (de Thé et al., 1990), in spite of the high level of conservation (>90%) between the the mouse and human RAR $\beta$ 2 promoter sequences (our unpublished observations). An additional minor start site was identified at position -112 bp by S1 analysis (Fig 3A & C). The pattern of restriction enzyme recognition sites containing CpG dinucleotides within this region suggests that the  $\beta$ RARE is within a CpG island that spans approximately 1 kb (Fig. 4A). Flanking the BRARE are a MspI and a HinPI site which would enable the release of a 140bp NN fragment containing the response element. Primers internal to the MspI and HinPI sites were designed and used as PCR primers to monitor the presence of the  $\beta$ RARE NN fragment through the preliminary steps of CpG-SAAB. With RAR<sup>β</sup> cDNA, F9 genomic DNA, NN fragments, or fragments eluted from the gel after the first round of selection being used as template for PCR, a 140 bp fragment was visualized on an ethidium bromide stained acrylamide gel (Fig. 4B). No band was seen in the control lane without the template. The identity of this fragment was confirmed by Southern blotting with an internal probe (data not shown). These preliminary experiments established that the RARE of a known RA-responsive gene is

Fig. 3. Analysis of the promoter region of the RAR $\beta$ 2 gene. (A) Nucleotide sequence of the mouse RAR<sup>β</sup>2 5' flanking region. The major start site of transcription is indicated by an arrow; a smaller arrow denotes a possible minor upstream start site. Nucleotide sequences are numbered relative to the major CAP site. The start codon and the donor site of the first intron are underlined, and the RARE is boxed. The MspI and HinPI sites flanking the RARE are indicated. (B) Primer extension analysis. Radiolabeled primer 890 was hybridized to RNA samples and extended with AMV reverse transcriptase. RNA samples are derived from *E. coli* tRNA (control), untreated F9 cells (F9), and F9 cells treated for 24 hours with RA (F9 + RA). (C) S1 nuclease analysis. A PstI-SacIend-labeled probe was hybridized to E. coli tRNA (control) or RA treated F9 cells (F9 + RA). These hybrids were digested with S1 nuclease and electrophoresed through a 6% polyacrylamide gel. No bands were seen when the probe was hybridized to untreated F9 cell RNA (data not shown). For both (B) and (C) the sequencing ladder was produced using oligonucleotide 890 as a primer. The schematic on the right indicates the position of the RARE and the putative TATA box identified in the human RAR $\beta$ 2 promoter (de Thé et al, 1990; Sucov et al, 1990).

# A

ļ

-1632	CTGCAGGTGGCTTCCCTTTTTGAAAGTGCTGGCTGTTTGGCTGCATCTATATTAATTGCCTCTGGGTTTTTGAGAACAAC
-1552	TAAAAAAAAATTCTGCTCCTTCCCCTAGGCTGAGTCAGTGTAACCAGTTAAAAAAAGAAAAGAGAAATCCTCTTGTCTGAA
-1472	GATTAGGTTTTTTATTTGTATTTTTTTAAAAACAGGTATAATTGGACAGGGGTGGTCTGAGCCAAGTCTAGCTTTCAGAAT
-1392	TATAAAACCCTCATACTTGCCCAGTATGAGGAGTATTTTCAAACTCCACGTTATGTGTGGGGACCTGTGCCTGACGAAGT
-1312	GGCCACCAACACTCTGTGCATAGACTGAGGATTGGCGTGGGTTCAGACAGGGCACAAGTCTACTAACTGCTGAACACTGT
-1232	AGCCTCAGGAAGGTCTGGGTATCCTTGGCAAAAGTCCCACAGCTAGAAACAGGAGGCTGAGACACTGCTAATATTCCTTT
-1152	tgtgtgtttattgagaagtgacaggtagttatttacgttctatggatgg
-1072	AATCAGTATTTTCCTAGACACACAGATGGCCAGTGACAGAGTTACTGTTTTCACCAACCA
-992	ctttctctgtctctctctctctgtctctctctgtctctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctctctgtctctctctgtctctctctgtctctctgtctctctctgtctctctctgtctctctctgtctctctctgtctctctgtctctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtctctctgtcttct
-912	ctctatatctctctctctctctctctctctctctctctc
-832	CACACACACACACACACACACACACACACACACACACA
-752	GAGTGCGATTGGCAATGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
-672	TTAGGAACAGAGTTTGGTGCAACTAATCTGTGACTGCTCCAGGTGTTTCTGCCTGC
-592	CCCAGAAGGGACTTTTCTCTCCCCCCGGAGCTAGGACAATCCCTTCAGCGAGCTCAGCTAAAGCCTGAAAGAGTGAGAAA
-512	алдддадалатаатаатаатаатаатаатаатаатаатаададдалдалаталаладасддсаддсттаатддаладтт
-432	TCCCGGCCCCAGAGGCTTCCCTCTGCGAGCGGTGGCGGGCTCCTGATGGGCAGTTCGGGGGCTTGCGGAGTGCTTTTACGG
-352	GAGTGGAAAGATACCTAAGTTGCAAGGGCTTGGCCAGGAACAGGAGGAGGAGAGAGA
-272	AGGGTCTCCCTGCCAGGGCCGGCCGATGAAAAGGCGCAAACCGCAGCCGCACTCCCGCTCCTCGCGCTCCTGGCATT
-192	GTTTGCACGCTGAGCCGTGGGGAGCACCGCGGGCTGGCCGCGGACTCGCTGGCTG
-112	GTTTTTTAAGCGCTGTGAGAATCCTGGGAGTTGGTGATGTCAGACTGGTTGGGTCATTTGAAGGTTAGCAGCCCCGGGAAGG
-32	CTCGCATATATTAGGCAATTCAATCTTTCATTCCGTGTGACCAGAAGTGGTAGGAAGTGAGCTG
49	CTCCGAGGCAGGAGGGTCTATTCTTTGCCAAAGGGGGGGG
129	GAGGACGCGAGCCACCCGGGCAGGAGCGTCTGGGCACCGGCGGGGTAGGACCCGGCGCTCCCGGAGCCTGCGCGCGC
209	CTGGAAGGAGAACTTGGGATCGGTGCGGGAACCCCCGCTGGCTG
289	ATTTGGATCAATTACAGGCTTTTAGCTGGCTTGTCTGTCATAATTCATGATTCGGGGCTGGGAAAAAGACCAACAGCCTA
369	GCGTCCAAAAAAGGGGCAGAGTTTGATGGAGTTCGTGGACTTTTCTGTGCGGCTCGCCTCCACACCTAGAGGATAAGCAC
449	TTTTGCAGAGGCCGGTGCGGAGAGATCATGTTTGACTGTATGGATGTTCTGTCAGTGAGTCCCGGGCAGATCCTGGATTT
529	CTACACCGCGAGCCCTTCCTCCTGCATGCTGCAGGAAAAGGCTCTCAAAAGCCTGCCT
609	GGCAGCACCGGCATACTGCTCAATGTAGGTTTATTATTATTTTTTCCTTTCCTTTTACCAAGGAAAAAAAA
689	GCATGCAATAAAGACACTGGAATAAAGTGCAGTGGTGGCAAGACAAAGGGTTTAATGATTTAATGCTGAAGGGGTGTGAT

.







C



i

Fig. 4. A  $\beta$ RARE-containing fragment from the promoter of the RAR $\beta$ 2 gene is within a putative CpG island, is present in the collection of NN fragments derived from F9 EC cells, and is bound by RXR/RAR in the first round of CpG-SAAB. (A) A schematic of the promoter and first exon region of the RAR $\beta$ 2 gene. The  $\beta$ RARE is represented by a black box, and the start of transcription by an arrow. On the line above, vertical bars represent restriction enzyme recognition sites which contain the nucleotide CpG. Their distribution pattern suggests that the  $\beta$ RARE is contained within a CpG island which spans approximately 1kb. Enlarged is a 140bp MspI/HinPI putative NN fragment of the RAR $\beta$  transcription unit containing the  $\beta$ RARE. PCR primers internal to the MspI and HinPI sites were designed. (B) The PCR primers outlined in (A) were used to monitor the presence of the  $\beta$ RARE NN fragment through the preliminary steps of CpG-SAAB. Templates used are RAR $\beta$  cDNA (plasmid), F9 EC genomic DNA (genomic), NN fragments isolated from F9 cell nuclei (NN fragments), or NN fragments eluted after the first round of selection (1st selection).

contained within a CpG island, that the element can be released as a 140 bp NN fragment upon *MspI/Hin*PI digestion of intact F9 nuclei, and that this NN fragment is bound and selected by *in vitro*-transcribed and -translated RXR/RAR in the first gel mobility shift selection of CpG-SAAB.

Physical analysis of RXR/RAR selected NN fragments. The RXR/RAR selected NN fragments obtained from F9 EC cell nuclei were sequenced and scanned for the presence of consensus RAREs and RXREs. As discussed above, RARs and RXRs are members of a subfamily of the nuclear receptor superfamily that recognize direct, inverted, or everted repeats of the core consensus hexamer [(A/G)G(T/G)TCA] present in the regulatory regions of responsive genes. In general, elements containing direct repeats spaced by 1 nucleotide (DR1) function as RXREs, while DR2 and DR5 elements function as RAREs. We first performed a comparison of NN fragments prior to any gel mobility shift selection and NN fragments post-selection. The results of this comparison are outlined in Table 1. No RARE and RXRE consensus motifs of any class were present in the thirty preselection NN fragments sequenced. Among the selected NN fragment RA response elements identified were five DR1s, one DR2, seven DR5s, and 13 complex elements containing combinations of direct and everted repeats. Of the 120 selected NN fragments sequenced, approximately one in five harbored a consensus RA response element. Since some of the NN-RA response element-containing fragments were isolated more than once, in total, twelve unique RA response elements were identified. The average sizes of the genomic fragments were 91 and 98 bp for pre- and post- selection NN fragments respectively. Non CpG island bulk DNA has a G+C content of approximately 40% (Antequera and Bird, 1993). As CpG islands typically have a base composition in excess of 50% G+C (Cross et al., 1994), averages of 61% for the preselection NN fragments and 59.5% for the selected NN fragments indicate that the majority of the fragments are probably derived from CpG island regions of the genome.

	Number	Size+	GC contento	Class of RA response elements			
				DR1	DR2	DR5	complex
pre-selection	30	91	61	0	0	0	0
selected	120	98	59.5	5	1	7	13

TABLE 1. Characteristics of pre- and post-selection NN fragments

a Average size of the NN-fragments in bp.

<sup>b</sup> Expressed as %.

<sup>c</sup>DR1, DR2 and DR5 indicates NN fragments containing a single direct repeat of the core half-site motif spaced by 1, 2 or 5 nucleotides; complex refers to NN fragments containing at least one DR element plus one or more additional core half-site motifs arranged in various configurations.

To ascertain whether in general, the RA response element-containing NN fragments were derived from single-copy DNA, four of them were used to probe Southern blots of total mouse genomic DNA digested with various restriction enzymes. Three of these yielded the banding pattern expected of a single-copy probe (see example in Fig. 5), while one resulted in multiple bands of equal intensity (3 to 4 bands per digest, data not shown). These results suggest that the NN fragments examined are derived from repeat-free genomic DNA, an observation that correlates well with previous studies indicating that the frequency of repeated sequence within CpG island regions is much lower than that expected for total genomic DNA (Bird, 1986; Cross et al., 1994).

Functional analysis of RXR/RAR selected NN fragments. Although the consensus sequences for RAREs and RXREs have been well established, it is important to ascertain whether the RA response elements associated with the NN fragments fulfill certain functional requirements, namely, the abilities to specifically bind RXR/RAR complexes and to confer RA responsiveness to a heterologous minimal promoter in a transient transfection system. The RARE-containing portions of the NN fragments are outlined in Table 2, along with the class of the binding site. A 140 bp Msp1/HinP1 genomic fragment located within a putative CpG island and containing the RARE from the promoter of the RAR $\beta$ 2 gene served in the functional assays as a control (see Fig. 4A). The relative binding affinities of the fragments are shown in Table 2. A representative gel mobility shift assay is shown in Fig. 6A. All of the NN fragments except for NN7-29, which contains a DR1 with one half-site of suboptimal consensus sequence, bind RXR/RAR complexes at least as well as the genomic fragment containing the  $\beta$ RARE. NN fragments containing complex elements tend to bind with higher affinity to the retinoid receptors. Each of these fragments contain a perfect consensus direct repeat RARE or RXRE plus additional half sites in various configurations which presumably cooperate to increase binding affinity.



Fig. 5. NN7-71 hybridizes to a single genomic locus.  $10\mu g$  samples of murine R1 genomic DNA were digested with the indicated restriction enzymes, electrophoresed on a 1% agarose gel, and transferred to nylon membrane. The membrane was hybridized to <sup>32</sup>P-labeled NN fragment 7-71.

	Sequencea	Class <sup>b</sup>	Bindingc	Fold <sup>d</sup> Induction	Total <sup>6</sup> Activity
NNBRARE	GGGAAGGGTTCA <u>CCGAAA</u> GGTTCACTCGCA	DR5	‡	59	5
NN7-29	GGGTAGGTCACGTCAGTCCCG	DR1	+	4	25
NN7-51	TGACCTTGTGAATG (N15) TGAGCTAGGGGGGCTCAACGAAAGGTCA	DR2, ER4, DR5	‡ ‡	55	111
17-71	AGGTCAAAAGTTCAAGCTCAAGGATCAAAGTTA	DR2, DR0, DR5	‡ +	113	268
18-7NN	GGAGGTCAAACTCAGGTCA(N31)TGAGCC(N18)GGATCATT	DR5, 2HS	‡	6	36
16-7NN	GGTTCGAGGTCAAGGAGGGGTCATG	DRS	+ + +	49	211
8-9NN	GGACMGGGTCA <mark>GAGACAGTCA</mark> CTGTAG	DRS	‡ ‡	13	4
NNB-4	CGGACGGGGTCAAGGGCC	DR1	‡	ŝ	75
NN8-29	GGOTCACACCTEAGGTCAGGATCACACGTG GGTTCACAGGGGGTCACAGGGGTCACAGTGACATCA	DRG, DRO, DR3, DR5	‡	8	84
NN8-39	TGCCTTAGOTGAAAGGTCAAGGTCAAGG	DR1	‡ ‡	S	=
NN8-44	AGTGACTOTGCAGCTGGGGGTCATTCCCAMGTTCACG	DR5, ER8	+ + +	32	66
NN8-49	GGTGAAAGGTCAAAGGTCAAGGCAGG	DR1	ŧ	4	6
<b>NN8-66</b>	GCCCAGAGGTCATLAGGTCACCAAGA	DR2	‡	9	7

Flotal activity refers to the RA-induced luciferase activity generated by the NN fragments normalized against the basal activity of the control TKLUC. The activity of the NNBRARETKLUC construct was arbitrarity set at 100.

offold induction denotes the RA-inductibility of the RARE-containing NN fragments linked to the TK promoter.

(+++) than NNBRARE.

Officerential binding of RXR/RAR heterodimers to NN fragments in get mobility shift assays are arbitrarity indicated as weaker (+), same (++) or stronger

TABLE 2. Functional analysis of non-nucleosomal retinoic acids response elements

Fig. 6. Functional analysis of RXR/RAR selected NN fragments. (A) Binding of RXR/RAR to NN fragments. In this representative gel mobility shift assay, NN fragments were end-labeled and incubated with RXR/RAR complexes produced *in vitro*. A plus sign indicates the presence of in vitro synthesized RXR/RAR in the reaction, while a minus sign indicates the absence of the RXR/RAR heterodimer. Specificity of binding was assayed by addition of 100 fold molar excess of unlabeled specific competitor oligonucleotide ( $\beta$ RARE) (s) or nonspecific competitor oligonucleotide (derived from the adenovirus major late promoter) (ns). Unprogrammed lysate was used as a control. (B) RA responsiveness of RARE/NN fragments (see Table 2). NN/RARE fragments were linked to the thymidine kinase (TK) promoter and the Luciferase (LUC) reporter gene. Reporter vectors (2µg) were transiently transfected into P19 EC cells along with RSV $\beta$ gal (1.5µg) as a control. No exogenous receptor was added. Cells were treated with  $\mu$ M RA 16 hours after transfection and harvested 24 hours after treatment. The  $\beta$ RARE-containing NN fragment derived from the promoter region of the murine RAR $\beta$  gene served as a control in these transfection assays.





A single copy of each NN fragment was cloned upstream of the TK promoter driving the luciferase reporter gene (TKLUC). Transient transfections were performed in P19 EC cells which were treated with 1 µM RA 16 h after transfection and harvested 24 hours after treatment (Figure 6B). Results seen with transient transfections of the constructs into F9 EC cells were qualitatively similar. Two values for each NN-RARE were calculated from this study (Table 2). Fold induction indicates the level of RA inducibility conferred to the TK promoter by each NN fragment. The total activity of the NN fragment is the luciferase activity detected upon RA treatment normalized against the basal activity of the control, TKLUC. The total activity of NN-BRARE-TKLUC was arbitrarily set at 100, and activities of the other reporters are relative to this control. Both values are calculated, because in some cases the basal activity of the fragment plus the TK promoter without RA treatment is much greater than that of TK alone. For example, although the fold induction (RA treatment versus no treatment) of NN8-4TKLUC is 5 while that of NN $\beta$ RARE-TKLUC is 59, the total RA-induced luciferase activities of the reporters are relatively similar (75 units for NN8-4TKLUC, 100 units for NN- $\beta$ RARE-TKLUC). The higher basal activities of some of the NN fragments suggest the presence of additional binding sites for other transcription factors that could contribute to enhancer activity.

As an additional control, these functional assays were performed on a number of selected NN fragments with no recognizable consensus RA response elements (see Materials and Methods) (data not shown). In each case these fragments did not bind specifically or at all to RRL programmed with RXR/RAR and conferred no RA-induced activation on TKLUC. Generally, the affinity of binding correlates well with the ability to confer RA induction upon a heterologous promoter, with a few notable exceptions. For example, fold induction values for DR1-containing fragments NN7-29, NN8-4, NN8-39 and NN8-49 are low. Such a result is not unexpected considering that although heterodimer RXR/RAR binds with high affinity to a DR1 configuration, repression is

thought to be the result (Mangelsdorf et al., 1991). As was mentioned above, NN8-4 (and to a lesser extent, NN7-29) is unusual in that the fragment confers a high level of total activity upon TKLUC. However, the fold induction value is low, because the basal level of transcription is greatly increased. Finally, a single copy of a DR2 element, such as that observed in NN8-66, generally confers activity more readily in transient transfections with the addition of exogenous receptor or if present in multiple copies (unpublished data).

Identification of a conserved region and a putative CpG island associated with the RARE of NN7-91. Following the successful isolation of novel RARE-containing genomic fragments by CpG-SAAB, we wished to identify transcription units associated with these genomic NN fragments. Traditional methods used to identify transcribed sequences within a genomic region include the identification of conserved sequences by the screening Northern and Zoo blots. Screening of a murine  $\lambda$ 129 genomic library with NN fragment 7-91 yielded a number of flanking genomic clones. A 2.2kb *Spel/Sac* I genomic fragment flanking NN fragment 7-91 was used to probe genomic Southern blots. Hybridizing bands were detected in mouse and human genomic DNA (Fig.7A), indicating the presence of a region that is conserved across species. Sequencing of approximately 3.8kb of genomic DNA surrounding the NN fragment 7-91 RARE revealed a pattern of CpG dinucleotides typical of a CpG island region (Fig. 7B).

Identification of a gene associated with the RARE of NN8-4. There exist a number of additional methods to identify transcribed sequences within a genomic region including cDNA selection, exon trapping, and direct DNA sequencing combined with use of available software and DNA databases searches, called software trapping (for review see Gardiner and Mural, 1995). The last approach is becoming increasingly powerful as more efficient computer programs and search algorithms are developed and as databases, particularly those of ESTs, are expanded. The NN fragments were first analyzed with BLAST to search the databanks of the National Center for Biotechnology Information Fig. 7. Analysis of the genomic region flanking NN7-91. (A) Human/mouse sequence conservation. Genomic DNA isolated from human HOS cells or murine R1 cells were digested with the indicated restriction enzymes. 10µg samples were electrophoresed on a 1% agarose gel, transferred to a nylon filter, and probed with a 2.2kb radio-labeled genomic fragment flanking NN7-91. (B) The NN7-91 RARE is contained within a putative CpG island. Shown is a schematic of  $\lambda$  clone 91-2 which encompasses NN fragment 7-91. The position of the RARE is indicated by a stippled box. Restriction enzymes are: Ac, Accl; B, BamHI; E, EcoRI; H, HindIII; S, SacI; and Sm, SmaI. A 3.8kb region was sequenced and is enlarged. Vertical bars on the enlarged region indicate positions of CpG dinucleotides.



A



(Altschul et al., 1990). NN fragment 8-4 was found to share a 42 bp-long stretch of homology with EST41159 (Genbank accession number R56376), an EST derived from a human infant brain library (Bento Soares et al., 1994) (Fig. 8A). ESTs consist of partial sequence from randomly cloned novel cDNAs (Boguski et al., 1993). The library was constructed so that cDNAs were cloned directionally into the vector, thus allowing identification of 5' and 3' ends. As shown in Fig. 8A, alignment of EST41159 with NN8-4 places the RXRE approximately 40 bp upstream of the 5' end of the cDNA EST41159. In addition, there are only four mismatches in the 42 bp overlap between the mouse genomic NN fragment and the human cDNA, suggesting a high level of conservation within this sequence. EST41159 cDNA was obtained from the IMAGE Consortium and was sequenced in its entirety (Fig. 8B). The cDNA is 2520 nucleotides in length and includes a poly(A) tail and a consensus polyadenylation site. An open reading frame with a size of 412 amino acids commences at the extreme 5' of the cDNA, suggesting that this cDNA is not full length.

Characterization of the murine gene NN8-4AG encoding the homologue of human cDNA EST41159. To firmly establish the relationship between the murine NN8-4 genomic fragment and human EST41159 as well as to characterize the transcriptional unit associated with NN8-4 (referred to as NN8-4 Associated Gene or NN8-4AG), a murine  $\lambda$ 129 genomic library was screened with the NN8-4 fragment being used as a probe. Figure 9A shows a schematic of the NN8-4 fragment used as a probe to isolate  $\lambda$ genomic clone 8-4-5. The G+C content (67%) of NN8-4 suggested that it was derived from a CpG island. Sequence analysis of approximately 1 kb of DNA surrounding the RXRE of the NN8-4 fragment (Fig. 9B) revealed that the surrounding genomic sequence contains a putative CpG island that spans approximately 600 bp as demonstrated by the vertical bars representing CpG dinucleotides in Fig. 9A. The NN8-4AG CpG island sequence extends farther 5' of the EST41159 sequence and contains two in frame ATG codons (Fig. 9B). The homology between NN8-4AG and EST41159 continues Fig. 8. Homology between NN8-4 and human EST41159 revealed by a BLAST search. (A) Alignment of the NN8-4 fragment with EST41159. The RXRE in NN8-4 is underlined. (B) Nucleotide and predicted amino acid sequence of EST41159. The polyadenylation signal is underlined, and the termination codon is marked with an asterisk. GenBank accession number for the complete sequence of EST41159 is U50383. A

1010 4	
t/f/1/0 - 4	I CLOGGALG <u>GGGTLAAGGGTLAGAAGGLGAGAGGLGTGCCCAAGATGCCCCCCCCCC</u>

NN8-4	61	CGACGTGTTCTCCTTCTGCGTGGGCGTGGCGGACCGTGCCCGG
EST41159	1	

B

30 60 90 GCCGTGTTCTCCTTCTGCGTGGGCGTGGCGGGGCCGCGCGCGCGCGCGCGCGCGAAGGGAAAGGGGGCTG  $\label{eq:label} AlaValPheSerPheCysValGlyValAlaGlyArgAlaArgValSerValGluValArgPheValSerSerAlaLysGlyLeu (Contemporation) and the set of the set$ 120 15Ŏ 180 TTTGCCACACAGCTCATCCGGAAGGGGGAGACCATCTTCGTAGAACGGCCCCTGGTGGCTGCACAGTTTCTCTGGAATGCACTTTATCGC 210 240 270 TACCGAGCCTGTGACCACTGCCTTAGGGCACTAGAGAAGGCAGAGGAGAATGCCCAGAGGCTGACCGGGAAACCAGGCCAGGTTCTGCCT  $\label{eq:constraint} Tyr {\tt ArgAlaCysAspHisCysLeuArgAlaLeuGluLysAlaGluGluAsnAlaGlnArgLeuThrGlyLysProGlyGlnValLeuPro} and the the the term of term o$ 300 33Ō 360 CACCCAGAGCTGTGCACTGTGCGCAAAGACCTCCACCAGAACTGTCCCCATTGCCAAGTGATGTACTGCAGTGCAGAATGTCGGTTGGCA  ${\tt His ProGluLeuCys Thr Val Arg Lys {\tt Asp LeuHis Gln {\tt Asn Cys ProHis Cys Gln Val Met Tyr Cys Ser {\tt Ala Glu Cys Arg Leu Ala Cys Arg Leu A$ 390 420 450 GCCACTGAGCAATACCACCAGGTCCTGTGCCCAGGCCCCTCCCAGGATGACCCCTTGCATCCTCTCAATAAGCTTCAGGAGGCATGGAGG AlaThrGluGlnTyrHisGlnValLeuCysProGlyProSerGlnAspAspProLeuHisProLeuAsnLysLeuGlnGluAlaTrpArg 480 510 54Ō AGTATTCACTACCCACCTGAGACTGCAAGCATCATGTTGATGGCTAGGATGGTGGCCACAGTGAAGCAGGCGAAGGACAAGGACCGTTGG SerIleHisTyrProProGluThrAlaSerIleMetLeuMetAlaArgMetValAlaThrValLysGlnAlaLysAspLysAspArgTrp 570 600 630 ATCAGACTCTTTTCCCAGTTTTGTAACAAAACAGCCAATGAAGAGGAGGAAATTGTCCATAAACTTCTGGGAGACAAATTCAAGGGCCAA 660 690 720 CTGGAACTTCTGCGGAGACTCTTCACAGAGGCCCTCTATGAGGAAGCAGTCAGCCAGTCGGTTCACTCCAGATGGATTCCGGTCTCTCTTT LeuGluLeuLeuArgArgLeuPheThrGluAlaLeuTyrGluGluAlaValSerGlnTrpPheThrProAspGlyPheArgSerLeuPhe 750 780 810 GCTCTTGTTGGGACCAATGGCCAAGGAATCGGGACCAGCTCCCTAAGCCAGTGGGTCCATGCCTGTGACACTCTGGAGTTGAAGCCTCAG  $\label{eq:label} A label{eq:label} a label{eq:label} A label{eq:labeleq:labe$ 840 870 900 GACCGTGAGCACGTTGACGCCTTCATTGACCAGCTATACAAGGACATCGAGGCAGCAACTGGAGAGATTTCTTAACTGTGAAGGATCTGGC  $\label{eq:likelihood} AspArgGluHisValAspAlaPheIleAspGluLeuTyrLysAspIleGluAlaAlaThrGlyGluPheLeuAsnCysGluGlySerGly$ 930 960 990 CTCTTTGTGCTTCAGAGCTGCTGCAACCACAGTTGTGTGCCCAATGCAGAGACCTCCTTTCCAGAAAACAACTTCCTTTTGCATGTCACT  $\label{eq:leuphevalleuGlnSerCysCysAsnHisSerCysValProAsnAlaGluThrSerPheProGluAsnAsnPheLeuLeuHisValThrSerPheProGluAsnPheProGluAsnPheLeuLeuHisValThrSerPheProGluAsnPheProGluAsnPheProGluAsnPheProGluAsnPheProGluAsnPheProGluAsnPheProGluAsnPheProGluAsnPheProGluAsnPheProGluAsnPheProGluAsn$ 1020 1050 1080 GCTCTGGAGGATATTAAGCCAGGAGAGGAAATTTGTATCAGCTACTTGGACTGCTGTCAGCGGGAGCGCAGCCGCCACAGCCGCCACAAG AlaLeuGluAspIleLysProGlyGluGluIleCysIleSerTyrLeuAspCysCysGlnArgGluArgSerArgHisSerArgHisLys 1110 1140 1170 ATCCTCAGGGAGAACTATCTATTTGTCTGTTCCTGTCCCAAATGCCTGGCAGAGGCTGATGAACCCAATGTGACCTCAGAAGA AGAG 1200 1230 1260 GAAGAGGAGGAGGAGGAGGAAGGAGGAGGACAGAAGATGCAGAGCTGGGGGATGAGATGACTGATGTGATGTTGCCCTGCCCAGAAAGGG GluGluGluGluGluGluGluGluGluGluGluAspAlaGluLeuGlyAspGluMetThrAspVal\* 1290 1320 1350 CCCTGCCCTAGACCCTGCCAGAAAAGGGGGGCTCTTCCCCCAGAGAAGTGGCTTGGAGGGAACTTCCCACTCCCATTGCC CCCA 1360 1410 1440 TTCCAGCCCTCTCTGCTAGAGGGTAGGAGAGAGCCTGGATCTCTGGCCCCAA CCCCACCAGACCTCATGCCCTGGACACTC TGAG 1470 1500 1530 TIGGCTCAGACTCTGCACTGGC CTGACCETT ACAACTGGCCTCCCCTTG GGTTCCTCCF TCAG 1560 1590 1620 GGCCAGGGCCTAACAGTGTT CCCTCGGCCCCACGGCCCATACTCAC TCACCTGAGGCTTCTCCCCCTCTCAACT IGTIG 1650 1680 1710 ATTICTITIGAGGGGTAAAAGA AGACCGAGTTCATTGAAGCAGAGATGGG GGTGAGG CTGT 1740 1770 1800 CACTGGCCCAGCAAGCAGAGGCGGGCAGGAGGATCTGGGCATCCTGAGCCCCTTCCC GGCTGGTAAGGCAACTGCTTGA TGTC 1830 1860 1890 CATCTGGGGAAGTGGAGATTAACCCTC CAGAC 1920 1950 1980 TEGTGEETTGEETETCAGGA GGCACAGTGGCTGGCCTTATGGAGTATGG AGGCCT TCCTCAGGAGGG GTGG 2010 2040 2070 GTCATCACCCTTTCTCACAC **CCCAATGAGCACTCAGCAGCATGGCTGAGACCTGGGG** IGACAGGCCTGCGCTC GATTA 2100 2130 2160 GGATGCTCTGGTATTCCTGGGGCCAGTTAAAATGGGTCAGTGAGGGCCT **JCCTCAA1** ACTA 2190 2220 2250 ACATTGAAGTCTTCCAGAAACCTCGAGGAGCTGGGCTAGATACTTCGAGAGTA GCACO GCCCRGICTIGTCCCCTCCTACCCCCAGATTZ 2280 2310 2340 ACCCCTCTCACTCTTGGGTTGGATGCTATGGGAATTACAACCCATCACTC GGAGGAGCCTGCTG TCTCC 2370 2400 2430 TGCTGAGGGATCCCAGAGAGGG GGTGCCCACCCCACAGGCCCTTTCCTGG CATGGAGCCAGGTGAAACCTGTCTGGCC TACCC 2460 2490 2520 ATTGGGTTCTTACTCCTTCACAACGGTCAGCACTCCTCCCAGCCCCCTGCCCACTGTTCTCAATAAAAATGTGAGTGGTGAAAAAAA
Fig. 9. Characterization of murine NN8-4 associated gene (NN8-4AG) and its putative CpG island. (A) Schematic representation of the genomic region flanking NN8-4. Above is NN fragment 8-4, used as a probe to isolate the genomic clone  $\lambda$ NN8-4-5. The gray box indicates the position of the RXRE. On the schematic  $\lambda$ NN8-4-5, exons are indicated with black boxes. Below is a representation of 1 kb surrounding NN8-4 with the RXRE and exon 1 indicated as gray and stippled boxes respectively and CpG dinucleotides represented by vertical bars. (B) Nucleotide sequence of the CpG island associated with NN8-4AG. The amino acid sequence of the first exon is indicated below the DNA sequence. The nucleotide corresponding to the furthest 5' transcriptional start site as determined by RACE analysis is indicated by an asterisk above the sequence. The RXRE and the CCAAT and GC boxes are underlined. The GenBank accession number for this sequence is U50384. (C) Comparison of the putative amino acid sequence of the first ten exons of the murine NN8-4AG gene product and the EST41159 protein. Identical amino acids are indicated by a vertical line, and similar amino acids are shown with two dots.



# ₿

1	TTGACCTTGAACTTCTGGTCCTCCCTGCCTCACCTCCTGAATGCAGAGGTTATAGGCAT
61	AGTEGGAATGETGOTTTTAAGEAGTGTTGTGGETCAAAGTTETGEAETCATGTOTTEAAA
121	ССАЛАТСТСТСССАЛАСАТАGЛАТАЛАЛАТGTTGCCACCAGAGGAGGGAAAAATTTTAA
181	ACCGAGTGAGCCCAGCATCCAACCAGGATGGAGGGTCAAAGCAAAAAAAA
241	1CTGGGTCTAAAAACTTTGTTCGGTGTTGGAGGTAATGACGAGGGGCTGCTTAAGCAGGA
301	Асловостослалсттттоссслосстоосатаслтастолслосстотстслалслосл
361	GACAGTGGGAAGAGCAACTATGGACACTTAAGAACACAGCTAGGATAGGCTGGAGGGTGG
421	GGGGTGGGGAGTAGGGGGTCTTCCCCTGAGCTACTCCATCAGCCGTCATTCAT
481	атессялсятялостясссяютсясясястассясялотссялосясяляютсяюсс
541	CAGGTTCCAC <u>CCAAT</u> CAAGCAACCAAGACACCAAAAGCCTTGAATTGCTAGCCACGTCCC
601	AGGEGGGGTAAGGTGGGGAAGGGAGGGCTCGCTGGCTCTGTGGGCGGGGCCTCCCGGGA
661	CO <mark>rgenteraggerter</mark> ganggertgeretangatggegetereteratgegerter Ketalerleserhetcyerepvel
721	tictictictgcutoggcutuggaccutuccutugggttccutugaagtccuttatutg PheSerPheCysValdlyValalaaspargalaargülySerValüluValargtytVal
781	GACAGCATCAAGGCGAGGCCAGGTCGGACCGGGGCCCGGAGAGCCACGCGGGGGAACCCAC AspSeriielys
841	GCTCACATTCTGGAGTCCGGGCCCCTCGGCGCCAGTCTGGTTGCTGCTTGGGCCCGGGGT
901	GCAGAGTCGGTCCTCGIGCCCAGGCTCGTGGCGATATCGCGCGGGGGGGAGGAAGAAAGC
961	CCGGTCCACTOGCGGGTGGCCGTGCTGCTGCTGCCTGGGTGGAGTTGAGGCTCTGGGTA

- 1021 GACCTOGGGTTGAGGGATATCCTGGGCCAGATTAAAGCCAAGGCTATCTTGGTTAGGCTG
- 1081 GGGCTTAGTTAGCTACTATTCTGGCGGTAGTGAGGGAGTACTTAGCCGAGG

# С

niti-6A3 hEIT61159	1	MAABHCDVF SFCVGVADRAAGSVEVEVEVDE LEXEL FATGL I BEGET IF TERFUNAAGF I IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII
n981-8AG hEST41159	61	
n991-6AG hJR#T61159	121	AFCRI AAAAGYNGI LCPGPSHO- PRIPURT GEMEGYNYP PETRS DE MAGNATYRG Afcri Aaagyngi LCPGPSHO- PRIPURT GEMEGYNYP PETRS DE MAGNATYRG Afcri Attgyngy LCPGPSGOOT APLARIZ GEMEG DYYPPETRS DE MAGNATYRG
<b>NN-6</b> AG h <b>EST</b> 61159	181	-DROMWARL FINITESHTANGEGA IVIGULUKURUFULGU FILLGU FIELAL FIERALEUN FINI IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII
#101-8AG hE#T41159	240	GFASLFALVGTNOOG LATSSLEGWWAACDALEWTPOOR BOLDTFTDDLTHDIEDAATGEFT GFASLFALVGTNOOG LATSSLEGWWAACDALEWTPOOR BOLDTFTDDLTHDIEDAATGEFT
<b>nMI-6</b> AG h <b>EST</b> 61159	300	NCEASGLFVLQSC NCEASGLFVLQSCOF

downstream of the NN8-4 fragment border for an additional 12 amino acids before NN8-4AG diverges into an intronic sequence. A further nine exons of NN8-4AG were mapped onto  $\lambda$ NN8-4-5 with the aid of the EST41159 probe (Fig. 9A) and were subsequently sequenced for comparison with the human cDNA. Comparison of the amino acid sequence of the putative gene product coded by for the first ten exons of NN8-4AG with the EST41159 translation product reveals a level of amino acid identity of 86% (92%) similarity) between the human and mouse clones (Fig. 9C). Rapid amplification of cDNA ends (RACE) was performed on mouse brain RNA using primers located in putative exons 1, 2 and 3 of the NN8-4AG transcript. A series of start sites was identified in the region of the RXRE, and the longest of these localized on the first G of the first half site, 33 bp upstream of the 5' most methionine start codon. No TATA box is evident upstream of these start sites, consistent with the presence of multiple transcriptional initiation sites (Fromm and Berg, 1983). A perfect consensus CCAAT box is located 110 bp upstream of the cluster of start sites identified by RACE analysis. In addition, two GC boxes, or potential Sp1 binding sites, are located 12 bp and 56 bp upstream of the cluster of transcriptional start sites. These results place the NN8-4 RXRE within a CpG island in the vicinity of the multiple transcriptional start sites of NN8-4AG.

NN8-4 RXRE is bound by RXR/RAR heterodimers and RXR homodimers. As can be seen from Table 2, the NN fragment 8-4 binds specifically to *in vitro*-transcribed and -translated RXR/RAR and confers RA induced activation on TKLUC in transient transfection in P19 EC cells. It is highly likely that the consensus DR1 present within NN8-4 is responsible for this activity. To verify this notion, an oligonucleotide encoding this sequence was synthesized (NN8-4 RXRE), end-labeled and analyzed in gel mobility shift assays with *in vitro*-transcribed and -translated receptors. The NN8-4 RXRE-RXR/RAR complex is effectively inhibited by competition with excess unlabeled NN8-4 RXRE,  $\beta$ RARE (a DR5), and CRBPII RXRE (a DR1) (Fig. 10). A similar amount of unlabeled nonspecific competitor does not interfere with binding. When RXR alone is



Fig. 10. Binding of RXR/RAR heterodimers and RXR homodimers to the NN8-4 RXRE. Endlabeled NN8-4RXRE was incubated with rabbit reticulocyte lysate (total 4  $\mu$ l) programmed with human RARa1 and/or murine RXR $\beta$  mRNA. Probe was also incubated with the same amount of unprogrammed lysate as a control (lane 1). Cold competitors were used at a molar excess of 150-fold. NS indicates the addition of a nonspecific competitor oligonucleotide. 9cRA was added to the binding reaction to a final concentration of 1  $\mu$ M. The arrow indicates the specific complexes while the star indicates a nonspecific complex.

combined with labeled NN8-4 RXRE a shifted band is visible, albeit with much less intensity than that of the band seen with both RXR/RAR. With the addition of ligand 9cRA the amount of probe bound by RXR is increased to a level greater than that seen with the RXR/RAR heterodimer. This enhancement of RXR homodimer binding to a DR1 has been documented previously (Medin et al., 1994; Zhang et al., 1992). The RXRE coded for in NN8-4 interacts with receptors in a manner similar to previously characterized RXREs binding both RXR/RAR heterodimer and RXR homodimer/9cRA with high affinity (Mangelsdorf et al., 1991; Zhang et al., 1992).

The NN8-4AG transcript is directly upregulated by 9cRA in F9 cells. Our functional analyses suggest that the RXRE associated with NN8-4AG may be biologically relevant. As the human cDNA and murine NN8-4AG sequence obtained from genomic clones were highly conserved, we used EST41159 to probe RNA derived from F9 EC cells at various stages of RA treatment. A transcript of approximately 2.75 kb was present at low basal levels, and was upregulated in the presence of RA (Fig. 11). Addition of either atRA or 9cRA results in a four- to fivefold increase in the expression of NN8-4AG after 24 h of treatment (Fig. 11, lanes 4 and 8). Although the basal level of NN8-4AG mRNA varied by about 2 fold in F9 EC cells under these culture conditions, it is evident that upregulation occurred more quickly in the presence of atRA (Fig. 11, lane 2). However, it is likely that this at RA-induced gene expression is not a primary effect, as pretreatment with the protein synthesis inhibitor cycloheximide (Cx) negates the increase in expression seen at 12 h of treatment with the retinoid (Fig. 11, lane 11). No additional protein synthesis is necessary for the upregulation upon 9cRA treatment, as 12 h levels with Cx and 9cRA are similar to those with 9cRA alone (Fig. 11, lane 10). Although NN8-4AG is responsive to both atRA and 9cRA, it appears that activation with these ligands occurs via two different pathways. The Northern blot was stripped and probed with genes known to be directly regulated by RA, RARβ and CRABPII (Fig. 11). As has been demonstrated previously, RAR $\beta$  is upregulated in response to both atRA and



Fig. 11. Northern Analysis of NN8-4AG mRNA. EST41159 was used to probe total RNA derived from F9 EC cells which had been grown in DMEM supplemented with charcoal stripped/UV treated serum. RNA was isolated at the indicated times after RA treatment. Retinoids were added to a concentration of 1  $\mu$ M. Cycloheximide (Cx) was added to a final concentration of 10  $\mu$ g per ml, one hour prior to RA treatment. For time 0 samples, Cx was added one hour before the cells were harvested. RAR $\beta$  and CRABPII, genes known to be induced by RA, were used as controls. An oligonucleotide hybridizing to the 18S ribosomal RNA was used to normalize for RNA loading.

9cRA (de Thé et al., 1989; Durand et al., 1992). 9cRA activates expression of CRABPII more effectively than atRA (Durand et al., 1992; Roy et al., 1995). Although expression levels of both mRNAs at 12 h with retinoid and Cx treatment indicate that upregulation occurs with no additional protein synthesis, RAR $\beta$  is "superinduced" by a combination of 9cRA plus Cx, while CRABPII is "superinduced" only in the presence of atRA and Cx. This observation provides further evidence that the expression of these two genes is controlled by distinct retinoid signaling pathways.

**Evolutionary conservation of EST41159 protein.** The putative gene product of the human homologue of NN8-4AG, EST41159, was analyzed with the BLASTX program and the databases of the National Center for Biotechnology Information (Altschul et al., 1990). The predicted protein sequence of EST41159 showed significant similarity with that of a yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) putative polypeptide of, as yet, unknown function (accession number P38890). The similarity corresponds to amino acids 308 to 381 in the human gene product and 333 to 403 in the yeast protein with a P value of 8.95e-07 (Fig. 12). This region also shares identity with the C-terminal region of the *Drosophila trithorax* protein (Mozer and Dawid, 1989), a member of a group of proteins which are thought to participate in chromatin remodeling (Orlando and Paro, 1995).

Yeast P38890	333	SFINHDCEPNAYIEQVEEHEELRLHARKPIKKGEQIRITYVNPLHGVRLRRRELRVNWGFLCQCDRCQNELS
EST41159	308	SCCNHSCVPNAETSFPENNFLLHVTALEDIKPGBEICISYLDCCORERSRHSRHKILRENYLFVCSCPKCLAEAD
trithorax	3696	RFINHCCEPNCYSKVVDILGHKHIIIFAVRRIVQGEELTYDYKFPFEDEKIPCSCGCKRCRKYLN

.

Fig. 12. Comparison of the predicted amino acid sequence of human EST41159 to a yeast putative protein and to the *Drosophila trithorax* gene product. Amino acids that are identical are indicated by a vertical line (I), while conservative changes are designated by a plus sign (+). GenBank accession numbers for the putative yeast and *trithorax* proteins are P38890 and Z31725, respectively.

#### DISCUSSION

To be physiologically relevant, the search for transcription factor binding sites should concentrate not only on DNA fragments located in the regulatory region of genes but also on transcription units actively transcribed in the tissue or cells of interest. The previous demonstration that "active" chromatin located within CpG islands can be separated from bulk inactive chromatin and that a specific fraction of nucleosome-free DNA associated with these islands contains the promoter region of transcribed genes (Tazi and Bird, 1990), provides an elegant way to identify pertinent genomic fragments. These small DNA fragments (NN fragments) represent a highly purified fraction of the genome and can, in theory, be selected further for their ability to bind to transcription factor complexes. On the basis of these premises, we have developed a method for the isolation of RXR/RAR binding sites from CpG island DNA, isolated 12 RA response elements and characterized in detail a novel RA-responsive gene associated with one of them.

The advantages of the CpG-SAAB method are numerous for exploring the molecular mechanisms of retinoid receptors and other transcription factors. First, in contrast to such subtraction screening strategies as differential display PCR, only genes directly regulated by the receptors are cloned. Second, because NN fragments are derived from active chromatin, genes primed to respond to retinoids in the appropriate tissue or cell line will be preferentially identified. Third, the promoter and/or the regulatory region of these genes is likely to be identified first, thus providing molecular tools in the form of natural promoters and enhancers to study the action of retinoid receptors. Fourth, since this strategy targets the promoters of genes, the 5' ends of the associated transcripts, which are a region of cDNAs that is often difficult to isolate, are in many cases likely to be cloned first. Finally, CpG-SAAB can be applied to any combination of transcription factor and cell line or tissue of interest. A specific set of responsive genes is expected to be identified for each combination of transcription factor and starting chromatin.

Although not all genes are associated with CpG islands, all housekeeping and a significant fraction (40%) of tissue specific genes are (Antequera and Bird, 1993). Since CpG island DNA composes approximately 2% of the genome, the bulk of genomic DNA is excluded from the selection. In the case of the retinoid receptors at least, it may be prudent to avoid the use of naked DNA as starting material for binding site selection as members of a major *Alu* repeat subfamily and major (gamma) satellite DNA repeats contain RAREs (Rudert et al., 1995; Vansant and Reynolds, 1995) Although some of these repeats may play a role in regulating the expression of nearby genes, these elements may also interfere with the isolation of other relevant binding sites. because of their numbers and affinity for the receptors. According to preliminary analysis of a number of the RARE-containing NN fragments by genomic Southern blotting, these fragments are derived from single copy genomic DNA, a situation previously documented for the CpG island fraction of the genome (Cross et al., 1994).

We chose to use murine EC cell lines as starting material for CpG-SAAB. F9 EC cells differentiate into blastocyst-like endoderm cells upon RA treatment and provide a model system in which the genetic cascade following retinoid treatment mimics early development. CpG-SAAB enabled us to isolate a population of DNA fragments containing a variety of RAREs and RXREs. The sequencing of 120 clones resulted in the discovery of 26 that contained functional RAREs and RXREs. Fragments that did not contain any obvious consensus RA response elements were likely selected by proteins present in the RRL and, in practice, their number could be reduced by introducing an additional purification step such as immuno-precipitating with specific receptor antibodies.

The majority of the selected NN fragments containing the response elements bind the RXR/RAR heterodimer with an affinity comparable to that of the fragment containing the potent  $\beta$ RARE. Analysis of these fragments shows that complex elements are relatively common but also provides further evidence that the most potent RAREs are of the DR5

type (Table 2). Surprisingly, low total transcriptional activity was generated when NN8-3, a fragment containing a consensus DR5 with half sites of sequence GGGTCA and AGGTCA, was tested in the presence of RA. On the other hand, NN7-91, which contains a DR5 with the same half site sequences but in the opposite order, confers a high level of RA-induced transcriptional activity on TKLUC. A number of factors could be responsible for this difference in activities. The composition of the half sites, spacer and nucleotides 5' of the upstream half site may be critical in the determination of transcriptional activity imparted by the receptors. For example, several of the nuclear receptors which bind as monomers have been shown to require an A-T rich region extending 5' from the core half site (Giguère et al., 1994; Harding and Lazar, 1993; Wilson et al., 1991). If a monomeric receptor binding site is embodied within a RARE, monomeric nuclear receptors may interfere with the binding of RXR/RAR heterodimer complexes (Tini et al., 1995). Finally, the context of the RARE within the genomic fragment itself may be critical, as the sequences flanking the RAREs may contain binding sites for additional transcription factors which may modulate receptor activity (Nakshatri and Chambon, 1994). The cell type specific activity of the NN-RAREs may be imparted by the presence or absence of these factors within a particular cell type. The identification of a large collection of natural RAREs and RXREs by CpG-SAAB and their in-depth characterization will allow us to test these parameters in a systematic manner.

NN fragments containing functionally competent RAREs identified by CpG-SAAB can subsequently be used to isolate large flanking genomic DNA fragments containing the associated CpG island. Cross et al. (Cross et al., 1994) have demonstrated that cloned CpG islands can be used to detect transcripts of expressed genes at a relatively high frequency. We indeed observed that a genomic fragment containing NN7-91 detects both a conserved locus in mouse and human by Zoo blot analysis (Fig. 7A). In addition to these traditional methods of searching for transcripts we are also focusing on sequence

and database analysis. Particularly useful to this type of project are the EST databases. By software trapping, we have been able to quickly identify a transcript associated with one of the retinoid receptors-selected NN fragments (NN8-4). While the proximity of the RXRE contained in NN8-4 to the transcriptional start site of the associated gene (NN8-4AG) allowed for the identification of this transcribed sequence, sequencing of genomic DNA flanking the remaining selected NN fragments (1 to 2 kb in each direction) would greatly increase the probability of finding a match.

We have shown that the NN8-4AG transcript is differentially up-regulated by atRA and 9cRA (Fig. 11). Treatment of F9 EC cells with either atRA or 9cRA leads to an induction of the expression of the NN8-4AG gene, but activation by atRA seems to require the synthesis of additional factor(s). We have demonstrated that the NN8-4 fragment contains a DR1 RXRE that is recognized with high affinity by RXR/RAR heterodimers and by RXR homodimers in the presence of 9cRA and is able to confer RAresponsiveness to the TK promoter (Fig. 10 and Table 2). It can therefore be assumed that the 9cRA response is mediated via the DR1 RXRE, either through RXR homodimers (Zhang et al., 1992), RXR/RAR heterodimers, or a heterodimer complex in which RXR acts as a 9cRA-responsive partner to another member of the nuclear receptor family (for examples, see Kliewer et al., 1992; Perlmann and Jansson, 1995; Willy et al., 1995). Since 9cRA can also bind RAR it is possible that ligand occupation by both of the receptors is required for the 9cRA response. Conflicting results concerning the ability of RXR to bind ligand in the context of a RXR/RAR heterodimer have been obtained in studies with receptor-specific ligands (Apfel et al., 1995; Forman et al., 1995; Kurokawa et al., 1994; Roy et al., 1995). Further study will be required to address the nature of the dimer mediating the 9cRA response of NN8-4AG. It is not yet known whether the protein synthesis-dependent response to atRA also involves the DR1 element.

In spite of sequence analysis and database searches, the function of the novel gene product coded for by EST41159 and NN8-4AG is unknown. This result is not unexpected, as up to 50% of ESTs from human brain are unique and do not show significant similarity to proteins with known biological functions (Adams et al., 1993). However, the observed similarity between the C-terminal domain of EST41159, a putative yeast protein, and the *Drosophila trithorax* gene product does delineate an evolutionarily conserved domain. This region of the *trithorax* gene product has been previously shown to share similarity with a number of proteins, some that are known to be associated with chromatin and others with unknown functions (Stassen et al., 1995). The region of similarity we have delineated is not as extensive as that previously defined, however; like the other homologous proteins, the motif lies at or near the C terminus of otherwise non-homologous proteins. The yeast putative protein (P38890) mentioned in this study and EST41159 share regions of homology throughout their entire sequences, suggesting they are more closely related to one another.

The CpG-SAAB method described here allowed us to isolate a subset of retinoid receptor binding sites and identify a novel RA-responsive gene with an as-yet-unknown function. The characterization of a large number of genes associated with these elements will hopefully help chart the genetic pathways implicated in the early response of EC cells to RA and improve our understanding of the mechanisms regulating cellular differentiation induced by hormonal stimuli.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank A. Matthyssen, G. Flock, and A. Moraitis for technical assistance, Dr. J. Trasler for the 18S oligonucleotide sequence and hybridization protocol, and Dr. R. Heyman for providing 9cRA. We thank Drs. R. Sladek and L. D. B. McBroom and other members of the Giguère laboratory as well as Dr. A. Nepveu for comments on the manuscript. This research was supported by grants from the National Cancer Institute of Canada and the Medical Research Council of Canada (MRC). V. G. is a MRC Scientist and M.S. is a recipient of a MRC studentship.

# REFERENCES

Adams, M., Kerlavage, A. R., Fields, C., and Venter, J. C. (1993). 3400 new expressed sequence tags identify diversity of transcripts in human brain. Nat. Genet. 4, 256-267.

Altschul, S. F., Gish, W., Miller, W., Myers, E. W., and Lipman, D. J. (1990). Basic local alignment search tool. J. Mol. Biol. 215, 403-410.

Antequera, F., and Bird, A. (1993). Number of CpG islands and genes in human and mouse. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90, 11995-11999.

Antequera, F., Boyes, J., and Bird, A. P. (1990). High levels of de novo methylation and altered chromatin structure at CpG islands. Cell 62, 503-514.

Antequera, F., Macleod, D., and Bird, A. P. (1989). Specific protection of methylated CpGs in mammalian nuclei. Cell 58, 509-517.

Apfel, C. M., Kamber, M., Klaus, M., Mohr, P., Keidel, S., and LeMotte, P. K. (1995). Enhancement of HL-60 differentiation by a new class of retinoids with selective activity on retinoid X receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 30765-30772.

Bento Soares, M., de Fatima Bonaldo, M., Jelene, P., Su, L., Lawton, L., and Efstratiadis, A. (1994). Construction and characterization of a normalized cDNA library. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91, 9228-9232.

Bigler, J., and Eisenman, R. N. (1994). Isolation of a thyroid hormone-responsive gene by immunoprecipitation of thyroid hormone receptor-DNA complexes. Mol. Cell. Biol. 14, 7621-7632.

Bigler, J., and Eisenman, R. N. (1995). Novel location and function of a thyroid hormone response element. EMBO J. 14, 5710-5723.

Bird, A. P. (1987). CpG islands as gene markers in the vertebrate nucleus. Trends Genet. 3, 342-347.

Bird, A. P. (1986). CpG-rich islands and the function of DNA methylation. Nature 321, 209-213.

i

Blackwell, T. K., and Weintraub, H. (1990). Differences and similarities in DNA-binding preferences of MyoD and E2A protein complexes revealed by binding site selection. Science 250, 1104-1110.

Boguski, M. S., Lowe, T. M. J., and Tolstoshev, C. M. (1993). dbEST - database for "expressed sequence tags". Nat. Genet. 4, 332-333.

Bouillet, P., Oulad-Abdelghani, M., Vicaire, S., Garnier, J.-M., Schuhbaur, B., Dollé, P., and Chambon, P. (1995). Efficient cloning of cDNAs of retinoic acid-responsive genes in P19 embryonal carcinoma cells and characterization of a novel mouse gene, Stra1 (mouse LERK-2/Eplg2). Dev. Biol. 170, 420-433.

Boyes, J., and Bird, A. (1991). DNA methylation inhibits transcription indirectly via a methyl-CpG binding protein. Cell 64, 1123-1134.

Chambon, P. (1994). The retinoid signaling pathway: molecular and genetics analyses. Sem. Cell. Biol. 5, 115-125.

Cross, S. H., Charlton, J. A., Nan, X., and Bird, A. P. (1994). Purification of CpG islands using a methylated DNA binding column. Nat. Genet. 6, 236-244.

de Thé, H., del Mar Vivanco-Ruiz, M., Tiollais, P., Stunneberg, H., and Dejean, A. (1990). Identification of a retinoic acid responsive element in the retinoic acid receptor  $\beta$  gene. Nature 343, 177-180.

de Thé, H., del Mar Vivanco-Ruiz, M., Tiollais, P., Stunneberg, H., and Dejean, A. (1990). Identification of a retinoic acid responsive element in the retinoic acid receptor ß gene. Nature 343, 177-180.

de Thé, H., Marchio, A., Tiollais, P., and Dejean, A. (1989). Differential expression and ligand regulation of retinoic acid receptor  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  genes. EMBO J. 8, 429-433.

Dony, C., Kessel, M., and Gruss, P. (1985). Post-transcriptional control of myc and p53 expression during differentiation of the embryonal carcinoma cell line F9. Nature 317, 636-639.

Durand, B., Saunders, M., Leroy, P., Leid, M., and Chambon, P. (1992). All-trans and 9cis retinoic acid induction of CRABPII transcription is mediated by RAR-RXR heterodimers bound to DR1 and DR2 repeated motifs. Cell 71, 73-85.

Forman, B. M., Umesono, K., Chen, J., and Evans, R. M. (1995). Unique response pathways are established by allosteric interactions among nuclear hormone receptors. Cell 81, 541-550.

Fromm, M., and Berg, P. (1983). Transcription in vivo from SV40 early promoter deletion mutants without repression by large T antigen. J. Mol. Appl. Genet. 2, 127-135.

Gardiner, K., and Mural, R. J. (1995). Getting the message: identifying transcribed sequences. Trends Genet. 11, 77-79.

Giguère, V. (1994). Retinoic acid receptors and cellular retinoid binding proteins: complex interplay in retinoid signaling. Endocr. Rev. 15, 61-79.

Giguère, V., Shago, M., Zirngibl, R., Tate, P., Rossant, J., and Varmuza, S. (1990). Identification of a novel isoform of the retinoic acid receptor  $\gamma$  expressed in the mouse embryo. Mol. Cell. Biol. 10, 2335-2340.

Giguère, V., Tini, M., Flock, G., Ong, E. S., Evans, R. M., and Otulakowski, G. (1994). Isoform-specific amino-terminal domains dictate DNA-binding properties of ROR $\alpha$ , a novel family of orphan nuclear receptors. Genes Dev. 8, 538-553.

Gould, A. P., Brookman, J. L., Strutt, D. I., and White, R. A. H. (1990). Targets of homeotic gene control in *Drosophila*. Nature 348, 308-312.

Gudas, L. J., Sporn, M. B., and Roberts, A. B. (1994). Cellular biology and biochemistry of the retinoids. In The Retinoids, M. B. Sporn, A. B. Roberts and D. S. Goodman, eds. (New York: Raven Press), pp. 443-520.

Harding, H. P., and Lazar, M. A. (1993). The orphan receptor Rev-ErbA $\alpha$  activates transcription via a novel response element. Mol. Cell. Biol. 13, 3113-3121.

Jones-Villeneuve, E. M. V., McBurney, M., Rogers, K. A., and Kalnins, V. I. J. (1982). Retinoic acid induces embryonal carcinoma cells to differentiate into neurons and glia cells. J. Cell Biol. 94, 253-262.

Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. (1989). Whole genome PCR: application to the identification of sequences bound by regulatory proteins. Nucleic Acids Res. 17, 3645-3653.

Kliewer, S. A., Umesono, K., Noonan, D. J., Heyman, R. A., and Evans, R. M. (1992). Convergence of 9-cis retinoic acid and peroxisome proliferator signalling pathways through heterodimer formation of their receptors. Nature 358, 771-774.

Kurokawa, R., DiRenzo, J., Boehm, M., Sugarman, J., Gloss, B., Rosenfeld, M. G., Heyman, R. A., and Glass, C. K. (1994). Regulation of retinoid signalling by receptor polarity and allosteric control of ligand binding. Nature 371, 528-531.

Lewis, J. D., Meehan, R. R., Henzel, W. J., Maurer-Fogy, I., Jeppesen, P., Klein, F., and Bird, A. (1992). Purification, sequence, and cellular localization of a novel chromosomal protein that binds to methylated DNA. Cell 69, 905-914.

Mangelsdorf, D. J., Umesono, K., and Evans, R. M. (1994). The retinoid receptors. In The Retinoids, M. B. Sporn, A. B. Roberts and D. S. Goodman, eds. (New York: Raven Press), pp. 319-349.

Mangelsdorf, D. J., Umesono, K., Kliewer, S. A., Borgmeyer, U., Ong, E. S., and Evans, R. M. (1991). A direct repeat in the cellular retinol binding protein type II gene confers differential regulation by RXR and RAR. Cell 66, 555-561.

Medin, J. A., Minucci, S., Driggers, P. H., Lee, I. J., and Ozato, K. (1994). Quantitative increases in DNA binding affinity and positional effects determine 9-cis retinoic acid induced activation of the retinoid X receptor  $\beta$  homodimer. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 105, 27-35.

Mozer, B. A., and Dawid, I. B. (1989). Cloning and molecular characterization of the *trithorax* locus of *Drosophila* melanogaster. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA *86*, 3738-3742.

Nakshatri, H., and Chambon, P. (1994). The directly repeated RG(G/T)TCA motifs of the rat and mouse cellular retinol-binding protein II genes are promiscuous binding sites for RAR, RXR, HNF-4, and ARP-1 homo- and heterodimers. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 890-902.

Orlando, V., and Paro, R. (1995). Chromatin multiprotein complexes involved in the maintenance of transcription patterns. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 5, 174-179.

Perlmann, T., and Jansson, L. (1995). A novel pathway for vitamin A signaling mediated by RXR heterodimerization with NGFI-B and NURR1. Genes Dev. 9, 769-782.

Richard, S., and Zingg, H. H. (1991). Identification of a retinoic acid response element in the human oxytocin promoter. J. Biol. Chem. 266, 21428-21433.

Roy, B., Taneja, R., and Chambon, P. (1995). Synergistic activation of retinoic acid (RA)-responsive genes and induction of embryonal carcinoma cell differentiation by an RA receptor  $\alpha$  (RAR $\alpha$ )-, RAR $\beta$ -, or RAR $\gamma$ -selective ligand in combination with a retinoid X receptor-specific ligand. Mol. Cell. Biol. 15, 6481-6487.

Rudert, F., Bronner, S., Garnier, J. M., and Dollé, P. (1995). Transcripts from opposite strands of gamma satellite DNA are differentially expressed during mouse development. Mammalian Genome 6(2), 76-83.

Sporn, M. B., Roberts, A. B., and Goodman, D. S. (1994). The Retinoids (New York: Raven Press).

Stassen, M. J., Bailey, D., Nelson, S., Chinwalla, V., and Harte, P. J. (1995). The *Drosophila trithorax* proteins contain a novel variant of the nuclear receptor type DNA binding domain and an ancient conserved motif found in other chromosomal proteins. Mech. Dev. 52, 209-223.

Strickland, S., and Mahdavi, V. (1978). The induction of differentiation in teratocarcinoma stem cells by retinoic acid. Cell 15, 393-403.

Sucov, H. M., Murakami, K. K., and Evans, R. M. (1990). Characterization of an autoregulated response element in the mouse retinoic acid receptor type  $\beta$  gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87, 5392-5396.

Tazi, J., and Bird, A. (1990). Alternative chromatin structure at CpG islands. Cell 60, 909-920.

Tini, M., Fraser, R. A., and Giguère, V. (1995). Functional interactions between retinoic acid-related orphan nuclear receptor (ROR $\alpha$ ) and the retinoic acid receptors in the regulation of the  $\gamma$ F-crystallin promoter. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 20156-20161.

Tini, M., Otulakowski, G., Breitman, M. L., Tsui, L.-T., and Giguère, V. (1993). An everted repeat mediates retinoic acid induction of the  $\gamma$ F-crystallin gene: evidence of a direct role for retinoids in lens development. Genes Dev. 7, 295-307.

Umesono, K., Giguère, V., Glass, C. K., Rosenfeld, M. G., and Evans, R. M. (1988). Retinoic acid and thyroid hormone induce gene expression through a common responsive element. Nature 336, 262-265.

Vansant, F., and Reynolds, W. F. (1995). The consensus sequence of a major Alu subfamily contains a functional retinoic acid response element. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92, 8229-8233.

Vasios, G., Mader, S., Gold, J. D., Leid, M., Lutz, Y., Gaub, M. P., Chambon, P., and Gudas, L. (1991). The late retinoic acid induction of laminin B1 gene transcription involves RAR binding to the responsive element. EMBO J. 10, 1149-1158.

Willy, P. J., Umesono, K., Ong, E. S., Evans, R. M., Heyman, R. A., and Mangelsdorf, D. J. (1995). LXR, a nuclear receptor that defines a distinct retinoid response pathway. Genes Dev. 9, 1033-1045.

Wilson, T. E., Fahrner, T. J., Johnson, M., and Milbrandt, J. (1991). Identification of the DNA binding site for NGFI-B by genetic selection in yeast. Science 252, 1296-1300.

Zhang, X.-K., Lehmann, J., Hoffmann, B., Dawson, M. I., Cameron, J., Graupner, G., Hermann, T., Tran, P., and Pfahl, M. (1992). Homodimer formation of retinoid X receptor induced by 9-cis retinoic acid. Nature 358, 587-591.

Chapter 4

**General Discussion** 

#### Summary

Hormonal signals regulate the transcription of many eukaryotic genes. One class of hormones is comprised of small lipid-soluble molecules that interact directly with ligand-inducible transcription factors in the nucleus. Retinoic acids, biologically active forms of vitamin A, are members of this class of hormones. Although the physiological response to RA can be attributed to the activity of a network of target genes regulated by the retinoid receptors, it is also apparent that numerous positive and negative factors contribute to the highly controlled and graded functional response of different cells and tissues to retinoids during development, growth, or differentiation.

One of the cellular factors that opposes nuclear receptor function is calreticulin. As presented in Chapter 2, by binding to a conserved sequence in the DNA-binding domain of the retinoid receptors, calreticulin can interfere with the ability of the receptors to bind to RAREs and to induce gene transcription. Overexpression of calreticulin in P19 EC cells inhibits RA-induced neuronal differentiation, while downregulation of expression of calreticulin by antisense cDNA expression results in a more rapid progression of these cells toward the differentiated state (Dedhar et al., 1994 and Chapter 2). I will address four topics stemming from and related to these studies: (1) the effect of calreticulin on RA signaling in a calreticulin null background, (2) further investigation into the presence of calreticulin in the nucleus, (3) the possibility that calcium plays a role in the RA response in P19 cells, and (4) implications of calreticulin/receptor interactions.

In order to dissect the cellular response to RA, it will be necessary to isolate and characterize a battery of genes which are targets for RARs and RXRs. The development of a method (CpG-SAAB) to isolate RARE-containing fragments from CpG island regions of the genome constitutes a step towards this goal. In this general discussion I will make comments on and offer suggestions for the improvement of CpG-SAAB. One of the most time-consuming aspects of CpG-SAAB concerns the isolation of genes

associated with the NN-RARE fragments. An approach which employs complementary strategies will be proposed. The NN fragments described in Chapter 3 have been tested for their capacity to function as RA response elements. These genomic fragments provide useful tools to further study promoter context- and response element-dependent influences on the transcriptional activation activities of the retinoid receptors. Relevant experiments in the continuing characterization of the RA responsive gene NN8-4AG will be proposed in this chapter.

## **1** Modulation of the RA response by calreticulin

#### 1.1 Effect of calreticulin on RA signaling in a calreticulin null background

There are varied reports on the effect of overexpression of calreticulin on nuclear receptor activity in transiently transfected cells. Calreticulin expression inhibits GR-, AR- and VDR-mediated transcriptional activation of a corresponding target reporter gene (Burns et al., 1994; Dedhar et al., 1994; Wheeler et al., 1995). However, little or no effect on PPAR/RXR mediated transactivation was seen with elevated levels of calreticulin (Winrow et al., 1995). The overexpression of calreticulin did not completely inhibit RA activation in the transient transfections (see Chapter 2). It is possible that such discrepancies are due to varying endogenous calreticulin content in cell lines used in these experiments. To circumvent such a problem, it would be ideal to examine the effect of various calreticulin levels on RA-induced gene expression in a calreticulin null background. Embryonic stem cells in which calreticulin has been eliminated by gene targeting are now available (S. Dedhar and R. St.-Arnaud, personal communication). In these cells, a dose response curve of calreticulin inhibition of RXR/RAR heterodimer, RXR homodimer, and other nuclear receptors abilities to transactivate through cognate reporter vectors can be established.

#### 1.2 Further studies on the nuclear localization of calreticulin

In order to perform a physiological role in the modulation of nuclear receptor activity, calreticulin must gain access to the nucleus. Most evidence indicates that calreticulin is a resident ER protein (Michalak et al., 1992), including the presence of a signal sequence and a KDEL retention signal. Despite this, in some cells calreticulin has been shown to localize to the nucleus (Dedhar, 1994; Dedhar et al., 1994; Opas et al., 1991) and also to the cytoplasm (Leung-Hagesteijn et al., 1994; Rojiani et al., 1991). Several explanations have been proposed for the localization of calreticulin to the cytoplasm (Dedhar, 1994). Two isoforms of the protein may exist, one without ER targeting signals. Alternatively, elevated levels of calreticulin might lead to saturation of the KDEL receptor on the ER membrane with subsequent escape of calreticulin into the Golgi apparatus. Once outside the ER, the putative nuclear localization signal (NLS) (Michalak et al., 1992) may play a role in transporting calreticulin to the nucleus. Alternatively, it is possible that calreticulin could be conveyed to the nucleus as part of a complex with a protein that has a functional NLS.

The putative nuclear localization signal (PPKKIKDPD) of calreticulin is located in the central P domain of the protein (Michalak et al., 1992). Although not a perfect match, the putative NLS of calreticulin more closely resembles the NLS of SV40 T antigen (Kalderon et al., 1984) than bipartite nuclear localization signals (Dingwall and Laskey, 1991). The capacity of this sequence to serve as a NLS could be examined by addressing two questions. First, is the proposed sequence necessary for targeting of calreticulin to the nucleus, and second, is the sequence capable of directing a non-nuclear protein to the nucleus? The first question can be addressed by site-specific mutagenesis combined with immunofluorescent microscopy. In studies using the SV40 large T antigen, the minimal sequence that is critical for nuclear localization has been defined as the sequence PKKKRKV (Kalderon et al., 1984; Kalderon et al., 1984; Lanford and Butel, 1984). Particularly important in this and other proteins with defined nuclear targeting sequences are clusters of basic residues (Dingwall and Laskey, 1986). Each of the basic residues within the putative NLS of calreticulin could be modified by sitedirected mutagenesis. Comparisons between the localization of the resultant protein with intact calreticulin would best be examined in the calreticulin -/- embryonic stem cells. In addition, the putative calreticulin NLS can be linked to a normally cytosolic protein such as pyruvate kinase and the subsequent compartmentalization of the protein visualized by immunofluorescence (Kalderon et al., 1984).

1

### 1.3 Does the RA response in P19 EC cells involve or modify a $Ca^{2+}$ response?

Calreticulin was first identified as a calcium binding protein. It is possible that the over- or underexpression of calreticulin in the stable P19 EC cell lines altered RAregulated gene expression due to an effect on  $Ca^{2+}$  signaling. We have shown preliminary evidence in Chapter 2 that intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  levels of both control and calreticulin over-expressing P19 cells are essentially the same when analyzed with the fluorescent probe Fura-2. Calreticulin is synthesized with a signal sequence and harbors a KDEL retention sequence (Michalak et al., 1992), localizing primarily to the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Here calreticulin has been proposed to participate in the Ca<sup>2+</sup> buffering capacity of the intracellular inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) sensitive, rapidly exchanging Ca<sup>2+</sup> stores (Bastianutto et al., 1995; Liu et al., 1994) and may play an active role in regulation of  $Ca^{2+}$  influx into these stores (Camacho and Lechleiter, 1995; Mery et al., 1996). Ca<sup>2+</sup> is released from these endoplasmic reticulum stores upon activation of IP<sub>3</sub> receptors (IP<sub>3</sub>R) by IP<sub>3</sub>, resulting in the regulation of many cellular processes (Berridge, 1993). The conversion of phosphatidylinositol (4,5)-bisphosphate to IP<sub>3</sub> by phospholipase C (PLC) occurs in response to ligand stimulation of various surface receptors including G protein-linked receptors and tyrosine kinase-linked receptors (Berridge, 1993). In contrast, since the retinoic acid receptors are constitutively nuclear and regulate gene expression directly, it seems unlikely that the RA receptors utilize IP3

formation and intracellular calcium release. RA treatment does not result in generation of IP<sub>3</sub> or release of  $Ca^{2+}$  in human HaCaT keratinocytes (Rosenbach et al., 1993). RAinduced formation of IP<sub>3</sub> and release of intracellular calcium has been reported in murine keratinocytes (Tang et al., 1989), although at high doses the lipophilic retinoids could act as ionophores, resulting in an activation of PLC by an increase in intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$ (Rosenbach et al., 1993).

A rigorous study of the role, if any, of calcium signaling in the differentiation of P19 EC cells upon RA treatment is necessary. In particular, the Ca<sup>2+</sup> content of control and calreticulin over-expressing cells could be analyzed both before (as in Chapter 2) and at various time points after treatment. Since calreticulin is thought to buffer IP<sub>3</sub> sensitive stores of Ca<sup>2+</sup> in the ER, the effect of RA on PLC activity and levels of IP<sub>3</sub> should also be determined in these cells. If the PLC-mediated release of IP<sub>3</sub> is somehow triggered by RA treatment, the subsequent release of Ca<sup>2+</sup> from the IP<sub>3</sub> sensitive ER stores may contribute to the differentiative process. The higher levels of calreticulin in the overexpressing cells allow for the sequestering of an elevated Ca<sup>2+</sup> capacity in the ER (Bastianutto et al., 1995; Liu et al., 1994; Mery et al., 1996). Although the main limiting factor in the rise in Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration in the cytosol appears to be the concentration and/or modulation of IP<sub>3</sub> receptors and not the Ca<sup>2+</sup> content of the stores (Bastianutto et al., 1995), the possibility that an increased Ca<sup>2+</sup> buffering capacity of the ER somehow plays a role in RA induced P19 EC cell differentiation requires further study.

## 1.4 Implication of calreticulin/receptor interactions

The results presented in Chapter 2 lead to the proposal that calreticulin-retinoid receptor interactions may play a physiological role in the control of cell differentiation and proliferation. What this role might be is at present speculative but one possibility is that calreticulin may serve as a mediator in extracellular matrix-mediated change in gene expression. Calreticulin also binds to an amino acid sequence conserved in the

cytoplasmic domains of all integrin  $\alpha$  subunits (Rojiani et al., 1991). The integrins are a family of transmembrane receptors which bind to components of the ECM, and due to interaction with the integrins and other cell surface receptors, the ECM forms a substrate for cell attachment and migration (Hynes, 1992). Cellular-ECM interactions are critical for cellular migration and are thought to mediate signals necessary for differentiative and developmental processes (Yang et al., 1993). Retinoid-regulated pathways have previously been linked with those involving integrin action. Many components of the ECM including laminin, fibronectin, and types III and IV collagen, increase in abundance in cells treated with atRA (Chiocca et al., 1988; Horton et al., 1987; LaRosa and Gudas, 1988; LaRosa and Gudas, 1988; Wang et al., 1985). In addition, RA downregulates the expression of stromelysin and collagenase, extracellular metalloproteinases which play a role in remodeling of the ECM (Brinckerhoff et al., 1986; Nicholson et al., 1990; Saus et al., 1988). RA also concomitantly induces the expression of several integrin subunits in murine P19 EC cells (Dedhar et al., 1991) and in chicken osteoclast precursors (Cao et al., 1993). As previously mentioned, the promoter of the  $\beta_3$  integrin subunit contains a RARE as well as a VDRE (Cao et al., 1993; Mimura et al., 1994). RA-induced differentiation may therefore involve interplay between retinoid receptor and ECM signaling pathways. Calreticulin, by virtue of its ability to bind specifically to components of both pathways, may perform a central regulatory role in a cell's proliferation vs. differentiation capabilities. In support of this theory, calreticulin has been localized in the nucleus and the soluble cytoplasm as well as its initial localization in endoplasmic reticulum (Dedhar et al., 1994; Rojiani et al., 1991). In proliferating muscle cells (both L6 and human skeletal muscle cells in culture) intranuclear staining of calreticulin is observed, however neither intranuclear nor intracellular expression is apparent in differentiated muscle cells (Opas et al., 1991).

It has recently been demonstrated that calreticulin expression is required for integrinmediated cell attachment to the ECM (Coppolino et al., 1995; Leung-Hagesteijn et al., 1994). It could therefore be argued that functional integrin activity, and therefore stronger cell-ECM interaction, should favor gene expression via nuclear hormone receptors, whereas cell rounding and release of integrin-calreticulin interaction should result in an increased availability of calreticulin for the inhibition of nuclear hormone induced gene expression. These are testable hypotheses and future work will be directed towards elucidating the role of calreticulin in ECM regulation of gene expression.

# 2 CpG-SAAB

#### 2.1 Applications, limitations and suggestions for improvement

The advantages of the CpG-SAAB approach to target gene isolation were discussed in chapter 3 and include the cloning of genes that are directly regulated by the retinoid receptors and that are located in active chromatin, the isolation of genomic DNA corresponding to promoter regions and 5' ends of associated transcription units, and propensity for use with any combination of transcription factor and cell line or tissue.

CpG islands are a feature of the vertebrate genome. Invertebrate genes are generally situated in entirely nonmethylated DNA (Bird, 1987). It has been hypothesized that DNA methylation spread throughout the genome with vertebrate evolution (Antequera and Bird, 1993), possibly as a mechanism to reduce extraneous transcription (Bird, 1995). Consequently, the use of CpG-SAAB is restricted to vertebrate systems.

As mentioned above, any cell line of interest may be used as starting material for CpG-SAAB. It should be noted, however, that many permanent cell lines have a tendency to lose the nonmethylated status of CpG islands (Antequera et al., 1990). Methylation is confined to genes that are tissue-specific and non-essential in culture. Embryonal carcinoma cells such as P19 or F9 cells differ from many permanent cell lines in that their methylation patterns are similar to *in vivo* tissues (Antequera et al., 1990). CpG islands are normally free of methylation in cells of the animal, even if the associated

gene is not being transcribed (Bird, 1986), although a small fraction of loci may change their methylation profiles during development or tissue differentiation (Kawai et al., 1994). The patterns of DNA methylation are altered during tumorigenesis and such alterations may play a direct role in carcinogenesis (Balmain, 1995). To focus on transcription factor binding sites in normal development and differentiation, nuclei can be derived from EC cells such as F9 cells (see Methods in chapter 3) or from tissues (Gorski et al., 1986; Meehan et al., 1989).

Only approximately 60% of genes have CpG islands (Cross et al., 1994). Additionally, a transcription factor binding site may not be bounded by appropriately spaced CpG recognizing restriction enzyme sites (for example MspI and HinPI). Improved representation of CpG island NN fragments could be established by digesting nuclei with a number of different CpG recognizing enzymes, and then pooling the NN fragments prior to modification and selection.

CpG islands are associated with all housekeeping genes. Molecular and genetic analyses of retinoid action have shown that RXR/RAR complexes appear to play a pleiotropic role in the control of embryonic development and in homeostasis in the adult animal (Sporn et al., 1994). Retinoid receptors are therefore likely to be involved in the general maintenance of the cellular machinery and, by inference, could regulate a large number of housekeeping genes. Also amenable to isolation by CpG-SAAB are the significant fraction of genes with limited or tissue specific expression that are associated with CpG islands. Numerous examples of such genes exist, including RAR $\beta$ 2 (see chapter 3), the homeobox-containing gene GBX2 (Lin et al., 1996), and many other developmental control genes (Larsen et al., 1992).

As mentioned in chapter 3, one in five selected NN fragments contained a RARE or RXRE. The remaining fragments were likely selected due to interaction with components of the rabbit reticulocyte lysate. Since the consensus binding sites for retinoid receptors are well characterized it was relatively simple to scan NN fragment sequences for the presence of RA response elements. However, background binding might be problematic when a transcription factor binding site is degenerate or unknown. In this case it would be necessary to decrease background binding so that selected fragments can be subjected directly to functional testing. NN fragments that bind specifically to the transcription factor can be separated from nonspecific fragments by immunoprecipitation with an antibody directed against the transcription factor. Alternatively, several rounds of selection could be performed with transcription factor produced using an alternative source such as bacterial or mammalian expression systems.

#### 2.2 Isolation of NN fragment-associated genes

Inevitably the most time-consuming component of CpG-SAAB is the identification of transcripts associated with the NN fragments. The traditional approach of identifying conserved sequences using Northern and Zoo blots, with subsequent cDNA library screening is laborious but effective. Software trapping (Gardiner and Mural, 1995) and see chapter 3), the discovery of genes using genomic sequencing and computational analysis, is increasingly proficient as a tool to identify transcribed sequences. The NN fragments can be compared with Genbank sequences using the BLAST algorithm (Altschul et al., 1990). This strategy proved successful with NN fragment 8-4, due to the proximity of the NN8-4AG transcriptional start site to the RXRE. In cases where the coding region of the associated gene may be at a greater distance from the RA response element, it is necessary to isolate a genomic clone encompassing the NN fragment for sequence analysis and software trapping. To minimize the labor necessary for obtaining sequence data, the NN fragments can be used as probes for a single round of genomic library screening. Although the resultant phage population will not contain inserts corresponding solely to the NN fragment locus, the isolated DNA should be of sufficient purity to allow for its use as template for PCR based sequencing. PCR primers can be derived from the NN fragment sequence.

Successful isolation of transcribed sequences flanking NN fragments might best be accomplished with a combination of approaches including not only software trapping but also cDNA selection (Lovett et al., 1991; Parimoo et al., 1991) or exon trapping (Buckler et al., 1991; Duyk et al., 1990). As with the identification of transcripts using Northern and Zoo blots, these techniques will require the prior isolation of flanking genomic DNA. In an effort to concentrate only on those genomic clones that contain sequences corresponding to a RA regulated transcript, we have initiated development of a preliminary nuclear run on assay in which several NN fragment-associated genomic clones can be tested simultaneously. This technique has been used extensively in the laboratory of our colleague, Dr. Alain Nepveu, who will provide protocols and technical expertise. I have previously adapted existing techniques for optimal isolation of F9 EC cell nuclei (see chapter 3). Using this technique, nuclei will be isolated from F9 EC cells grown in the presence or absence of RA and incubated with  $\left[\alpha^{-32}P\right]UTP$ . Transcripts which were initiated prior to isolation continue to be transcribed, with incorporation of the radiolabeled UTP. These transcripts can be used to probe genomic DNA clones which have been immobilized on nylon membrane. The RAR<sup>β2</sup> genomic clone described in chapter 3 would serve as a control. Both the genomic clones and the radiolabeled transcripts contain repetitive sequences which can hybridize and interfere with signal derived from the gene of interest. To overcome this problem, unlabeled sheared mouse genomic DNA and/or mouse cot-1 DNA can be included in the hybridization reaction. Concentrations which obscure signals due to repetitive DNA and allow visualization of target gene hybridization will be determined using the RAR $\beta$ 2 genomic clone.

#### 2.3 NN-RARE fragments as tools to study retinoid receptor action

The primary goal of the CpG-SAAB method is the isolation of target genes which are directly regulated by retinoic acid. However, the RARE/NN fragments isolated using CpG-SAAB can also provide valuable information about the mechanisms of RA

regulated transcription. CpG-SAAB not only provides a source of novel RAREs, it also allows for the isolation of RAREs within an original genomic sequence context. It seems likely that interplay between the RARE-binding retinoid receptors and unidentified factors which bind to adjacent sites plays a role in the regulation of the associated genes. These fragments thus provide a preliminary opportunity to study various aspects of retinoid receptor action. For instance, do specific combinations of RARs and RXRs preferentially activate a given RARE? What impact does the surrounding genomic sequence have on the activity imparted by the RARE, and does the RARE function similarly outside of that particular genomic context? Is the RARE bound by other nuclear receptors which contribute to its regulation? Does the RARE itself, or the RARE and surrounding genomic sequence (NN fragment) have cell-specific transcriptional activity? To date, 8 RAR isoforms and 6 RXR isoforms have been characterized (Giguère, 1994; Liu and Linney, 1993, Chambon, unpublished data; Nagata et al., 1994). Heterodimers of these receptors bind with high affinity to RAREs and RXREs. It is evident that in vitro, most if not all heterodimer combinations of RAR and RXR bind with similar efficiencies to these response elements (Leid et al., 1992). Targeted mutations in single receptors leads to phenotypes which are normal or less severe than expected, suggesting that there may be some functional redundancy between the receptors (for review see Kastner et al., 1995). However, several lines of evidence, including distinct expression patterns during embryogenesis as well as N-termini which are well conserved across species, point towards individual roles for each retinoid receptor (reviewed in Giguère, 1994; Hofmann and Eichele, 1994). The establishment and comparison of mice strains lacking two RAR genes revealed that certain defects are isoform specific and supports the notion that RAR isoforms perform specific functions (Lohnes et al., 1994; Luo et al., 1996; Mendelsohn et al., 1994). In addition, differences have been observed in the abilities of various RARs and RXRs to promote transcriptional activation on several RA responsive promoters. Using truncated receptors and chimeric

constructs it was determined that each RAR or RXR contains two transcriptional activation regions; the N-terminal ligand independent AF-1, and a ligand-dependent AF-2 located in the LBD (Folkers et al., 1993; Nagpal et al., 1993; Nagpal et al., 1992). Both the type of the RA response element and the promoter context seem to contribute to the differential transactivation activities imparted by the various receptors (Nagpal et al., 1992).

The RARE-NN fragments provide a 'panel' of binding sites on which to test the transactivation potentials of combinations of RARs and RXRs. The NN fragments listed in Table 2 (chapter 3) have been linked to the luciferase reporter gene driven by both a thymidine kinase minimal promoter and a basal promoter (TATA box only). P19 EC cells yield high levels of activity in assays using either of these reporters and would be ideal for this study.

A related study will examine the question of whether the RARE contained within the NN fragment functions similarly in transactivation assays when it is isolated. The transcriptional activities of the receptor on a given promoter likely reflect interactions between the AFs of the receptors and those of other transactivators (or repressors) bound to adjacent promoter regions. Studies of the transcriptional activation abilities of the retinoid receptors are often performed using transient transfections with reporter vectors consisting of an isolated response element, often multimerized to confer greater levels of activity, linked to an assayable reporter gene. However, transcriptional activity imparted by the receptors through an isolated response element has been shown to be dissimilar to the activity generated when the response element is within its promoter context (Nagpal et al., 1992). The RA responsive profile of NN8-4 in P19 EC cells is shown in Table 2 and Figure 6B, chapter 3. This fragment generates a high basal activity which is elevated 5 fold upon RA treatment to a level approaching that seen with the control, NN-RAR<sup>β</sup>. Preliminary data suggests that a different profile is seen when the RXRE alone is linked to a reporter vector, transfected and subjected to RA treatment. Under such circumstances the NN8-4 RXRE functions much like the CRBPII-RXRE, which is transactivated to high levels only with 9cRA treatment and cotransfected RXR expression vector (Levin et al., 1992 and our unpublished data; Mangelsdorf et al., 1991). It will be interesting to examine whether NN8-3, which contains a perfect consensus DR5 RARE and gave rise to a surprisingly low level of transcriptional activity upon RA treatment (see Table 2, chapter 3), yields greater transactivation activity when isolated away from the surrounding genomic sequence.

As mentioned in chapter 3, it is also possible that the low level of activity seen upon RA treatment of NN8-3 could be due to competition for binding by other nuclear receptors. As mentioned in chapter 3, nuclear receptors which bind as monomers have been shown to require an A-T rich region extending 5' from the core half site (Giguère et al., 1994; Harding and Lazar, 1993; Wilson et al., 1991). Preferred sites for such orphan receptors may be contained within the NN-RAREs, leading to interference with RXR/RAR binding. RORa, an orphan nuclear receptor which functions as a monomer, can bind to and activate through a RARE in the promoter of the  $\gamma$ F-Crystallin gene. although RXR/RAR heterodimers repress this ROR-dependent activation by competing for occupancy of the yF-RARE (Tini et al., 1995). Homodimers of the orphan receptors ARP-1/COUP-TFII or EAR3/COUP-TFII bind a RARE in the Oct3/4 promoter with an affinity higher than that of RXR/RAR heterodimers, and abolish RXR/RAR induced activation of the Oct-3/4 promoter completely when transiently transfected into P19 EC cells (Ben-Shushan et al., 1995). These two orphan receptors are upregulated in P19 EC cells with RA treatment (Ben-Shushan et al., 1995). The possibility that orphan receptors contribute to the regulation of NN8-3 and the other genomic fragments will be investigated using gel mobility shift assays and cotransfection assays.

The transcriptional response to RA conferred to the reporter vector by an NN-RARE may be influenced by cell-specific factors. The surprisingly low activity generated by NN8-3 in P19 EC cells may be due to the presence of a repressor which acts on nearby genomic sequences, or directly on the receptors due to their particular conformation on NN8-3. Cell-specific activating factors may account for the high basal activity seen in transient transfections of NN8-4 TKLUC. Possible interactions will be investigated with transient transfections of various cell types, by co-transfecting NN-RARE TKLUC reporter vectors along with retinoid receptors.

#### 2.4 Further analysis of the RA responsive gene NN8-4AG

To study the function of NN8-4AG, we first propose to examine the expression pattern of this gene in the developing embryo and in the adult mouse. Preliminary data obtained by Northern blot analysis suggests that the NN8-4AG transcript is expressed in 13.5 day old murine embryos (data not shown). In situ hybridization of both whole mount and sectioned embryos is routinely performed in our laboratory. The murine cDNA of NN8-4AG has been isolated and is currently being sequenced. RNA probes derived from this cDNA will be used to determine the temporal and spatial expression of NN8-4AG at various stages in embryonic development. In addition, possible changes in the domains of NN8-4AG expression will be assessed in embryos which have been exposed to RA (for examples see Conlon, 1995 and references therein; Lyn and Giguère, 1994). Further insight into gene function can be obtained by studying the effects of mutation or deletion of this gene. To this end, a genomic clone encoding the N terminal region of NN8-4AG (see Fig. 9A, chapter 3) will be used in the construction of a gene targeting vector for homologous recombination in embryonic stem cells.

The putative protein that is coded for by EST41159 contains a domain near its C terminal end that is homologous to the C-terminal regions of a yeast putative protein and the *Drosophila trithorax* gene product (Fig. 12, chapter 3). *Drosophila trithorax* is a chromosomal protein and a member of a group of proteins that play a role in maintaining expression patterns of homeotic genes of the Bithorax and Antennapedia complexes during development (Chinwalla et al., 1995; Kuzin et al., 1994). The C terminal region
of the *trithorax* gene product is homologous to a number of additional proteins, some that are also known to be associated with chromatin (Stassen et al., 1995). It would be of interest to determine whether NN8-4AG, the murine homolog of EST41159, is found in the nucleus. To assess the cellular localization of NN8-4AG, polyclonal antibodies can be raised against the protein for immunodetection. In an attempt to avoid cross-reactivity of the antibody with other proteins, the region of NN8-4AG selected as immunogen will be derived from a part of the protein that shows no homology with other known proteins.

As mentioned in chapter 3, the yeast putative protein (P38890) and EST41159 may be more closely related to one another than EST41159 and Drosophila trithorax (Fig. 1). The open reading frame of P38890 was revealed by the systematic sequencing of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae genome and is derived from portions of chromosome VIII contained in a cosmid numbered 9177 (Genbank accession number U00029). Since EST41159 and yeast P38890 share similar domains throughout their sequences, it is possible that the yeast putative protein is a homolog of EST41159. Functional analysis of this novel protein in yeast could be examined by disruption of the gene and examination of the resultant phenotype. A relatively simple approach is available for gene targeting in yeast, making use of a one-step PCR amplification (Baudin et al., 1993; Lorenz et al., 1995). Primers are designed which have homology to the target gene followed by sequences which will allow PCR amplification of a selectable marker such as HIS3. Target gene sequences, which are external to marker gene sequences in the PCR oligos, are of sufficient length (approximately 30 to 50 bp) to allow for integration at a homologous locus upon transformation into a recipient yeast strain. Restriction map information, derived from sequence available through Genbank databases, will enable Southern blot analysis and detection of homologous recombination events. Using this method it will be feasible to examine whether p38890 is essential for viability in yeast, or whether its deletion shows some discernable effect on phenotype.

EST41159	19	VEVRFVSSAKGKGLFATOLIRKGETIFVE
Yeast <b>938890</b>	94	VEVKFIDDEHGRGLFAKRDFSRGQIILKE
EST41159	106	NCPHCQVMYCSAECRLA +   + ++   + +
Yeast P38890	155	DCEVCRAIWCSERCKRA
EST41159	174	KQAKDKDRWIRLFSQFCNRTANEEEEI
Yeast P38890	281	KNIDDETVWERCYELFCGAFFRASEEI
EST41159	308	SCCNHSCVPNAETSFPENNFLLHVTALEDIKPGEEICISYLDCCQRERSRHSRHK
Yeast P38890	333	SFINHDCEPNAYIEQVEEHEELRLHARKPIKKGEQIRITYVNPLHGVRLRRRELR
EST41159	360	RHKILRENYLFVCSCPRCLAE
Yeast P38890	382	RRELRVNWGFICQCDRCQNE
EST41159	383	EPNVTSE <b>LEEL</b> EE 
Yeast P38890	340	EPNAYIEQVEEHEE

FIG. 1. Extended alignment of the predicted amino acid sequence of human EST41159 to a yeast putative protein. Amino acids that are identical are indicated by a vertical line (1), while conservative changes are designated by a plus sign (+). Genbank accession numbers for EST41159 and the putative yeast protein are U50383 and P38890, respectively.

## References

Altschul, S. F., Gish, W., Miller, W., Myers, E. W., and Lipman, D. J. (1990). Basic local alignment search tool. Journal of Molecular Biology 215, 403-410.

Antequera, F., and Bird, A. (1993). Number of CpG islands and genes in human and mouse. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90, 11995-11999.

Antequera, F., Boyes, J., and Bird, A. P. (1990). High levels of de novo methylation and altered chromatin structure at CpG islands. Cell 62, 503-514.

Balmain, A. (1995). Exploring the bowels of DNA methylation. Curr. Biol. 5, 1013-1016.

Bastianutto, C., Clementi, E., Codazzi, F., Podini, P., De Giorgi, F., Rizzuto, R., Meldolesi, J., and Pozzan, T. (1995). Overexpression of calreticulin increases the  $Ca^{2+}$  capacity of rapidly exchanging  $Ca^{2+}$  stores and reveals aspects of their lumenal microenvironment and function. J. Cell Biol. 130, 847-855.

Baudin, A., Ozier-Kalogeropoulos, O., Denouel, A., Lacroute, F., and Cullin, C. (1993). A simple and efficient method for direct gene deletion in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Nucleic Acids Res. 21, 3329-3330.

Ben-Shushan, E., Sharir, H., Pikarsky, E., and Bergman, Y. (1995). A dynamic balance between ARP-1/COUP-TFII, EAR-3/COUP-TF1, and retinoic acid receptor:retinoid X receptor heterodimers regulates Oct-3/4 expression in embryonal carcinoma cells. Mol. Cell. Biol. 15, 1034-1048.

Berridge, M. J. (1993). Inositol trisphosphate and calcium signalling. Nature 361, 315-325.

Bird, A. P. (1987). CpG islands as gene markers in the vertebrate nucleus. Trends Genet. 3, 342-347.

Bird, A. P. (1986). CpG-rich islands and the function of DNA methylation. Nature 321, 209-213.

Bird, A. P. (1995). Gene number, noise reduction and biological complexity. Trends Genet. 11, 94-99.

Brinckerhoff, C. E., Plucinska, I. M., Sheldon, L. A., and O'Connor, G. T. (1986). Halflife of synovial cell collagenase mRNA is modulated by phorbol myristate acetate but not by all-trans-retinoic acid or dexamethasone. Biochemistry 25, 6368-6384.

Buckler, A. J., Chang, D. D., Graw, S. L., Brook, J. D., Haber, D. A., Sharp, P. A., and Housman, D. E. (1991). Exon amplification: a strategy to isolate mammalian genes based on RNA splicing. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88, 4005-4009.

Burns, K., Duggan, B., Atkinson, E. A., Famulski, K. S., Nemer, M., Bleackley, R. C., and Michalak, M. (1994). Modulation of gene expression by calreticulin binding to the glucocorticoid receptor. Nature *367*, 476-480.

Camacho, P., and Lechleiter, J. D. (1995). Calreticulin inhibits repetitive intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  waves. Cell 82, 765-771.

Cao, X., Ross, F. P., Zhang, L., MacDonald, P. N., Chappel, J., and Teitelbaum, S. L. (1993). Cloning of the promoter for the avian integrin & subunit gene and its regulation by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 27371-27380.

Cao, X., Ross, F. P., Zhang, L., MacKonald, P. N., Chappel, J., and Teitelbaum, S. L. (1993). Cloning of the promoter for the avian integrin  $\beta_3$  subunit gene and its regulation by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub>. 268, 27371-27380.

Chinwalla, V., Jane, E. P., and Harte, P. J. (1995). The *Drosophila trithorax* protein binds to specific chromosomal sites and is co-localized with *Polycomb* at many sites. EMBO J. 14, 2056-2065.

Chiocca, E. A., Davies, P. J. A., and Stein, J. P. (1988). The molecular basis of retinoic acid action. Transcriptional regulation of tissue transglutaminase gene expression in macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 263, 11584-11589.

Conlon, R. A. (1995). Retinoic acid and pattern formation in vertebrates. Trends Genet. 11, 314-319.

Coppolino, M., Leung-Hagesteijn, C., Dedhar, S., and Wilkins, J. (1995). Inducible interaction of integrin  $\alpha_{2}\beta_{1}$  with calreticulin. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 23132-23138.

Cross, S. H., Charlton, J. A., Nan, X., and Bird, A. P. (1994). Purification of CpG islands using a methylated DNA binding column. Nat. Genet. 6, 236-244.

Dedhar, S. (1994). Novel functions for calreticulin: interaction with integrins and modulation of gene expression. Trends Biochem Sci 19, 269-271.

Dedhar, S., Rennie, P. S., Shago, M., Leung Hagesteijn, C.-Y., Yang, H., Filmus, J., Hawley, R. G., Bruchovsky, N., Cheng, H., Matusik, R. J., and Giguère, V. (1994). Inhibition of nuclear hormone receptor activity by calreticulin. Nature 367, 480-483.

Dedhar, S., Robertson, K., and Gray, V. (1991). Induction of expression of the  $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_{1}$  and  $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_{3}$  integrin heterodimers during retinoic acid-induced neuronal differentiation of murine embryonal carcinoma cells. J Biol Chem 266, 21846-21852.

Dingwall, C., and Laskey, R. (1986). Protein import in the nucleus. Ann. Rev. Cell Biol. 2, 367-390.

Dingwall, C., and Laskey, R. A. (1991). Nuclear targeting sequences-a consensus? Trends Biol. Sci. 16, 478-481.

Duyk, G. M., Sim, S. W., Myers, R. M., and Cox, D. R. (1990). Exon trapping: a genetic screen to identify candidate transcribed sequences in cloned mammalian genomic DNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87, 8995-8999.

Folkers, G. E., van der Leede, B.-j. M., and van der Saag, P. T. (1993). The retinoic acid receptor- $\beta$ 2 contains two separate cell-specific transactivation domains, at the N-terminus and in the ligand-binding domain. Mol. Endocrinol. 7, 616-627.

Gardiner, K., and Mural, R. J. (1995). Getting the message: identifying transcribed sequences. Trends Genet. 11, 77-79.

Giguère, V. (1994). Retinoic acid receptors and cellular retinoid binding proteins: complex interplay in retinoid signaling. Endocr. Rev. 15, 61-79.

Giguère, V. (1994). Retinoic acid receptors and cellular retinoid binding proteins: complex interplay in retinoid signaling. Endocr. Rev. 15, 61-79.

Giguère, V., Tini, M., Flock, G., Ong, E. S., Evans, R. M., and Otulakowski, G. (1994). Isoform-specific amino-terminal domains dictate DNA-binding properties of ROR $\alpha$ , a novel family of orphan nuclear receptors. Genes Dev. 8, 538-553.

Gorski, K., Carneiro, M., and Schibler, U. (1986). Tissue-specific in vitro transcription from the mouse albumin promoter. Cell 47, 767-776.

Harding, H. P., and Lazar, M. A. (1993). The orphan receptor Rev-ErbA $\alpha$  activates transcription via a novel response element. Mol. Cell. Biol. 13, 3113-3121.

Hofmann, C., and Eichele, G. (1994). Retinoids in development. In The retinoids. Biology, chemistry, and medicine, M. B. Sporn, A. B. Roberts and D. S. Goodman, eds. (New York: Raven Press), pp. 387-442.

Horton, W. E., Yamada, Y., and Hassell, J. R. (1987). Retinoic acid rapidly reduces cartilage matrix synthesis by altering gene transcription in chondrocytes. Dev. Biol. 123, 508-516.

Hynes, R. O. (1992). Integrins: versatility, modulation, and signaling in cell adhesion. Cell 69, 11-25.

Kalderon, D., Richardson, W. D., Markham, A. F., and Smith, A. E. (1984). Sequence requirements for nuclear localization of a simian virus 40 large-T antigen. Nature 311, 33-38.

Kalderon, D., Roberts, B. L., Richardson, W. D., and Smith, A. E. (1984). A short amino acid sequence able to specify nuclear location. 39, 499-509.

Kastner, P., Mark, M., and Chambon, P. (1995). Nonsteroid nuclear receptors: what are genetic studies telling us about their role in real life? Cell 83, 859-869.

Kawai, J., Hirose, K., Fushiki, S., Hirotsune, S., Ozawa, N., Hara, A., Hayashizaki, Y., and Watanabe, S. (1994). Comparison of DNA methylation patterns among mouse cell lines by restriction landmark genomic scanning. Mol. Cell. Biol. 14, 7421-7427.

Kuzin, B., Tillib, S., Sedkov, Y., Mizrokhi, L., and Mazo, A. (1994). The *Drosophila* trithorax gene encodes a chromosomal protein and directly regulates the region-specific homeotic gene fork head. Genes Dev. 8, 2478-2490.

Lanford, R. E., and Butel, J. S. (1984). Construction and characterization of an SV40 mutant defective in nuclear transport. Cell 37, 801-803.

LaRosa, G. J., and Gudas, L. J. (1988). An early effect of retinoic acid: Cloning of an mRNA (Era-1) exhibiting rapid and protein synthesis-independent induction during teratocarcinoma stem cell differentiation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 85, 329-333.

LaRosa, G. J., and Gudas, L. J. (1988). Early retinoic acid-induced F9 teratocarcinoma stem cell gene ERA-1: alternate splicing creates transcripts for a homeobox-containing protein and one lacking the homeobox. Mol. Cell. Biol. 8, 3906-3917.

Larsen, F., Gundersen, G., Lopez, R., and Prydz, H. (1992). CpG islands as gene markers in the human genome. Genomics 13, 1095-1107.

Leid, M., Kastner, P., Lyons, R., Nakshari, H., Saunders, M., Zacharewski, T., Chen, J.-Y., Staub, A., Garnier, J.-M., Mader, S., and Chambon, P. (1992). Purification, Cloning, and RXR identity of the HeLa cell factor with which RAR or TR heterodimerizes to bind target sequences efficiently. Cell 68, 377-395.

Leung-Hagesteijn, C. Y., Milankov, K., Michalak, M., Wilkins, J., and Dedhar, S. (1994). Cell attachment to extracellular matrix substrates is inhibited upon downregulation of expression of calreticulin, an intracellular integrin  $\alpha$ -subunit -binding protein. J. Cell Sci. 107, 589-600.

Levin, A. A., Sturzenbecker, L. J., Kazmer, S., Bosakowski, T., Huselton, C., Allenby, G., Speck, J., Kratzeisen, C., Rosenberger, M., Lovey, A., and Grippo, J. F. (1992). 9-Cis retinoic acid stereoisomer binds and activates the nuclear receptor RXR $\alpha$ . Nature 355, 359-361.

Lin, X., Swaroop, A., Vaccarino, F. M., Murtha, M. T., Haas, M., Ji, X., Ruddle, F. H., and Leckman, J. F. (1996). Characterization and sequence analysis of the human homeobox-containing gene GBX-2. Genomics 31, 335-342.

Liu, N., Fine, R. E., Simons, E., and Johnson, R. J. (1994). Decreasing calreticulin expression lowers the  $Ca^{2+}$  response to bradykinin and increases sensitivity to ionomycin in NG-108-15 cells. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 28635-28639.

Liu, Q., and Linney, E. (1993). The mouse retinoid-X receptor-gamma gene: genomic organization and evidence for functional isoforms. Mol. Endocrinol. 7, 651-658.

Lohnes, D., Mark, M., Mendelsohn, C., Dollé, P., Dierich, A., Gorry, P., Gansmuller, A., and Chambon, P. (1994). Function of the retinoic acid receptors (RARs) during development. (I) Craniofacial and skeletal abnormalities in RAR double mutants. Development 120, 2723-2748.

Lorenz, M. C., Muir, R. S., Lim, E., McElver, J., Weber, S. C., and Heitman, J. (1995). Gene disruption with PCR products in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Gene 158, 113-117.

Lovett, M., Kere, J., and Hinton, L. M. (1991). Direct selection: a method for the isolation of cDNAs encoded by large genomic regions. Proc Natl Acad Sci 88, 9628-9632.

Luo, J., Sucov, H. M., Bader, J.-A., Evans, R. M., and Giguère, V. (1996). Compound mutants for retinoic acid receptor (RAR)  $\beta$  and RAR $\alpha$ 1 reveal developmental functions for multiple RAR $\beta$  isoforms. Mech. Dev. 55, 33-44.

Lyn, S., and Giguère, V. (1994). Localization of CRABP-I and CRABP-II mRNA in the early mouse embryo by whole-mount in situ hybridization: implications for teratogenesis and neural development. Dev. Dynamics 199, 280-291.

Mangelsdorf, D. J., Umesono, K., Kliewer, S. A., Borgmeyer, U., Ong, E. S., and Evans, R. M. (1991). A direct repeat in the cellular retinol binding protein type II gene confers differential regulation by RXR and RAR. Cell 66, 555-561.

Meehan, R. R., Lewis, J. D., McKay, S., Kieiner, E. L., and Bird, A. P. (1989). Identification of a mammalian protein that binds specifically to DNA containing methylated CpGs. Cell 58, 499-507.

Mendelsohn, C., Lohnes, D., Decimo, D., Lufkin, T., LeMeur, M., Chambon, P., and Mark, M. (1994). Function of the retinoic acid receptors (RARs) during development. (II) Multiple abnormalities at various stages of organogenesis in RAR double mutants. Development 120, 2749-2771.

Mery, L., Mesaeli, N., Michalak, M., Opas, M., Lew, D. P., and Krause, K.-H. (1996). Overexpression of calreticulin increases intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  storage and decreases storeoperated  $Ca^{2+}$  influx. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 9332-9339.

Michalak, M., Milner, R. E., Burns, K., and Opas, M. (1992). Calreticulin. Biochem. J. 285, 681-692.

Mimura, H., Cao, X., Ross, F. P., Chiba, M., and Teitelbaum, S. L. (1994). 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 transcriptionally activates the  $\beta$ 3-integrin subunit gene in avian osteoclast precursors. Endocrinology 134, 1061-1066.

Nagata, T., Kanno, Y., Ozato, K., and Taketo, M. (1994). The mouse RXR $\beta$  gene encoding RXR beta: genomic organization and two mRNA isoforms generated by alternative splicing of transcripts initiated from CpG island promoters. Gene 142, 183-189.

Nagpal, S., Friant, S., Nakshatri, H., and Chambon, P. (1993). RARs and RXRs: evidence for two autonomous transactivation functions (AF-1 and AF-2) and heteodimerization *in vivo*. EMBO J. 12, 2349-2360.

Nagpal, S., Saunders, M., Kastner, P., Durand, B., Nakshatri, H., and Chambon, P. (1992). Promoter context- and response element-dependent specificity of the transcriptional activation and modulationg functions of retinoic acid receptors. Cell 70, 1007-1019.

Nicholson, R. C., Mader, S., Nagpal, S., Leid, M., Rochette-Egly, C., and Chambon, P. (1990). Negative regulation of the rat stromelysin gene promoter by retinoic acid is mediated by an AP1 binding site. EMBO J. 9, 4443-4454.

Opas, M., Dziak, E., Fliegel, L., and Michalak, M. (1991). Regulation of expression and intracellular distribution of calreticulin, a major calcium binding protein of nonmuscle cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 149, 160-171.

Opas, M., Dzuak, E., Fliegel, L., and Michalak, M. (1991). Regulation of expression and intracellular distribution of calreticulin, a major calcium binding protein of nonmuscle cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 149, 160-171.

Parimoo, S., Patanjali, S. R., Shukla, H., Chaplin, D. D., and Weissman, S. M. (1991). cDNA selection: efficient PCR approach for the selection of cDNAs encoded in large chromosomal DNA fragments. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88, 9623-9627.

Rojiani, M. V., Finlay, B. B., Gray, V., and Dedhar, S. (1991). In vitro interaction of a polypeptide homologous to human Ro/SS-A antigen (calreticulin) with a highly conserved amino acid sequence in the cytoplasmic domain of integrin  $\alpha$  subunits. Biochemistry 30, 9859-9866.

Rosenbach, T., Liesegang, C., Binting, S., and Czarnetzki, B. M. (1993). Inositol phosphate formation and release of intracellular free calcium by bradykinin in HaCaT keratinocytes. Arch. Dermatol. Res. 285, 393-396.

Saus, J., Quinones, S., Otani, Y., Nagase, H., Harris Jr, E. D., and Kurkinen, M. (1988). The complete primary structure of human matrix metalloproteinase-3. Identity with stromelysin. J. Biol. Chem. 263, 6742-6745.

Sporn, M. B., Roberts, A. B., and Goodman, D. S. (1994). The Retinoids (New York: Raven Press).

Stassen, M. J., Bailey, D., Nelson, S., Chinwalla, V., and Harte, P. J. (1995). The Drosophila trithorax proteins contain a novel variant of the nuclear receptor type DNA binding domain and an ancient conserved motif found in other chromosomal proteins. Mech. Dev. 52, 209-223.

Tang, W., Ziboh, V. A., Isseroff, R., and Martinez, B. S. (1989). Regulatory role of retinoic acid on cultured mouse keratinocyte inositol phospholipid metabolism: dose-dependent release of inositol triphosphate. J. Invest. Dermatol. 92, 71-77.

Tini, M., Fraser, R. A., and Giguère, V. (1995). Functional interactions between retinoic acid receptor-related orphan nuclear receptor (ROR $\alpha$ ) and the retinoic acid receptors in the regulation of the  $\gamma$ F-crystallin promoter. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 20156-20161.

Wang, S.-Y., LaRosa, G. J., and Gudas, L. J. (1985). Molecular cloning of gene sequences transcriptionally regulated by retinoic acid and dibutyryl cyclic AMP in cultured mouse teratocarcinoma cells. Dev. Biol. 107, 75-86.

Wheeler, D. G., Horsford, J., Michalak, M., White, J. H., and Hendy, G. N. (1995). Calreticulin inhibits vitamin  $D_3$  signal transduction. Nucleic Acids Res. 23, 3268-3274.

Wilson, T. E., Fahrner, T. J., Johnson, M., and Milbrandt, J. (1991). Identification of the DNA binding site for NGFI-B by genetic selection in yeast. Science 252, 1296-1300.

Winrow, C. J., Miyata, K. S., Marcus, S. L., Burns, K., Michalak, M., Capone, J. P., and Rachubinski, R. A. (1995). Calreticulin modulates the in vitro binding but not the in vivo transcriptional activatin by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor/retinoid X receptor heterodimers. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 111, 175-179.

Yang, J. T., Rayburn, H., and Hynes, R. O. (1993). Embryonic mesodermal defects in  $\alpha 5$  integrin-deficient mice. Development 119, 1093-1105.

## Appendix

## Appendix 1

Other published papers related to this thesis in which I was involved are:

Dedhar, S., Rennie, P. S., Shago, M., Leung Hagesteijn, C.-Y., Yang, H., Filmus, J., Hawley, R. G., Bruchovsky, N., Cheng, H., Matusik, R. J., and Giguère, V. Inhibition of nuclear hormone receptor activity by calreticulin. Nature 367: 480-482, 1994.

Rossant, J., Zirngibl, R., Cado, D., Shago, M., and Giguère, V. Expression of a retinoic acid response element-hsplacZ transgene defines specific domains of transcriptional activity during mouse embryogenesis. Genes & Dev. 5: 1333-1344, 1991.

Giguère, V., Shago, M., Zirngibl, R, Tate, P., Rossant, J., and Varmuza, S. Identification of a novel isolform of the retinoic acid receptor  $\gamma$  expressed in the mouse embryo. Mol. Cell. Biol. 10: 2335-2340, 1990.



ILJI IARGEI (QA-J)













© 1993, Applied Image, Inc., All Rights Reserved